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Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information

The statements contained in this report on ForriK 18at are not purely historical are forward-loakistatements within the meaning of
applicable securities laws. Forward-looking statetménclude statements regarding our “expectatidasticipations,” “intentions,” “beliefs,”
or “strategies” regarding the future. Forward-laakistatements also include statements regardiremuey margins, expenses, and earnings fo
fiscal 2014 and thereafter; our belief that ourcficeés enhance our ability to attract more custgmfester an overall enjoyable boating
experience, and offer boat manufacturers stablepasféssional retail distribution and a broad gepgic presence; our assessment of our
competitive advantages, including our no hasslkessapproach, prime retail locations, premium prodiferings, extensive facilities, strong
management and team members, and emphasis on ensterice and satisfaction before and after a falat our belief that our core values
of customer service and satisfaction and our gfisewill enable us to achieve success and lomg-tgowth when economic conditions
improve; and our belief that our retailing strategare aligned with the desires of consumers.oflérd-looking statements included in this
report are based on information available to usfake filing date of this report, and we assumehligation to update any such forward-
looking statements. Our actual results could diff@terially from the forward-looking statements. é&my the factors that could cause actual
results to differ materially are the factors disegunder Item 1/“Risk Factor¢”
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PART I
Item 1. Business
Introduction

Our Company

We are the largest recreational boat dealer itttiteed States. Through 54 retail locations in Alaba Arizona, California, Connecticut,
Florida, Georgia, Maryland, Massachusetts, Minreesdtissouri, New Jersey, New York, North Caroli@dnio, Oklahoma, Rhode Island,
Tennessee, and Texas, we sell new and used rec@dibats, including pleasure and fishing boait afocus on premium brands in each
segment. We also sell related marine productsuydiiicy engines, trailers, parts, and accessoriezddiition, we provide repair, maintenance,
and slip and storage services; we arrange relatatfinancing, insurance, and extended serviceractst we offer boat and yacht brokerage
services; and we operate a yacht charter business.

We are the nation’s largest retailer of Sea Ragt@oWhaler, Bayliner, and Meridian recreationatisand yachts, all of which are
manufactured by Brunswick Corporation, or Brunswigkles of new Brunswick boats accounted for apprately 38% of our revenue in
fiscal 2013. Brunswick is the world’s largest maaettirer of marine products and marine engines. 8lleMe our sales represented
approximately 7% of all Brunswick marine sales/uiding approximately 49% of its Sea Ray boat salasing our fiscal 2013. We are parties
to dealer agreements with Brunswick covering SeafRaducts and are the exclusive dealer of SeabRas in almost all of our geographic
markets. We also are the exclusive dealer for Bogtbaler and Bayliner in many of our geographic kats and the exclusive dealer for
Meridian Yachts in most of our geographic mark@{e. also are the exclusive dealer for Italy-basemiizBenetti Group, or Azimut, for
Azimut mega-yachts, yachts, and other recreatibaats for the United States. Sales of new Azimat$accounted for approximately 13% of
our revenue in fiscal 2013. In addition, we aredkelusive dealer for Hatteras Yachts throughoetstate of Florida (excluding the Florida
panhandle) and the states of New Jersey, New Yamdk,Texas, and the exclusive dealer for Cabo Ydbhisighout the states of Florida, New
Jersey, and New York, both of which are manufadtime Versa Capital Management, LLC. Additionallye are the exclusive dealer for
certain other premium brands that serve certaingtygl segments in our markets as shown by the tabfeage four.

We commenced operations as a result of the Mar&B98 acquisition of five previously independerdreational boat dealers. Since that
time, we have acquired 23 additional previoushejmehdent recreational boat dealers, two boat bagkeoperations, and two fidervice yach
repair operations. We attempt to capitalize onetkgerience and success of the acquired companardén to establish a high national stanc
of customer service and responsiveness in theyhfgdmented retail boating industry. As a resfilbar emphasis on premium brand boats,
our average selling price for a new boat in fi@il3 was approximately $148,000, an increase afoappately 15% from approximately
$129,000 in fiscal 2012, compared with the induatrgrage selling price for calendar 2012 of appnaxely $37,000 based on industry data
published by the National Marine Manufacturers Assion. Our stores, which operated at least 12thmraveraged approximately $12.8
million in annual sales in fiscal 2013. We considestore to be one or more retail locations thaiaaljacent or operate as one entity. Our samé
store sales increased 8% in fiscal 2011, incred%edin fiscal 2012, and also increased 11% in Fi20a3.

We attempt to adopt the best practices developadgtand our acquired companies as appropriatenanee our ability to attract more
customers, foster an overall enjoyable boating B&pee, and offer boat manufacturers stable anfiégs@nal retail distribution and a broad
geographic presence. We believe that our full raxfgeervices, no hassle sales approach, prime latations, premium product offerings,
extensive facilities, strong management and teamlmes, and emphasis on customer service and séitisfdoefore and after a boat sale are
competitive advantages that enable us to be meponsive to the needs of existing and prospectigiomers.

The U.S. recreational boating industry generatgntapmately $35.6 billion in retail sales in calem®012, which is down from the peak
of $39.5 billion in calendar 2006. The retail saledude sales of new and used boats; marine ptedsiech as engines, trailers, equipment, ar
accessories; and related expenditures, such asrfsetance, docking, storage, and repairs. Reddgls of new and used boats, engines, trailer
and accessories accounted for approximately $2fiéiof these sales in 2012 based on industra di@m the National Marine Manufacture
Association. The highly fragmented retail boatindustry generally consists of small dealers tharate in a single market and provide van
degrees of merchandising, professional managemedtcustomer service. We believe that many smaledg are finding it increasingly
difficult to make the managerial and capital conma@hts necessary to achieve higher customer sdeviets and upgrade systems and facili
as required by boat manufacturers and demandeddtgroers. We also believe that many dealers lagkarstrategy for their owners. We
believe these factors contribute to our opportutatgain competitive advantage in current and futaarkets, through market expansions and
acquisitions.
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Strategy

Our goal is to enhance our position as the nati@ading recreational boat dealer. Key elementauofoperating and growth strategy
include the following:

. emphasizing customer satisfaction and loyajtgteating an overall enjoyable boating experiebegjinning with a hassle-free
purchase process, customer training, superior cwestservice, compa-led events called Getaways!, and premier facili

. achieving efficiencies and synergies among ouratmers to enhance internal growth and profitahi
. promoting national brand name recognition and ttzgiiMax connectior

. offering additional marine products and servicesluding those with higher profit margir

. expanding our Internet marketir

. pursuing strategic acquisitions to capitalipemwithe consolidation opportunities in the highlggimented recreational boat dealer
industry by acquiring additional dealers and relatperations and improving their performance amdifability through the
implementation of our operating strategi

. opening additional retail facilities, including +site retail displays such as mall stores, in oustarg and new territories
. emphasizing employee recruitment and retentioruthindraining, motivation, and developme

. emphasizing the best practices developed by usandcquired dealers as appropriate throughoutiealerships

. operating with a decentralized approach to theaijmral management of our dealerships;

. utilizing common platform information technolpthroughout operations, which facilitates the iakenge of information sharing
and enhances cre¢-selling opportunities throughout our compa

Development of the Company; Expansion of Business

MarineMax was founded in January 1998. MarineMa&lft however, conducted no operations until thiuisition of five independent
recreational boat dealers on March 1, 1998, andomgpleted our initial public offering in June 19@8nce the initial acquisitions in March
1998, we have acquired 23 additional recreationat Healers, two boat brokerage operations, anduliveervice yacht repair operations.
Acquired dealers operate under the MarineMax name.

We continually attempt to enhance our businessrbyiging a full range of services, offering exteresand high-quality product lines,
maintaining prime retail locations, pursuing therMaMax One Price hassle-free sales approach, mpth&sizing a high level of customer
service and satisfaction.

We also evaluate opportunities to expand our oeraby acquiring recreational boat dealers to eslpaur geographic scope, expanding
our product lines, opening new retail locationshivitour existing territories, and offering new puats and services for our customers.
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Acquisitions of additional recreational boat deglepresent an important strategy in our goal kaeoe our position as the nation’s
largest retailer of recreational boats. The folimgviable sets forth information regarding the besges that we have acquired and their

geographic regions.

Acquired Companies

Acquisition Date

Geographic Region

Bassett Boat Company of Florida March 199! Southeast Florid

Louis Del[Homme Marint March 199! Dallas and Houston, Tex

Gulfwind USA, Inc. March 199! West Central Florid:

Gulfwind South, Inc March 199¢ Southwest Floridi

Harrison’s Boat Center, Inc. and Harrison’s Mar@enters of March 199¢ Northern California and Arizon
Arizona, Inc. (1)

Stovall Marine, Inc April 199¢ Georgia

Cochrar's Marine, Inc. and C & N Marine Corporati July 199¢ Minnesots

Sea Ray of North Carolina, In July 199¢ North and South Carolir

Brevard Boat Compan
Sea Ray of Las Vegas (
Treasure Cove Marina, In
Woods & Oviatt, Inc
Boating World

September 19¢
September 19¢
September 19¢
October 199
February 199

East Central Florid
Nevads

Northern Ohic
Southeast Florid
Dallas, Texa:

Merit Marine, Inc. March 199 Southern New Jerse

Suburban Boatworks, In April 199¢ Central New Jerse

Hansen Marine, Inc August 199' Northeast Florid:

Duce Marine, Inc. (2 December 19¢ Utah

Clark’s Landing, Inc. (selected New Jersey locatiand April 200C  Northern New Jerse
operations

Associated Marine Technologies, I January 20C Southeast Florid

Gulfwind Marine Partners, In April 2002 West Floride

Seaside Marine, In July 200: Southern Californii

Sundance Marine, Inc. (. June 200 Coloradao

Killinger Marine Center, Inc. and Killinger Marir@enter of  September 20( Northwest Florida and Alaban
Alabama, Inc

Emarine International, Inc. and Steven Myers, October 200 Southeast Florid

Imperial Marine June 200 Baltimore, Marylanc

Port Jacksonville Marin June 200 Northeast Florid:

Port Arrowhead Marina, Inc January 20C Missouri, Oklahom:

Great American Marina (¢ February 200 West Floridz

Surfside— 3 Marina, Inc. March 2001 Connecticut, Maryland, New York and Rhode Isli

Treasure Island Marina, LL February 201 Florida Panhandl

Bassett Marine, LL( September 20 Connecticut, Rhode Island, Western Massachu

Parker Boat Compar March 201! Central Floride

(1) We subsequently closed the Northern California at@ns of Harrison Boat Center, Ir
(2) We subsequently closed the operations of Sea Reg¥egas and Duce Marine, It
(3) We subsequently sold the operations of Sundanc@abldnc.

(4) Joint Venture
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Apart from acquisitions, we have opened 30 newlrgizations in existing territories, excluding g®opened on a temporary basis for a
specific purpose. We also monitor the performarfcauo retail locations and close retail locatiohattdo not meet our expectations. Based on
these factors and the recent depressed economidioos, we have closed 57 retail locations sinad¥t 1998, excluding those opened on a
temporary basis for a specific purpose, includigrefiscal 2009 and a total of 10 during the thsee fiscal years.

As a part of our acquisition strategy, we frequertigage in discussions with various recreationat bealers regarding their potential
acquisition by us. In connection with these distrss we and each potential acquisition candidatba@nge confidential operational and
financial information; conduct due diligence inges; and consider the structure, terms, and camditof the potential acquisition. In certain
cases, the prospective acquisition candidate agieds discuss a potential acquisition with anyeotparty for a specific period of time, grants
us an option to purchase the prospective dealex flmsignated price during a specific time peréod] agrees to take other actions designed tc
enhance the possibility of the acquisition, suchraparing audited financial information and cotivey its accounting system to the system
specified by us. Potential acquisition discussioeguently take place over a long period of timd avolve difficult business integration and
other issues, including in some cases, managernec¢ssion and related matters. As a result of thedether factors, a number of potential
acquisitions that from time to time appear likedyoccur do not result in binding legal agreementsare not consummated.

In addition to acquiring recreational boat deaberd opening new retail locations, we also add newlyrct lines to expand our operatic
The following table sets forth certain of our cuntrproduct lines that we have added to our exidtiogtions during the years indicated.

Product Line Fiscal Yeat Geographic Regions

Boston Whaler 1998 West Central Florida, Stuart, Florida, Dallas, T&

Hatteras Yacht 1999 Florida (excluding the Florida panhand

Boston Whale 2000 North Palm Beach, Florid

Meridian Yachts 2002 Florida, Georgia, North and South Carolina, Nevedgr
Ohio, Minnesota, Texas, and Delaw.

Grady White 2002 Houston, Texa

Hatteras Yacht 2002 Texas

Boston Whale 2004 North and South Carolir

Princecraft 2004 Minnesots

Boston Whale 2005 Houston

Meridian Yachts 2005 Chattanooga, Tenness

Azimut 2006 Northeast United States from Maryland to Me

Cabo 2006 West coast of Florid

Cabo 2007 East coast of Florid

Azimut 2008 Florida

Cabo 2008 New Jersey and New Yo

Hatteras Yacht 2008 New Jersey and New Yo

Meridian Yachts 2008 Arizona and Colorad

Meridian Yachts 2009 Maryland and Delawar

Boston Whale 2009 Southwest Floridi

Harris FloteBote 2010 Arizona, Missouri, Minnesota, New Jersey, and Tengae

Malibu 2010 Arizona

Axis 2010 Arizona

Nautique by Correct Cra 2010 West Central Florida, Georgia, Minnesota, Missoamnigl
Tennesse

Bayliner 2010 New York

Meridian Yachts 2010 California

Harris FloteBote 2011 West Central Florid:

Bayliner 2011 West Central Florida, Colorado, Connecticut, Mirotas
New Jersey, Tennessee, and Te

Azimut 2012 United States other than where previously |

Boston Whale 2012 Pompano, Florid:

Harris FloteBote 2012 Alabama, North and Southwest Florida, WrightsviNerth
Carolina, and Texz

Bayliner 2012 Southwest Florid:

Scout 2012 Southeast Florida, Maryland, and New Jel

Sailfish 2013 Connecticut, Brevard and Jacksonville, Florida,Rharida

panhandle, West Central Florida, New Jersey, Nevk,Yo
North Carolina, Ohio, Rhode Island, and Te
Scarab Jet Boa 2013 All geographic regions in which we oper:
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We add brands with the intent to either offer anatign path for our existing customer base orefijap in our product offerings. As a
result, we believe that new brands we offer areglementary and do not cannibalize the businessrgetefrom our other prominent brands.
We also discontinue offering product lines fromaito time, primarily based upon customer preference

During the nine-year period from the commenceménuo operations through our fiscal year ended &aper 30, 2007, our revenue
increased from $291 million to $1.2 billion. Ouvemue and net income increased in seven of thoseyeiars over the prior year revenue and
net income. This period was marked by an increasetail locations from 41 on September 30, 19988@n September 30, 2007, resulting
from acquisitions and opening new stores in exgstarritories.

Our growth was interrupted during the fiscal yeaderl September 30, 2007, primarily as a resulacibfs related to the deteriorating
housing market and general economic conditions.sTistantially deteriorating economic and financa@iditions, reduced consumer
confidence and spending, increased fuel pricesictezh of credit availability, financial market dees, and asset value deterioration all
contributed to substantially lower financial perfance in the fiscal years ended September 30, 2002009, including significant net losses,
followed by pre-tax losses in the fiscal years eén8eptember 30, 2010 and 2011. We returned totabdfty in fiscal 2012.

We have taken a number of actions to address thenged weak market and economic conditions, inolyideducing our acquisition
program, slowing our new store openings, reducingimventory purchases, engaging in inventory rédaefforts, closing a number of our
retail locations, significantly reducing our headnf and modifying and replacing our credit fagilifcquisitions and new store openings
remain important strategies to our company, angbhae to accelerate our growth through these stiedexs economic conditions permit.
However, we cannot predict the length or severitthe continuing economic weakness, both geneegaity within our industry, or the
magnitude of the effects it will have on our opergperformance nor can we predict the effectivertdgdhe measures we have taken to adt
this environment.

Despite the foregoing actions, we are striving &intain our core values of high customer serviak satisfaction and plan to continue to
pursue strategies that we believe will enable wctoeve long-term success and growth when econooniditions improve. As noted in the
earlier table, we have capitalized on a numberafd expansion opportunities in the markets in Wiie operate. We believe our expanded
product offerings have strengthened our same-sties growth. As economic conditions permit, wapafurther expand our business
through both acquisitions in new territories and/is¢ore openings in existing territories. In adutitiwe plan to continue to expand our other
traditional and newly offered services, includiranducting used boat sales at our retail locatianeffsite locations, and on the Internet; se|
related marine products, including engines, trajlparts, and accessories at our retail locatindsavarious offsite locations, through our p
catalog, and through the Internet; providing maiatece, repair, and storage services at most afetait locations; offering our customers the
ability to finance new or used boats; offering exted service contracts; arranging insurance coeeragluding boat property, credit-life,
accident, disability, and casualty coverage; offgthoat and yacht brokerage services at most ofedait locations and at various offsite
locations; and conducting our yacht charter busin@sir expansion plans will depend, in large pgrgn the return of normal economic
conditions.

We maintain our executive offices at 18167 U.S.hdigy 19 North, Suite 300, Clearwater, Florida 33&®# our telephone number is
(727) 531-1700. We were incorporated in the sth@ataware in January 1998. Unless the contextratise requires, all references to
“MarineMax” mean MarineMax, Inc. prior to its acagition of five previously independent recreatiobaht dealers in March 1998 (including
their related real estate companies) and all ref&®to the “Company,” “our company,” “we,” “us fih“our” mean, as a combined company,
MarineMax, Inc. and the 23 recreational boat deakevo boat brokerage operations, and two fulliseryacht repair operations acquired to
date (the “acquired dealers,” and together withhitekerage and repair operations, “operating sign$és,” or the “acquired companies”).
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Our website is located atww.MarineMax.com Through our website, we make available free afrgl our annual report on Form 10-K,
our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, our currenprepon Form 8-K, our proxy statements, and anyraiments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of3beurities Exchange Act of 1934. These reportsieaéable as soon as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file those regpavith the Securities and Exchange CommissioiBSEC. We also post on our website the
charters of our Audit, Compensation, and Nomind@uogporate Governance Committees; our Corporateefdance Guidelines, Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics, and Code of EthicthtoCEO and Senior Financial Officers, and anyratments or waivers thereto; and any
other corporate governance materials contemplatedeoSEC or the regulations of the New York Steekhange, or NYSE. These document:
are also available in print to any stockholder esgfing a copy from our corporate secretary at auncipal executive offices. Because our
common stock is listed on the NYSE, our Chief EximeuOfficer is required to make an annual ceréifion to the NYSE stating that he is not
aware of any violation by us of the corporate gogece listing standards of the NYSE. Our Chief Exige Officer made his annual
certification to that effect to the NYSE on March2913.

Business

General

We are the largest recreational boat dealer ituthited States. Through 54 retail locations in Alaba Arizona, California, Connecticut,
Florida, Georgia, Maryland, Massachusetts, Minreesidissouri, New Jersey, New York, North Caroli@dnio, Oklahoma, Rhode Island,
Tennessee, and Texas, we sell new and used recr@aibats, including pleasure boats (such as §pais, sport cruisers, sport yachts, and
yachts), and fishing boats, with a focus on premiwemds in each segme

We are the nation’s largest retailer of Sea Ragt@woWhaler, Bayliner, and Meridian recreationadtscand yachts, all of which are
manufactured by Brunswick Corporation, or Brunswiskles of new Brunswick boats accounted for agprately 38% of our revenue in
fiscal 2013. Brunswick is the world’s largest maatfirer of marine products and marine engines. #eue our sales represented
approximately 7% of all Brunswick marine sales]iiding approximately 49% of its Sea Ray boat salasing our fiscal 2013. We are parties
to dealer agreements with Brunswick covering SeapgRaducts and are the exclusive dealer of SeabRats in almost all of our geographic
markets. We also are the exclusive dealer for Bogtbaler and Bayliner in many of our geographickets and the exclusive dealer for
Meridian Yachts in most of our geographic mark@é{e. also are the exclusive dealer for Italy-baseni-Benetti Group, or Azimut, for
Azimut mega-yachts, yachts, and other recreatiboats for the United States. Sales of new Azimatdaccounted for approximately 13% of
our revenue in fiscal 2013. In addition, we aredkelusive dealer for Hatteras Yachts throughoetstate of Florida (excluding the Florida
panhandle) and the states of New Jersey, New Yamidk,Texas, and the exclusive dealer for Cabo Ydbhtsighout the states of Florida, New
Jersey, and New York, both of which are manufactime Versa Capital Management, LLC. Additionallye are the exclusive dealer for
certain other premium brands that serve certainstrg segments in our markets as shown by the tabpeage four.

We also are involved in other boating-related dtis. We sell used boats at our retail locati@mdine, and at various thirgarty marina
and other offsite locations; we sell marine engimad propellers, primarily to our retail customassreplacements for their existing engines
propellers; we sell a broad variety of parts antkasories at our retail locations and at variotsteflocations, through our print catalog, and
through the Internet; we offer maintenance, repaid slip and storage services at most of ourl letations; we offer finance and insurance
F&I, products at our retail locations and at vasalfsite locations and to our customers and inddeet boat dealers and brokers; we offer
and yacht brokerage services at most of our retzditions and at various offsite locations; andoweduct a yacht charter business in which wi
offer customers the opportunity to charter thirdtpawned power and sailing yachts in exotic lomagi.

U.S. Recreational Boating Industry

The total U.S. recreational boating industry geteetapproximately $35.6 billion in retail salesalendar 2012, which is down from the
peak of $39.5 billion in calendar 2006. The retales include retail sales of new and used reoradtboats; marine products, such as engines
trailers, parts, and accessories; and relatedrigpatipenditures, such as fuel, insurance, dockiagage, and repairs. Retail sales of new and
used boats, engines, trailers, and accessoriesmtecbfor approximately $26.3 billion of such sae2012. Annual retail recreational boating
sales were $17.9 billion in 1988, but declined tova of $10.3 billion in 1992 based on industryalptiblished by the National Marine
Manufacturers Association. We believe this decliras attributable to several factors, including@ession, the Gulf War, and the imposition
throughout 1991 and 1992 of a luxury tax on boals at prices in excess of $100,000. The luxurywtas repealed in 1993, and retail boating
sales increased each year thereafter except f@&, 2093, and 2007 through 2010.
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The recreational boat retail market remains higtdgmented with little consolidation having occutte date and consists of numerous
boat retailers, most of which are small companiesesl by individuals that operate in a single mad¢et provide varying degrees of
merchandising, professional management, and custeangce. We believe that many boat retailersea@untering increased pressure from
boat manufacturers to improve their levels of senand systems, increased competition from largtomal retailers in certain product lines,
and, in certain cases, business succession issues.

Strategy

Our goal is to enhance our position as the natila@ding recreational boat dealer. Key elementsiofoperating and growth strategy
include the following.

Emphasizing Customer Satisfaction and Loyallye seek to achieve a high level of customerfsation and establish long-term
customer loyalty by creating an overall enjoyahating experience beginning with a hassle-freelmse process. We further enhance and
simplify the purchase process by helping to arrdirgancing and insurance at our retail locationghwompetitive terms and streamlined
turnaround. We offer the customer a thorough inewatientation of boat operations where availafdewell as ongoing boat safety,
maintenance, and use seminars and demonstratiotieefoustomer’s entire family. We also continue customer service after the sale by
leading and sponsoring MarineMax Getaways! grougtibg trips to various destinations, rendezvoubeyatigs, and on-the-water organized
events to provide our customers with pre-arranggzmbdunities to enjoy the pleasures of the bodtfegtyle. We also endeavor to provide
superior maintenance and repair services, ofteugir mobile service at the customer’s wet slip @&iid extended service department hours
and emergency service availability, that minimize hassles of boat maintenance.

Achieving Operating Efficiencies and Synergi®¥¢e strive to increase the operating efficienaeand achieve certain synergies among
our dealerships in order to enhance internal gramth profitability. We centralize various aspedtsertain administrative functions at the
corporate level, such as accounting, finance, arste coverage, employee benefits, marketing, gtcapdanning, legal support, purchasing anc
distribution, and management information systenentflization of these functions reduces duplieaéxpenses and permits the dealerships
benefit from a level of scale and expertise thatild@therwise be unavailable to each dealershiithdally. We also seek to realize cost
savings from reduced inventory carrying costs eessalt of purchasing boat inventories on a natibeal and directing boats to dealership
locations that can more readily sell such boatsgeldiinancing costs through our credit sources;aidme purchase discounts and rebates fol
certain marine products, supplies, and advertisiihg. ability of our retail locations to offer theraplementary services of our other retail
locations, such as offering customer excursion dppdies, providing maintenance and repair ses/a@ethe customer’s boat location, and
giving access to broader inventory selections giases the competitiveness of each retail localigreentralizing these types of activities, our
store managers have more time to focus on themeastand the development of their teams.

Promoting Brand Name Recognition and the Marinel@axnection We are promoting our brand name recognition ite tdvantage of
our status as the nation’s only coast-to-coastmeagtailer. This strategy also recognizes thatyneaisting and potential customers who resids
in Northern markets and vacation for substantialogls in Southern markets will prefer to purchase service their boats from the same well-
known company. We refer to this strategy as therfidviax Connection.” As a result, our signage ensptes the MarineMax name at each of
our locations, and we conduct national advertigingarious print and other media.

Offering Additional Products and Services, Inclglifhose Involving Higher Profit MargindNe plan to continue to offer additional
product lines and services throughout our dealpssiind, when appropriate, online and various effsitations. We are offering throughout
dealerships product lines that previously have loffamed only at certain of our locations. We atdxain additional product lines through the
acquisition of distribution rights directly from mafacturers and the acquisition of dealerships digitribution rights. In either situation, such
expansion is typically done through agreementsappbint us as the exclusive dealer for a desigrgegraphic territory. We plan to continue
to grow our financing and insurance, parts and ssm@es, service, and boat storage businesse$t¢o ferve our customers and thereby
increase revenue and improve profitability of thiegger margin businesses. We also have implemegmtagtams to increase the sale over the
Internet of used boats and a wide range of bogi#mts, accessories, supplies, and products. Itiexddive have established a yacht charter
business and are conducting programs to sell usats boffer F&I products, and sell boating partd ancessories at various offsite locations.
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Marketing over the InternetOur web initiatives span across multiple websiteguding our core siteyww.MarineMax.com The
websites provide customers with the ability to fearore about our company and our products. Our feegsnerates direct sales and provides
our stores with leads to potential customers fov aad used boats, brokerage services, financersndance products, and repair and
maintenance services. In addition, we utilize wasiteeder websites and social networking websitelsive additional traffic and leads for our
various product and service offerings. As mentioaledve, we also maintain multiple online storefsdiotr customers to purchase used boats
and a wide variety of boating parts and accessories

Pursuing Strategic AcquisitiondVe capitalize upon the significant consolidatomportunities available in the highly fragmented
recreational boat dealer industry by acquiring petelent dealers and improving their performancepaafitability through the implementatic
of our operating strategies. The primary acquisifmcus is on well-established, high-end recreatitwoat dealers in geographic markets not
currently served by us, particularly geographic kets with strong boating demographics, such assaméhin the coastal states and the Great
Lakes region. We also may seek to acquire boaedetiat, while located in attractive geographickess, have not been able to realize
favorable market share or profitability and that t&nefit substantially from our systems and oregattrategies. We may expand our range o
product lines, service offerings, and market pextigtn by acquiring companies that distribute retto@al boat product lines or boating-related
services different from those we currently offes @&result of our considerable industry experiearatrelationships, we believe we are well
positioned to identify and evaluate acquisitiondidates and assess their growth prospects, théygaatheir management teams, their local
reputation with customers, and the suitabilityhsit locations. We believe we are regarded asteactive acquirer by boat dealers because of
(1) the historical performance and the experiemzeraputation of our management team within thestry; (2) our decentralized operating
strategy, which generally enables the managers atquired dealer to continue their involvemerdealership operations; (3) the ability of
management and employees of an acquired dealartioipate in our growth and expansion through piiéé stock ownership and career
advancement opportunities; and (4) the abilityfferdiquidity to the owners of acquired dealersotigh the receipt of common stock or cash.
We have entered into an agreement regarding atiqnsiwith the Sea Ray Division of Brunswick. Undee agreement, acquisitions of Sea
Ray dealers will be mutually agreed upon by us $@a Ray with reasonable efforts to be made todieciubalance of Sea Ray dealers that
been successful and those that have not been.grberaent provides that Sea Ray will not unreasgnaithhold its consent to any proposed
acquisition of a Sea Ray dealer by us, subjedigaonditions set forth in the agreement, as fudlescribed in “Business — Brunswick
Agreement Relating to Acquisitions.”

Opening New FacilitiesWe intend to continue to establish additionaitéacilities in our existing and new markets whaarkets
conditions improve. We believe that the demograpbioour existing geographic territories suppoet tipening of additional facilities, and we
have opened 30 new retail facilities, excludingsthopened on a temporary basis for a specific pagmince our formation in January 1998.
We also plan to reach new customers through vaimmeyative retail formats developed by us, sucha#t stores and floating retail facilities.
We continually monitor the performance of our reiagations and close retail locations that domegt our expectations or that were opened
for a specific purpose that is no longer relevBased on these factors since March 1998, we haged!57 retail locations, excluding those
opened on a temporary basis for a specific purpgnskiding 26 in fiscal 2009.

Emphasizing Employee Recruitment and Retentionubwdraining, Motivation, and Developmerwe devote substantial efforts to
recruit employees that we believe to be exceptipnedll qualified for their position and to traiibemployees to understand our core retail
philosophies, which focus on making the purchase ledat and its subsequent use as hassle-freenpnydlele as possible. Through our
MarineMax University, or MMU, we teach our retalifpsophies to existing and new employees at varlogations and online, through
MMU-online. MMU is a modularized and instructor-leducational program that focuses on our retapinigpsophies and provides instruction
on such matters as the sales process, custom@esdt&l, accounting, leadership, and human ressirc
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Emphasizing Best Practice¥Ve emphasize the best practices developed bgdusw@ acquired dealers as appropriate throughaut o
locations. As an example, we have implemented hagge sales approach at each of our dealershiprerdhe MarineMax One Price hassle-
free sales approach, we sell our boats at pricesrghy representing a discount from the manufactsisuggested retail price, thereby
eliminating the anxieties of price negotiationstthecur in most boat purchases. In addition, wepgdbe best practices developed by us and
our acquired dealers as applicable, consideringtilme, design, layout, product purchases, maintemand repair services (including extended
service hours and mobile or dockside servicesdymrbmix, employee training, and customer educadiuth services.

Operating with Decentralized ManagemeiYe maintain a generally decentralized approathdgmperational management of our
dealerships. The decentralized management apptakes advantage of the extensive experience of tlogaaagers, enabling them to
implement policies and make decisions, includiregyappropriate product mix, based on the needsedbttal market. Local management
authority also fosters responsive customer semasitepromotes long-term community and customerioglships. In addition, the centralization
of certain administrative functions at the corpeiavel enhances the ability of local managersto$ their efforts on day-to-day dealership
operations and the customers.

Utilizing Technology Throughout Operationg/e believe that our management information systenich currently is being utilized by
each of our dealerships and was developed ovemb@uof years through cooperative efforts with mown vendor, enhances our ability to
integrate successfully the operations of our dehklps and future acquired dealers. The systemittaes the interchange of information and
enhances cross-selling opportunities throughoutonrpany. The system integrates each level of tipagon a company-wide basis,
including purchasing, inventory, receivables, ficiahreporting, budgeting, and sales managemem.syhtem also provides sales
representatives with prospect and customer infaomdhat aids them in tracking the status of tieeintacts with prospects, automatically
generates follow-up correspondence to such prosplecilitates the availability of boats companydeijilocates boats needed to satisfy
particular customer requests, and monitors the texa@mce and service needs of customers’ boatseprasentatives also utilize the computer
system to assist in arranging customer financirjiasurance packages. Our managers use a web-foaseol access essentially all financial
and operational data from anywhere at any time.

Products and Services

We offer new and used recreational boats and refatine products, including engines, trailersigpand accessories. While we sell a
broad range of new and used boats, we focus onipmebrand products. In addition, we assist in agiag related boat financing, insurance,
and extended service contracts; provide boat maantze and repair services; offer slip and storageramodations; provide boat and yacht
brokerage services; and conduct a yacht charténdsss

New Boat Sale:

We primarily sell recreational boats, includinggdare boats and fishing boats. A number of theuymisdwve offer are manufactured by
Brunswick, the leading worldwide manufacturer afreational boats, including Sea Ray pleasure bBatston Whaler fishing boats, and
Meridian Yachts. In fiscal 2013, we derived appmately 38% of our revenue from the sale of new $oanufactured by Brunswick. We
believe that we represented approximately 7% abfairunswick’s marine product sales during thaigue Certain of our dealerships also sell
luxury yachts, fishing boats, and pontoon boatvigied by other manufacturers, including Italy-bageimut. In fiscal 2013, we derived
approximately 13% of our revenue from the saleeaf hoats manufactured by Azimut. During fiscal 2048w boat sales accounted for 61.9%
of our revenue.

We offer recreational boats in most market segméitishave a particular focus on premium qualigaglure boats and yachts as refle
by our fiscal 2013 average new boat sales pri@ppfoximately $148,000, an increase of approximéts from approximately $129,000 in
fiscal 2012, compared with an estimated industerage selling price for calendar 2012 of approxélya$37,000 based on industry data
published by the National Marine Manufacturers Asastion. Given our locations in some of the moiftuaht, offshore boating areas in the
United States and emphasis on high levels of custeervice, we sell a relatively higher percentaigarge recreational boats, such as mega-
yachts, yachts, and sport cruisers. We believetiigaproduct lines we offer are among the highaatity within their respective mark
segments, with well-established trade-name reciognéind reputations for quality, performance, atytirsy.
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The following table is illustrative of the rangedaapproximate manufacturer suggested retail peinge of new boats that we currently
offer, but is not all inclusive.

Manufacturer Suggested

Product Line and Trade Name Overall Length Retail Price Range

Motor Yachts

Azimut 40 to 11¢+ $600,000 to $12,000,00!
Hatteras Motor Yacht 54 to 10C + 3,000,000 to 10,000,00
Convertibles

Hatteras Convertible 54 to 77 + 2,300,000 to 7,000,00t!
Cabo 3€' to 57 700,000 to 2,000,00(
Pleasure Boats

Sea Ray 19 to 6% 25,000 to 3,000,0(
Meridian 34 to 5¢ 400,000 to 1,800,0(
Bayliner 1€ to 2¢ 13,000 to 150,0C
Harris FloteBote 16 to 2¢ 15,000 to 100,0C
Fishing Boats

Boston Whale 171 to 37 8,000 to 500,0C
Grady White 18 to 3¢ 40,000 to 500,0C
Scout 17 to 3% 25,000 to 450,0(
Sailfish 19 to 37 37,000 to 209,0C
Ski Boats

Malibu 20" to 2% 80,000 to 140,0C
AXxis 20" to 27 60,000 to 90,0C
Nautique by Correct Cra 21 to 2% 75,000 to 180,0(C
Jet Boats

Scarat 19 to 2¢€ 20,000 to 80,0C

Motor Yachts Hatteras Yachts and Azimut are two of the worlafsmier yacht builders. The motor yacht produaditypically include
state-of-the-art designs with live-aboard luxurtdatteras offers a flybridge with extensive guestting; covered aft deck, which may be fully
or partially enclosed, providing the boater witldidnal living space; an elegant salon; and mldtgtaterooms for accommodations. Azimut
yachts are known for their Americanized open laywitlh Italian design and powerful performance. Tiraurious interiors of Azimut yachts ¢
accented by windows and multiple accommodationisithee been designed for comfort.

Convertibles Hatteras Yachts and Cabo Yachts are two of thddiggoremier convertible yacht builders and of$éate-of-theart design:
with live-aboard luxuries. Convertibles are prinhafishing vessels, which are well equipped to nthetneeds of even the most serious
tournament-class competitor. Hatteras featuresiangethat offer luxurious salon/galley arrangensentultiple staterooms with private heads,
and a cockpit that includes a bait and tackle eefighbox, and freezer. Cabo is known for spacioaskpits and accessibility to essentials, ¢
as bait chests, livewells, bait prep centers, ankll¢ lockers. Cabo interiors offer elegance, higtied by teak woodwork, halogen lighting, i
ample storage areas.

Pleasure Boats Sea Ray and Meridian pleasure boats target hethukury and the family recreational boating méskend come in a
variety of configurations to suit each customeagstigular recreational boating style. Sea Ray spachts and yachts serve the luxury segment
of the recreational boating market and includedBfhe line living accommodations with a salonullyf equipped galley, and multiple
staterooms. Sea Ray sport yachts and yachts atatdean cabin, bridge cockpit, and cruiser mod8sa Ray sport boat and sport cruiser
models are designed for performance and depentyaioilmeet family recreational needs and includayraf the features and accommodation:
of Sea Ray'’s sport yacht and yacht models. Meridfort yachts and yachts are known for their gpdiformance and thoughtful use of space
with 360-degree views and spacious salon, galiey,séateroom accommodations. Meridian sport yaaidsyachts are generally available in
sedan, motoryacht, and pilothouse models. All Saddd Meridian pleasure boats feature customuimgntation that may include an
electronics package; various hull, deck, and caakgsigns that can include a swim platform; bowpfiwnd raised bridge; and various
amenities, such as swivel bucket helm seats, losegts, sun pads, wet bars, built-in ice chestsrefnreshment centers. Bayliner sport boats
are designed for performance and dependabilityagetrfamily recreational needs at lower price poitsris FloteBote is one of the most
innovative and premium pontoon boats offered andigdes a variety of models to fit boaters’ needssMSea Ray, Bayliner, Harris FloteBote,
and Meridian pleasure boats feature Mercury or M@ser engines.
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Fishing Boats The fishing boats we offer, such as Boston Wh&eady White, Scout, and Sailfish, range fromefewvel models to
advanced models designed for fishing and watettsjpotakes, bays, and off-shore waters, with cabiith limited live-aboard capability. The
fishing boats typically feature livewells, in-defikhboxes, rodholders, rigging stations, cockpaming pads, and fresh and saltwater
washdowns.

Ski Boats The ski boats we offer, such as Malibu, Axis, &laitique by Correct Craft, range from entry leweldels to advanced
models, all of which are designed to achieve amalie wake for increased skier and wakeboardeppaence and safety. With a variety of
designs and options, the ski boats we offer wilesd to the competitive and recreational user alike

Jet Boats The Scarab jet boats we offer range from entrglimodels to advanced models, all of which aregies! for performance ar
with exclusive design elements to meet family ratiomal needs. With a variety of designs and oggtitime jet boats we offer will appeal to a
broad audience of jet boat enthusiasts as welkiatireg customers.

Used Boat Sales

We sell used versions of the new makes and modelsfier and, to a lesser extent, used boats of otlaées and models generally taken
as trade-ins. During fiscal 2013, used boat satesumted for 19.4% of our revenue, and 68.7% ofidexl boats we sold were Brunswick
models.

Our used boat sales depend on our ability to scausagply of high-quality used boats at attracgiviees. We acquire substantially all of
our used boat inventory through customer tradeWssintend to continue to increase our used bosihkss as a result of the availability of
quality used boats generated from our new boas sdferts, the increasing number of used boatsatetvell-maintained through our service
initiatives, our ability to market used boats thgbaut our combined dealership network to match b&ad demand, and the experience of our
yacht brokerage operations. Additionally, substdlytiall of our used boat inventory is posted on website, which expands the awareness
availability of our products to a large audiencdoéting enthusiasts. We also sell used boatsratugsamarinas and other offsite locations
throughout the country.

To further enhance our used boat sales, we oféeBthinswick Product Protection warranty plan avdédor used Brunswick boats less
than nine years old. The Brunswick Product Pradedtilan applies to each qualifying used Brunswic&tbwhich has passed a 48-point
inspection, and provides protection against faibfrenost mechanical parts for up to three yearsbéleve these programs enhance our sales
of used Brunswick boats by motivating purchasenssad Brunswick boats to complete their purchads@sigh our Brunswick dealerships.

Marine Engines, Related Marine Equipment, and Boadj Parts and Accessorie

We offer marine engines and propellers, substan@dll of which are manufactured by Mercury Marirsedivision of Brunswick. We sell
marine engines and propellers primarily to retagtomers as replacements for their existing engingsopellers. Mercury Marine has
introduced various new engine models that redugaeremissions to comply with current Environmemtadtection Agency requirements. See
“Business — Environmental and Other RegulatorydssuAn industry leader for almost six decades, ddgr Marine specializes in state-of-
the-art marine propulsion systems and accessdfi@sy of our dealerships have been recognized bycigrMarine as “Premier Service
Dealers.” This designation is generally awardeddam meeting certain standards and qualifications.

We also sell a broad variety of marine parts amgs&ories at our retail locations, at various tfications, through our print catalog,
and through the Internet. These marine parts aoesaories include marine electronics; dock and@iroi products, such as boat fenders,
lines, and anchors; boat covers; trailer partsewsport accessories, such as tubes, lines, wald)@and skies; engine parts; oils; lubricants;
steering and control systems; corrosion controipets, service products; higierformance accessories, such as propellers amdrirents; an
a complete line of boating accessories, includiiggjdckets, inflatables, and water sports equipiméfe also offer novelty items, such as sh
caps, and license plates bearing the manufactwedsaler’s logos.
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Our in-store parts and accessories efforts have égganded with more products, enhanced displaygkare focused marketing efforts.
In order to serve customers in locations where avaat have retail locations, we have embarked @roaggressive print catalog and web
presence, which carry substantially more produwes bffered at our retail locations and are coridggirograms to sell parts and accessori
various offsite locations. In all of our parts aamtessories business, we utilize our industry kadgé and experience to offer boating
enthusiasts high-quality products with which wedaxperience.

The sale of marine engines, related marine equipmaed boating parts and accessories accountédS®s of our fiscal 2013 revenue.

Maintenance, Repair, and Storage Servic

Providing customers with professional, prompt metiaince and repair services is critical to our sefiests and contributes to our
success. We provide maintenance and repair ser@icesst of our retail locations, with extended/ser hours at certain of our locations. In
addition, in many of our markets, we provide molpilaintenance and repair services at the locatidheofustomer’s boat. We believe that this
service commitment is a competitive advantage énntlarkets in which we compete and is critical toefforts to provide a troubl&ee boating
experience. To further this commitment, in cer@iour markets, we have opened stafmhe maintenance and repair facilities in locatitrat
are more convenient for our customers and thaeas® the availability of such services. We als@belthat our maintenance and repair
services contribute to strong customer relatiorshipd that our emphasis on preventative mainterematguality service increases the
potential supply of well-maintained boats for oged boat sales.

We perform both warranty and nevarranty repair services, with the cost of warramork reimbursed by the manufacturer in accord;
with the manufacturer’'s warranty reimbursement paog For warranty work, most manufacturers, inaigdBrunswick, reimburse a
percentage of the dealer’s posted service labes ratith the percentage varying depending on théeds customer satisfaction index rating
and attendance at service training courses. Weealtre majority of our warranty revenue from Bruidwproducts, as Brunswick products
comprise the majority of products sold. Certaineotmanufacturers reimburse warranty work at a fixedunt per repair. Because boat
manufacturers permit warranty work to be perforraely at authorized dealerships, we receive suliathnall of the warranted maintenance
and repair work required for the new boats we 3élé third-party extended warranty contracts weradiiso result in an ongoing demand for
our maintenance and repair services for the duratidahe term of the extended warranty contract.

Our maintenance and repair services are performedamufacturer-trained and certified service tectamis. In charging for our
mechanics’ labor, many of our dealerships use iabigrrate structure designed to reflect the difficand sophistication of different types of
repairs. The percentage markups on parts are siyrfilased on manufacturer suggested prices andanheokditions for different parts.

At many of our locations, we offer boat storageveess, including in-water slip storage and insidd autside land storage. These storag
services are offered at competitive market ratesiaciude in-season and winter storage.

Maintenance, repair, and storage services accofmt&d6% of our revenue during fiscal 2013. Thislides warranty and non-warranty
services.

F&I Products

At each of our retail locations and at various itdftocations, we offer our customers the abild@yfinance new or used boat purchases
to purchase extended service contracts and ariasgence coverage, including boat property, ci@ditand accident, disability, and casualty
insurance coverage (collectively, “F&I”). We hawaationships with various national marine prodeciders under which the lenders purchase
retail installment contracts evidencing retail sadéboats and other marine products that areraigd by us in accordance with existing pre-
sale agreements between us and the lenders. Tinasgements permit us to receive a portion of ihenfce charges expected to be earned on
the retail installment contract based on a vamdtiactors, including the credit standing of the/éy the annual percentage rate of the contract
charged to the buyer, and the lender’s then cumémimum required annual percentage rate chargétetbuyer on the contract. This
participation is subject to repayment by us ifllger prepays the contract or defaults within agieged time period, usually 90 to 180 days.
To the extent required by applicable state law,dmalerships are licensed to originate and sellrieistallment contracts financing the sale of
boats and other marine products.
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We also offer third-party extended service congaetder which, for a predetermined price, we prevll designated services pursuant te
the service contract guidelines during the contierch at no additional charge to the customer aldodeductible. While we sell all new boats
with the boat manufacturesr'standard hull warranty of generally five yeard atandard engine warranty of generally one yedeneled servic
contracts provide additional coverage beyond tine frame or scope of the manufacturer’'s warrantyctfasers of used boats generally are
able to purchase an extended service contract,iétlenselected boat is no longer covered by thaufacturer’'s warranty. Generally, we
receive a fee for arranging an extended servic&acin Most required services under the contragtpeovided by us and paid for by the third-
party contract holder.

We also are able to assist our customers with ppermunity to purchase credit life insurance, aenidand disability insurance, and
property and casualty insurance. Credit life insaeapolicies provide for repayment of the boatriitiag contract if the purchaser dies while
the contract is outstanding. Accident and disabifisurance policies provide for payment of the thigncontract obligation during any period
in which the buyer is disabled. Property and caguasurance covers loss or damage to the boatd®\fet act as an insurance broker or agen
or issue insurance policies on behalf of insunéfe.do, however, provide marketing activities arttkotrelated services to insurance companie
and brokers for which we receive marketing fees @hour strategies is to generate increased magkites by offering more competitive
insurance products.

During fiscal 2013, fee income generated from Fé&dducts accounted for 2.8% of our revenue. We beltbat our customers’ ability to
obtain competitive financing quickly and easilyoat dealerships complements our ability to sell mext used boats. We also believe our
ability to provide customer-tailored financing of'same-day” basis gives us an advantage over miaoyraompetitors, particularly smaller
competitors that lack the resources to arrangefireaicing at their dealerships or that do not gateesufficient volume to attract the diversity
of financing sources that are available to us.

Brokerage Service

Through employees or subcontractors that are lembhsat or yacht brokers, we offer boat or yacbkérage services at most of our re
locations. For a commission, we offer for sale lerekl boats or yachts, listing them on various n#esites, advising our other retail locations
of their availability through our integrated com@usystem, and posting them on our web sitew.MarineMax.com Often sales are co-
brokered, with the commission split between theitgiand selling brokers. We believe that our actes®tential used boat customers and
methods of listing and advertising customénsikered boats or yachts is more extensive thipisal among brokers. In addition to genera
revenue from brokerage commissions, our brokeragaces also enable us to offer a broad array efl ats or yachts without increasing
related inventory costs. During fiscal 2013, bralger service commissions accounted for 2.4% of exernue.

Our brokerage customers generally receive the $aghelevel of customer service as our new and beed customers. Our waterfront
retail locations enable in-water demonstrationarobn-site brokered boat. Our maintenance andrrseaiices, including mobile service, also
are generally available to our brokerage custonTdre.purchaser of a boat brokered through us @sdake advantage of MarineMax
Getaways! weekend and day trips and other rendezyatherings and in-water events, as well as buertation and safety seminars. We
believe that the array of services we offer argueiin the brokerage business.
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Yacht Charter

We recently launched a yacht charter business iohake offer customers the opportunity to chartwer and sailing yachts in exotic
destinations, starting with our initial locationtime British Virgin Islands. This business ent#ils sale by us of specifically designed yachts to
third parties for inclusion in our yacht chartazeft; a yacht management agreement under which gaatdrs enable us to put their yachts in
our yacht charter program for a period of fourite fyears for a fixed monthly fee payable by usjchtincludes our services in storing,
insuring, and maintaining their yachts; and thertgtdy us of these yachts to vacation customeag@ted fees payable to us. The yacht ow
will be able to utilize the yachts for personal fmea designated number of weeks during the tdrtheomanagement agreement and take
possession of their yachts following the expiratifithe yacht management agreements. During fi&2#88, the charter of power and sailing
yachts accounted for 0.4% of our rever

Offsite Sales

We sell used boats, offer F&I products, and sefispand accessories at various third-party offsitations, including marinas.

Retail Locations

We sell our recreational boats and other marindymts and offer our related boat services throughefail locations in Alabama,
Arizona, California, Connecticut, Florida, Geordiéaryland, Massachusetts, Minnesota, Missouri, Nevsey, New York, North Carolina,
Ohio, Oklahoma, Rhode Island, Tennessee, and TEsa&#. retail location generally includes an indstoowroom (including some of the
industry’s largest indoor boat showrooms) and asida area for displaying boat inventories, a bessroffice to assist customers in arranging
financing and insurance, and maintenance and régulities.

Many of our retail locations are waterfront propeston some of the nation’s most popular boatigtions, including the San Diego Bay
in California; Norwalk Harbor and Westbrook HarliiConnecticut; multiple locations on the Intradeh$Vaterway, the Atlantic Ocean,
Biscayne Bay, Boca Ciega Bay, Naples Bay, Tampa &ag the Saint Andrews Bay in Florida; Lake LaimmeGeorgia; Chesapeake Bay in
Maryland; Lake Minnetonka, Leech Lake, and theC3bix River in Minnesota; Lake of the Ozarks andl€aRock Lake in Missouri; Barnegat
Bay, Lake Hopatcong, Little Egg Harbor Bay, and Memasquan River in New Jersey; Great South BayHtldson River, and Huntington
Harbor in New York; Masonboro Inlet in North Cardi Lake Erie in Ohio; Grand Lake in Oklahoma; NewpHarbor and Greenwich Bay in
Rhode Island; Tennessee River in Tennessee; aad Gike and Lake Lewisville in Texas. Our waterfretail locations, most of which
include marina-type facilities and docks at whiok display our boats, are easily accessible to ¢la¢ig populace, serve as in-water
showrooms, and enable the sales force to give megs®immediate in-water demonstrations of varicest Imodels. Most of our other locations
are in close proximity to water.

Operations
Dealership Operations and Manageme

We have adopted a generally decentralized approsttie operational management of our dealershigslé/gertain administrative
functions are centralized at the corporate lewelall management is primarily responsible for thg-tdaday operations of the retail locations.
Each retail location is managed by a store managey,oversees the day-to-day operations, persoanélfinancial performance of the
individual store, subject to the direction of aiceml manager, who generally has responsibilitytffierretail locations within a specified
geographic region. Typically, each retail locatadso has a staff consisting of an F&l manager,respaanager, and a service manager, sales
representatives, maintenance and repair technjcasvarious support personnel.

We attempt to attract and retain quality employ®eproviding them with ongoing training to enhamsedes professionalism and product
knowledge, career advancement opportunities waHarger company, and favorable benefit packagesmaintain a formal training program,
called MarineMax University or MMU, which providésining for employees in all aspects of our opgeret. Training sessions are held at our
various regional locations covering a variety gfits. MMU-online offers various modules over théemet. Highly trained, professional sales
representatives are an important factor to ouresigfal sales efforts. These sales representatigdsagned at MMU to recognize the
importance of fostering an enjoyable sales prodessjucate customers on the operation and u$e dfdats, and to assist customers in ma
technical and design decisions in boat purchades oVerall focus of MMU is to teach our core rétajlvalues, which focus on customer
service.
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Sales representatives receive compensation primarih commission basis. Each store manager imaeshemployee with incentive
bonuses based on the performance of the managkaiaéia. Maintenance and repair service manageesuwe compensation on a salary basis
with bonuses based on the performance of theirrttepats. Our management information system prové@es store and department manage
with daily financial and operational informatiomabling them to monitor their performance on aydaileekly, and monthly basis. We have a
uniform, fully integrated management informatiosteyn serving each of our dealerships.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales philosophy focuses on selling the plessaf the boating lifestyle. We believe that th&éaal elements of our sales philosophy
include our appealing retail locations, no-hasalesapproach, highly trained sales representating!s level of customer service, emphasis or
educating the customer and the custom&amily on boating, and providing our customerthweipportunities for boating through our Getawi
We strive to provide superior customer service suqgport before, during, and after the sale. Ountaad customers are United by Water.

Each retail location offers the customer the opputy to evaluate a variety of new and used baatséomfortable and convenient
setting. Our full-service retail locations facititaa turn-key purchasing process that includeadite lender financing packages, extended
service agreements, and insurance. Many of oui letations are located on waterfronts and marimdsch attract boating enthusiasts and
enable customers to operate various boats prioralang a purchase decision.

The brands we offer are diverse in size and useddpacross our customer activities of leisurdjriig, watersports, luxury, and vacatic
too. We believe the transformative qualities of weger should be shared by everyone, so we createboat lineup accordingly. Our promise
gives them meaning and reason to exist next tcaonéher on our showroom floor.

We sell our boats at posted MarineMax “One” Priteg generally represent a discount from the marufar’s suggested retail price.
Our sales approach focuses on customer servicarbgnining customer anxiety associated with pricgatetion.

As a part of our sales and marketing efforts, auine marketing activity is important, with the rogty of leads coming through our
website, marinemax.com, and emails used as theaprimarketing tool for our stores to connect withit customers. Social media is a
growing venue for customer engagement with stanespaospecting of new leads.

We also participate in boat shows and in-the-wsdidgs events at area boating locations, typicalg m January and February and
toward the end of the boating season, in each ofnaukets and in certain locations in close progirte our markets. These shows and events
are normally held at convention centers or marinéty area dealers renting space. Boat shows dret offsite promotions are an important
venue for generating sales orders. The boat shiseganerate a significant amount of interest ingraducts resulting in boat sales after the
show.

We emphasize customer education through oner@neducation by our sales representatives asonat locations, our delivery captal
before and after a sale, and through in-house semfor the entire family on boating safety, the aad operation of boats, and product
demonstrations. Typically, one of our delivery @aps$ or the sales representative delivers the mete boat to an area boating location and
thoroughly instructs the customer about the opamatf the boat, including hanast instructions for docking and trailering the bdai enhanc
our customer relationships after the sale, we satisponsor MarineMax Getaways! group boating tapsarious destinations, rendezvous
gatherings, and on-the-water organized eventgtioaote the pleasures of the boating lifestyle hEmmpany-sponsored event, planned and
led by a company employee, also provides a favernat@dium for acclimating new customers to boatshgring exciting boating destinations,
creating friendships with other boaters, and enghlis to promote new product offerings to boatintpesiasts.

As a result of our relative size, we believe weéhawcompetitive advantage within the industry bipdp@ble to conduct an organized and
systematic advertising and marketing effort. Paduw marketing effort includes an integrated pextpnanagement system that tracks the
status of each sales representative’s contactsayptiospect, automatically generates follow-upaspondence, facilitates company-wide
availability of a particular boat or other marin@guct desired by a customer, and tracks the maanige and service needs for the customer’s
boat.
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Suppliers and Inventory Manageme!

We purchase substantially all of our new boat inegndirectly from manufacturers, which allocatewigoats to dealerships based on the
amount of boats sold by the dealership. We alsbaxge new boats with other dealers to accommodaterner demand and to balance
inventory.

We purchase new boats and other marine-relatedipt®ffom Brunswick, which is the world’s largesamufacturer of marine products,
including Sea Ray, Boston Whaler, Bayliner, HaRlisteBote, and Meridian. We also purchase new heradsother marine related products
from other manufacturers, including Azimut, Cabattdras, Grady White, Scout, Sailfish, Malibu, &taltique by Correct Craft. In fiscal
2013, sales of new Brunswick and Azimut boats awtmiifor approximately 38% and 13% of our revemespectively. No purchases of new
boats and other marine related products from angrahanufacturer accounted for more than 10% of@wenue in fiscal 2013. We believe
Sea Ray boat purchases represented approximat#ly#Sea Ray’s new boat sales and approximatelpf78 Brunswick marine product
sales during fiscal 2013.

We have entered into multi-year agreements witmBwick covering Sea Ray, Boston Whaler, Baylinad Bleridian products. We also
have a multi-year agreement with Azimut-Benetti @rdor its Azimut product line. We typically dealttveach of our manufacturers, other
than Brunswick and Azimut-Benetti Group, under anually renewable, non-exclusive dealer agreement.

The dealer agreements do not restrict our rigsetbany product lines or competing products. Térens of each dealer agreement
appoints a designated geographical territory ferdealer, which is exclusive to the dealer so lmsnthe dealer is not in breach of the material
obligations and performance standards under threeaggnt and then current material policies and progrfollowing notice and the expiration
of any applicable cure periods without cure.

Manufacturers generally establish prices on an anasis, but may change prices in their sole digam. Manufacturers typically
discount the cost of inventory and offer inventbinancing assistance during the manufacturers’ sleasons, generally October through
March. To obtain lower cost of inventory, we strieecapitalize on these manufacturer incentiveslte product delivery during the
manufacturers’ slow seasons. This permits us to gacing advantages and better product availghdlitring the selling season. Arrangements
with certain other manufacturers may restrict agintrto offer some product lines in certain markets

We transfer individual boats among our retail lama to fill customer orders that otherwise migike substantially longer to fill from t
manufacturer. This reduces delays in delivery, ©igfpmaximize inventory turnover, and assists immizing potential overstock or out-of-
stock situations. We actively monitor our inventteyels to maintain levels appropriate to meetenranticipated market demands. We are
bound by contractual agreements governing the atafunventory that we must purchase in any yeamfiany manufacturer, but the failure to
purchase at agreed upon levels may result in gsedbcertain manufacturer incentives. We partteiija numerous end-of-summer
manufacturer boat shows, which manufacturers spdossell off their remaining inventory at reducambts before the introduction of new
model year products, typically beginning in Septemb

Inventory Financing

Marine manufacturers customarily provide interssistance programs to retailers. The interesttassis varies by manufacturer and r
include periods of free financing or reduced inderate programs. The interest assistance mayibelpactly to the retailer or the financial
institution depending on the arrangements the naatuifer has established. We believe that our fimgrerrangements with manufacturers are
standard within the industry.

We account for consideration received from our wesdn accordance with FASB Accounting Standarddif@ation 605-50, “Revenue
Recognition—Customer Payments and Incentives” (“&A86-50"). ASC 605-50 requires us to classify iagtrassistance received from
manufacturers as a reduction of inventory costratated cost of sales as opposed to netting thstaisse against our interest expense incurre
with our lenders. Pursuant to ASC 605-50, amougttsived by us under our co-op assistance programsdur manufacturers are netted
against related advertising expenses.

We are party to an Inventory Financing Agreemere (Amended Credit Facility”) with GE Commercialdbibution Finance
Corporation. The Amended Credit Facility provideffoar plan financing commitment of up to $205 rnieill. The Amended Credit Facility
matures in June 2016 and is subject to extensiotwim one-year periods, subject to lender approval.
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The interest rate for amounts outstanding undeAthended Credit Facility is 355 basis points abtheone-month London Inter-Bank
Offering Rate. There is an unused line fee of @sidbpoints on the unused portion of the line.

The Amended Credit Facility has certain financ@alenants. The covenants include provisions thatew@rage ratio not exceed 2.75 to
1.0 and that our current ratio must be greater thario 1.0. At September 30, 2013, we were in diampe with all the covenants under the
Amended Credit Facility.

The initial advance under the Amended Credit Rgoilias used to pay off our prior credit facilityutsequent advances will be initiated
by the acquisition of eligible new and used inveyptar will be re-advances against eligible new asdd inventory that has been partially paid-
off. Advances on new inventory will generally maur,081 days from the original invoice date. Adwmneon used inventory will mature 361
days from the date we acquire the used inventaghERdvance is subject to a curtailment scheduiesharequires that we pay down the
balance of each advance on a periodic basis gafiar six months. The curtailment schedule vaveesed on the type of inventory and the
value of the inventory.

The collateral for the Amended Credit Facility isad our personal property with certain limitedoeptions. None of our real estate has
been pledged for collateral for the Amended CrEditility.

We were also a party to an Inventory Financing &grent (the “CGI Facility”) with CGI Finance, In¢QGI”). The CGI Facility
provided a floor plan financing commitment of $30lion and was designed to provide financing for ézimut Yacht inventory needs. The
CGil Facility was not renewed by the Company andregpn August 2013; however, existing advanceseuatide CGI Facility can remain
outstanding for up to 18 months. The interest f@t@mounts outstanding under the CGI Facility5® ®asis points above the one month
London Inter-Bank Offering Rate. Azimut Yacht intery is now financed under the Amended Credit Fscil

At September 30, 2013, we owed $101.4 million a2d.& million under the Amended Credit Facility ahd CGI Facility, respectively.
Outstanding short-term borrowings accrued intesestrate of 3.7% as of September 30, 2013, andntended Credit Facility and the CGI
Facility provided us with an additional net borrogiavailability of approximately $34.8 million, supon the outstanding borrowing base
availability. We have no indebtedness associatéil auir real estate holdings. On October 16, 218 CQompany paid off the entire CGI
Facility by refinancing such amounts owed underAheended Credit Facility.

Management Information Syster

We believe that our management information systennch is utilized by each of our dealerships and deaveloped over a number of
years through cooperative efforts with a commordeenenhances our ability to integrate successthiyoperations of our dealerships i
future acquisitions, facilitates the interchangénéérmation, and enhances cross-selling oppotiesithroughout our company. The system
integrates each level of operations on a compamlg-Wwasis, including purchasing, inventory, recdeskfinancial reporting, budgeting, and
sales management. The system enables us to meaitbrdealership’s operations in order to identifickly areas requiring additional focus
and to manage inventory. The system also providles sepresentatives with prospect and customemiation that aids them in tracking the
status of their contacts with prospects, automiigenerates follow-up correspondence to suchgeoss, facilitates the availability of a
particular boat company-wide, locates boats nesalsdtisfy a particular customer request, and mosithe maintenance and service needs of
customers’ boats. Company representatives aldpautiie system to assist in arranging financingiasdrance packages.

Brunswick Agreement Relating to Acquisitions

We and the Sea Ray Division of Brunswick are paitiiean agreement extending through December 2@i%ptovides a process for the
acquisition of additional Sea Ray boat dealerswaelect to acquire. Under the agreement, acopnsiof Sea Ray dealers will be mutually
agreed upon by us and Sea Ray with reasonabléseffobe made to include a balance of Sea Raymdahla have been successful and those
that have not been. The agreement provides thaR8gavill not unreasonably withhold its consenatty proposed acquisition of a Sea Ray
dealer by us, subject to the conditions set fartthe agreement. Among other things, the agreeprentides for us to provide Sea Ray with a
business plan for each proposed acquisition, imetutistorical financial and five-year projecteddncial information regarding the acquisition
candidate; marketing and advertising plans; semdgabilities and managerial and staff personn&rination regarding the ability of the
candidate to achieve performance standards withéigdated periods; and information regarding tleeess of our previous acquisitions of Se:
Ray dealers. The agreement also contemplates See&zhing a good faith determination whether tguésition would be in its best interest
based on our dedication and focus of resourceB®Béa Ray brand and Sea Ray’s consideration aiérerse effects that the approval woulc
have on the resulting territory configuration ofaamnt or other dealers and the absence of angtioaol of applicable laws or rights granted by
Sea Ray to others.
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Dealer Agreements with Brunswick

Brunswick, through its Sea Ray division, and weotigh our dealerships, are parties to Sales andc8ekgreements relating to Sea Ray
products extending through June 2015. Each of teaker agreements appoints one of our dealeraBipsdealer for the retail sale, display,
and servicing of designated Sea Ray products,,@artsaccessories currently or in the future sgl&ba Ray. Each dealer agreement desig
a designated geographical territory for the dealbich is exclusive to the dealer as long as thaedes not in breach of the material obligati
and performance standards under the agreementeanB&/’s then current material policies and progréstiowing notice and the expiration
of any applicable cure periods without cure. Eaghler agreement also specifies retail locations;lwthe dealer may not close, change, or
to without the prior written consent of Sea Rayvided that Sea Ray may not unreasonably withtislddnsent. Each dealer agreement also
restricts the dealer from selling, advertising éstthan in recognized and established marine patisics), soliciting for sale, or offering for
resale any Sea Ray products outside its territdttyourt the prior written consent of Sea Ray as lasgimilar restrictions also apply to all
domestic Sea Ray dealers selling comparable Seafdycts. In addition, each dealer agreement gesvior the lowest product prices
charged by Sea Ray from time to time to other déim&ea Ray dealers, subject to the dealer meatirige requirements and conditions of
Ray’s applicable programs and the right of SeaiR@pod faith to charge lesser prices to otherateab meet existing competitive
circumstances, for unusual and non-ordinary busin#sumstances, or for limited duration promotigmagrams.

Among other things, each dealer agreement reqthiezapplicable dealer to

. devote its best efforts to promote, displayeatise, and sell Sea Ray products at each oétigsl focations in accordance with the
agreement and applicable lav

. display and utilize at each of its retail laoas signs, graphics, and image elements with Sg&sRlentification that positively
reflect the Sea Ray image and promote the retieilcfeSea Ray product

. purchase and maintain at all times sufficieneintory of current Sea Ray products to meet thsaeable demand of customers at
each of its locations and to meet Sea’s applicable minimum inventory requiremer

. maintain at each retail location, or at anotiereptable location, a service department tharoigerly staffed and equipped to
service Sea Ray products promptly and professipaalll to maintain parts and supplies to serviceR&gaproducts properly on a
timely basis;

. perform all necessary product rigging, instadla, and inspection services prior to deliveryptochasers in accordance with Sea
Ray's standards and perform g-sale services of all Sea Ray products sold by ¢aded and brought to the dealer for serv

. provide or arrange for warranty and service workSea Ray products regardless of the selling dealeondition of sale

. exercise reasonable efforts to address ciramass in which another dealer has made a saleddginal retail purchaser who
permanently resides within the de!'s territory where such sale is contrary to thdarsgllieale’s Sales and Service Agreeme

. provide appropriate instructions to purchasersm to obtain warranty and service work from thelde:
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. furnish product purchasers with Sea Ray’s Bhitvarranty on new products and with informatiod &aining as to the safe and
proper operation and maintenance of the prod

. assist Sea Ray in performing any product defectracall campaigns

. achieve sales performance in accordance witlafal reasonable standards and sales levels iskdbby Sea Ray in consultation
with the dealer based on factors such as populatilas potential, market share percentage of Sggpfducts sold in the territory
compared with competitive products sold in theiteny, local economic conditions, competition, psates history, number of retail
locations, and other special circumstances thataifagt the sale of Sea Ray products or the deialeach case consistent with
standards established for all domestic Sea Ragideslling comparable produc

. provide designated financial information that aghful and accurate

. conduct its business in a manner that presemdsnhances the reputation and goodwill of beth Bay and the dealer for
providing quality products and servici

. maintain the financial ability to purchase and n&imon hand and display Sea I's current product model

. maintain customer service ratings in compliancé \8ita Ra’s criteria;

. comply with those deal's obligations that may be imposed or establishefdayRay applicable to all domestic Sea Ray de:
. maintain a financial condition that is adequatedtisfy and perform its obligations under the agrest;

. achieve within designated time periods or naimMaster dealer status (which is Sea Ray’s higiedormance status) or other
applicable certification requirements as estabtidhem time to time by Sea Ray applicable to alingstic Sea Ray deale

. notify Sea Ray of the addition or deletion of aatail locations

. sell Sea Ray products only on the basis offS®gas published applicable limited warranty and mak other warranty or
representations concerning the limited warrantpressed or implied, either verbally or in writir

. provide timely warranty service on all Sea Ragducts presented to the dealer by purchaserxordance with Sea Ray’s then
current warranty program applicable to all domeSta Ray dealers selling comparable Sea Ray psydura

. provide Sea Ray with access to the dealer'&®and records and such other information as SgarlRg reasonably request to
verify the accuracy of the warranty claims subniiti® Sea Ray by the dealer with regard to suchaméyrclaims

Sea Ray has agreed to indemnify each of our deadgigst any losses to third parties resulting f&ea Rays negligent acts or omissic
involving the design or manufacture of any of itequcts or any breach by it of the agreement. Ehchur dealers has agreed to indemnify Se:
Ray against any losses to third parties resultiagnfthe dealer’'s negligent acts or omissions inmglthe dealer’s application, use, or repair of
Sea Ray products, statements or representatiosprotfically authorized by Sea Ray, the installatié any after market components or any
other modification or alteration of Sea Ray produand any breach by the dealer of the agreement.

Each dealer agreement may be terminated:

. by Sea Ray, upon 60 days prior written noticte dealer fails or refuses to place a minimuaatking order of the next model
year's products in accordance with requirements apbleto all Sea Ray dealers generally or fails tenits financial obligations
as they become due to Sea Ray or to the ('s lenders

. by Sea Ray or the dealer, upon 60 days writtdite to the other, in the event of a breach daueby the other with any of the of
the material obligations, performance standardggicants, representations, warranties, or dutiessen by the agreement or the
Sea Ray manual that has not been cured within $6€ afathe notice of the claimed deficiency or witlai reasonable period when
the cure cannot be completed within a 60-day penodt the end of the 60-day period without thparpunity to cure when the
cause constitutes bad fai
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. by Sea Ray or the dealer if the other makes a filand misrepresentation that is material to theagrent or the other engages ir
incurable act of bad faitl
. by Sea Ray or the dealer in the event of the irgaly, bankruptcy, or receivership of the otl
. by Sea Ray in the event of the assignment of theeagent by the dealer without the prior writtensemt of Sea Ra

. by Sea Ray upon at least 15 days’ prior writtetice in the event of the failure to pay any sulns and owing to Sea Ray that are
not disputed in good faith; ar

. upon the mutual consent of Sea Ray and the dt

Dealer Agreements with Azimut

We are parties to Dealership Agreements with AziBrnetti S.P.a. for the retail sale, display, aedising of designated Azimut
products and parts sold by Azimut. The Dealerstgpe&ments extend through September 1, 2015, subjadditional one year periods added
each year provided that we are able to agree id faith on acceptable retail sales goals. The dgsije agreements grant us the exclusive righ
to sell the Azimut products and parts in designggahraphical areas. Among other things, each dddeagreement requires the applicable
dealer to:

. display the Azimut products in the most appropréaatd effective manne

. maintain an adequate inventory of Azimut producid meet mutually agreed upon minimum purchase reongnts
. use commercially reasonable best efforts to estalie best image for Azimut and to promote thessaf the product:
. operate through at least one permanent office sarenadequate promotion of the produ

. maintain adequate signage to show Azimut at its@dfor service yard

. promote the products at various events and mee!

. advertise and market the products in accordandeagteed upon marketing plans and budg

. attend boat shows and display a full range of by

. maintain appropriate and adequate ~sale service

. provide assistance under warranty for all boathéngeographical are

. comply with Azimu’s warranty procedures; a

. perform maintenance services for Azimut bo

Azimut has agreed to indemnify each of our deaggnst any losses resulting from an alleged brefwlarranty or injury or damage
caused by a defect in design, manufacture or adgerhh product. Each of our dealers has agreeddemnify Azimut against any losses
resulting from the dealer’s failure to comply withy material obligation with respect to a productustomer; any actual negligence, errors or
omissions in connection with the sale, preparatiepairs, or service of products; any modificatiéiproducts except as approved by Azimut; :
breach of any material agreement; or unauthorizadamties, misleading statements, misrepresengatiodeceptive or unfair practices.
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Each dealer agreement may be terminated upon 30ty written notice in event that the defaultjpayty has not remedied a default
during such period, in the event of any of thedaihg:

. by Azimut or dealer, for failure of the other toimain a necessary licens

. by Azimut or dealer, for the change, transterattempted transfer by the other party of theleloo any part of the agreement other
than to an affiliate as part of a corporate restmieg or any change in control without the prionsent of Azimut

. by Azimut or dealer, for the knowing submissairan intentional fraudulent statement, appligati@quest, refund, credit, or
warranty claim;

. by Azimut or dealer, for the knowing use of a ddisepor fraudulent practice in the sale of a prdd

. by Azimut or dealer, for the indictment for or caction of a crime or violation of law which will k& an adverse and material ef
on the othe’'s reputation or operation

. by Azimut or dealer, for the other entering intoagmeement or understanding to fix prices for tteglpcts;

. by dealer for Azimut’'s material and continudasure to supply product or appointing anotherldemn the territory or failure to
fulfill warranty obligations;

. by Azimut for deal€’s abandonment of operations or failure to mainbaisiness as a going conce

. by Azimut for dealer’s material and continuda#ure to represent, promote, sell, or serviceptalucts, achieve minimum yearly
sales or comply with purchase orders as agreeliépdrties considering various factors such astbaomy, the Euro, product
availability, and growth potentia

. by Azimut or dealer for the insolvency, bankiayy commencement of bankruptcy proceedings, appeaint of a receiver or other
officer with similar powers, levy under attachmegdarnishment or execution, or similar process, Wiscmot vacated or removed
within ten days; an

. by mutual agreement of the dealer and Azir

Upon termination of the dealer agreements by Aziwitliout cause, termination by dealer with caus# monrenewal and expiration,
Azimut is required to repurchase unsold inventoithin sixty days of termination.

Employees

As of September 30, 2013, we had 1,227 employe®63bf whom were in store-level operations an@®4hom were in corporate
administration and management. We are not a pawpy collective bargaining agreements. We considerelations with our employees to
excellent.

Trademarks and Service Marks

We have registered trade names and trademarkgheit.S. Patent and Trademark Office for variouses including “MarineMax,”
“MarineMax Getaways,” “MarineMax Care,” “Deliverinifpe Dream,” “MarineMax Delivering the Boating Dmed “Newcoast Financial
Services,” “MarineMax Boating Gear Center,” “MariMax Vacations,” and “Women on Water.” We have regisd the name “MarineMath
the European Community. We have trade names adervarks registered in Canada for various namelsidimg “MarineMax,” “Delivering
the Dream,” and “The Water Gene.” We have varioadd name and trademark applications including fiMaMax,” “United by Water,” and
“Maximizing Your Enjoyment on Water” pending in Awalia, Brazil, China, Cuba, European Union, andianThere can be no assurance tha
any of these applications will be granted.

Seasonality and Weather Conditions

Our business, as well as the entire recreatioratifgpindustry, is highly seasonal, with seasopalitrying in different geographic
markets. Over the threeear period ended September 30, 2013, the aveeagaue for the quarters ended December 31, Marchud® 30, ar
September 30 represented approximately 18%, 26%, 80d 26%, respectively, of our average annuamegs. With the exception of Flori
we generally realize significantly lower sales dngher levels of inventories and related short-teorrowings, in the quarterly periods ending
December 31 and March 31. The onset of the publit bnd recreation shows in January generally &it@s boat sales and typically allows us
to reduce our inventory levels and related shartieorrowings throughout the remainder of the figesr.
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Our business is also subject to weather patternghwmay adversely affect our results of operatiés example, prolonged winter
conditions, drought conditions (or merely reducaidfall levels) or excessive rain, may limit accasarea boating locations or render boating
dangerous or inconvenient, thereby curtailing augtodemand for our products. In addition, unsedsgreaool weather and prolonged winter
conditions may lead to a shorter selling seasaitain locations. Hurricanes and other stormsccoesult in disruptions of our operations or
damage to our boat inventories and facilities,astieen the case when Florida and other marketsaffeccted by hurricanes. Although our
geographic diversity is likely to reduce the ovkialpact to us of adverse weather conditions in @amg market area, these conditions will
continue to represent potential, material adveses to us and our future financial performance.

Environmental and Other Regulatory Issues

Our operations are subject to extensive regulasiopervision, and licensing under various fedetake, and local statutes, ordinances,
and regulations. While we believe that we maintdimequisite licenses and permits and are in c@npé with all applicable federal, state, anc
local regulations, there can be no assurance thatilvbe able to maintain all requisite licensesl @ermits. The failure to satisfy those and
other regulatory requirements could have a matadakrse effect on our business, financial conditamd results of operations. The adoption
of additional laws, rules, and regulations coukbdiave a material adverse effect on our busiMesus federal, state, and local regulatory
agencies, including the Occupational Safety andthldaministration, or OSHA, the United States Eovimental Protection Agency, or EPA,
and similar federal and local agencies, have jigtigoh over the operation of our dealerships, refagilities, and other operations with respect
to matters such as consumer protection, workefstyseand laws regarding protection of the envireminincluding air, water, and soil.

The EPA has various air emissions regulations itbb@ard marine engines that impose more strict®aris standards for two-cycle,
gasoline outboard marine engines. The majorithefdutboard marine engines we sell are manufachyrddercury Marine. Mercury Maring’
product line of low-emission engines, including @ptiMax, Verado, and other four-stroke outboahdsje achieved the EPé&\mandated 20C
emission levels. Any increased costs of producimgjrees resulting from EPA standards, or the ingbdf our manufacturers to comply with
EPA requirements, could have a material adverseedh our business.

Certain of our facilities own and operate undergibatorage tanks, or USTs, for the storage of varfmetroleum products. The USTs are
generally subject to federal, state, and local lamd regulations that require testing and upgradfigSTs and remediation of contaminated
soils and groundwater resulting from leaking USMsaddition, if leakage from compamwned or operated USTs migrates onto the propé
others, we may be subject to civil liability torhiparties for remediation costs or other damaased on historical experience, we believe
our liabilities associated with UST testing, upgradand remediation are unlikely to have a matadaérse effect on our financial condition or
operating results.

As with boat dealerships generally, and parts @mndce operations in particular, our business imeslthe use, handling, storage, and
contracting for recycling or disposal of hazardousoxic substances or wastes, including environtailgnsensitive materials, such as motor
waste motor oil and filters, transmission fluidtilleeze, freon, waste paint and lacquer thinnettebies, solvents, lubricants, degreasing
agents, gasoline, and diesel fuels.

Accordingly, we are subject to regulation by fedlestate, and local authorities establishing rezmients for the use, management,
handling, and disposal of these materials and heall environmental quality standards, and lighikiated thereto, and providing penalties
violations of those standards. We are also subjdetws, ordinances, and regulations governingstigation and remediation of contamination
at facilities we operate to which we send hazardwusxic substances or wastes for treatment, fegymr disposal.
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We do not believe we have any material environmdiatailities or that compliance with environmentals, ordinances, and regulations
will, individually or in the aggregate, have a miikadverse effect on our business, financial o or results of operations. However, soil
and groundwater contamination has been known &1 ekicertain properties owned or leased by ush&ve also been required and may in the
future be required to remove aboveground and undengl storage tanks containing hazardous substaneesstes. As to certain of our
properties, specific releases of petroleum have beare in the process of being remedied in acrarel with state and federal guidelines. We
are monitoring the soil and groundwater as requinedpplicable state and federal guidelines. Intadd the shareholders of the acquired
dealers have indemnified us for specific environtakissues identified on environmental site assesssrperformed by us as part of the
acquisitions. We maintain insurance for pollutdatioup and removal. The coverage pays for the egseio extract pollutants from land or
water at the insured property, if the dischargspelisal, seepage, migration, release, or escape pbllutants is caused by or results from a
covered cause of loss. We also have additionahgéotank liability insurance and “Superfund” coggravhere applicable. In addition, certain
of our retail locations are located on waterways Hre subject to federal or state laws regulaiaaggable waters (including oil pollution
prevention), fish and wildlife, and other matters.

Three of the properties we own were historicallgdias gasoline service stations. Remedial actitmn@spect to prior historical site
activities on these properties has been completaddordance with federal and state law. Also,ar@ur properties is within the boundaries
a “Superfund” site, although it has not been naxigected to be identified as a contributor toctvetamination in the area. We, however, do
not believe that these environmental issues wslliitein any material liabilities to us.

Additionally, certain states have required or amasidering requiring a license in order to opeeatecreational boat. While such licens
requirements are not expected to be unduly reisgiategulations may discourage potential firsteibuyers, thereby limiting future sales,
which could adversely affect our business, finarmmadition, and results of operations.

Product Liability

The products we sell or service may expose ustential liabilities for personal injury or propertlamage claims relating to the use of
those products. Historically, the resolution ofgurot liability claims has not materially affectedrdusiness. Our manufacturers generally
maintain product liability insurance, and we maimtdird-party product liability insurance, which we beligeebe adequate. However, we n
experience legal claims in excess of our insur@aoserage, and those claims may not be covereddayance. Furthermore, any significant
claims against us could adversely affect our bssinnancial condition, and results of operatiand result in negative publicity. Excessive
insurance claims also could result in increasedrarsce premiums.

Competition

We operate in a highly competitive environmentadidition to facing competition generally from reatien businesses seeking to attract
consumers’ leisure time and discretionary spendwoitars, the recreational boat industry itselfighty fragmented, resulting in intense
competition for customers, quality products, bdetve space, and suitable retail locations. We rely tertain extent on boat shows to generat
sales. Our inability to participate in boat showsur existing or targeted markets could have @&n@tadverse effect on our business, finar
condition, and results of operations.

We compete primarily with single-location boat dgaland, with respect to sales of marine equipnpants, and accessories, with
national specialty marine stores, catalog retailggerting goods stores, and mass merchants. Ciimpe@mong boat dealers is generally be
on the quality of available products, the price aallie of the products, and attention to custoraeerise. There is significant competition both
within markets we currently serve and in new magkkat we may enter. We compete in each of our etskith retailers of brands of boats
and engines we do not sell in that market. In &mfuitseveral of our competitors, especially thasdéngy boating accessories, are large national
or regional chains that have substantial finanamrketing, and other resources. However, we belilbat our integrated corporate
infrastructure and marketing and sales capabilibas cost structure, and our nationwide preseneble us to compete effectively against tt
companies. Private sales of used boats represemditional significant source of competition.
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Executive Officers

The following table sets forth information concemieach of our executive officers:

Name Age Position

William H. McGill Jr. 69 Chairman of the Board, President, Chief Executifféc€r, and
Director

Michael H. McLamb 48 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial OfficBecretary, and
Director

Charles A. Cashme 50 Vice President of East Operatic

William Brett McGill 45 Vice President of West Operatio

Kurt M. Frahn 45 Vice President of Finance, Chief Accounting Offiesd
Treasurel

Paulee C. Da 44  Vice President, General Counsel, and Assistantesay

William H. McGill Jr. has served as the Chief Executive Officer of Maviar since January 23, 1998 and as the Chairmamed8oard
and as a director of our company since March 68188. McGill served as the President of our compfiom January 23, 1988 until
September 8, 2000 and re-assumed the positionlpi JA002. Mr. McGill was the principal owner aptesident of Gulfwind USA, Inc., one
of our operating subsidiaries, from 1973 untilnterger with us.

Michael H. McLambhas served as Executive Vice President of our cagnpace October 2002, as Chief Financial Offidecs
January 23, 1998, as Secretary since April 5, 1808,as a director since November 1, 2003. Mr. Madbaerved as Vice President and
Treasurer of our company from January 23, 1998 Qutiober 22, 2002. Mr. McLamb, a certified puldiccountant, was employed by Arthur
Andersen LLP from December 1987 to December 199%jrgy most recently as a senior manager.

Charles A. Cashmalnas served as Vice President of East Operationaradompany since May 2012 and was appointed asecutive
officer by our Board of Directors in November 20M. Cashman served several positions of increagisgonsibility, including Sales
Consultant, Sales Manager, General Manager, Disfidamager, and Regional President since joiningcoanpany in 1992.

William Brett McGillhas served as Vice President of West Operationsrofompany since May 2012 and was appointed asecutive
officer by our Board of Directors in November 2002. McGill served as one of our Regional Presiddmam March 2006 to May 2012, as
Vice President of Information Technology, Servioel #arts of our company from October 2004 to M&@06, and as Director of Information
Services from March 1998. Mr. McGill began his gsgional career with a software development fintedrated Dealer Systems, prior to
joining our company in 1996. William Brett McGib the son of William H. McGill, Ji

Kurt M. Frahnhas served as Vice President of Finance and Treragliour company since October 22, 2002 and asf@lticounting
Officer since June 10, 2011. Mr. Frahn served asdbir of Taxes and Acquisitions of our companyrfrilay 15, 1998 until October 22, 20(
Mr. Frahn was employed by Arthur Andersen LLP fr8eptember 3, 1991 until May 15, 1998, serving mestntly as a tax consulting
manager.

Paulee C. Dayas served as Vice President of our company siebeugiry 2009 and as General Counsel and Assistanétary since
January 2003. Ms. Day, an active member of theidddBar, was employed by Maxxim Medical from May23o November 2002, serving as
Vice President, General Counsel, and Secretargr Rrithat time, Ms. Day was Corporate Attorne¥ekerd Corporation from June 1997
through May 1999 and a corporate attorney at thefitan Trenam, Kemker, Scharf, Barkin, Frye, O’'Neihd Mullis, P.A. from January 1995
through June 1997.

ltem 1A. Risk Factors

General economic conditions and consumer spendirdgt@ns can negatively impact our operating resuléd the severe recession that
began in late 2007 has adversely affected the b@pthdustry and our company.

General economic conditions and consumer spenditigrps can negatively impact our operating resultdavorable local, regional,
national, or global economic developments or uageties regarding future economic prospects coedidice consumer spending in the market
we serve and adversely affect our business. Ecanoomditions in areas in which we operate dealpsshparticularly Florida in which we
generated approximately 50%, 49%, and 51% of aremae during fiscal 2011, 2012, and 2013, respelgtican have a major impact on our
operations. Local influences, such as corporatend@ing, military base closings, and inclement Wweasuch as Hurricane Sandy, also could
adversely affect our operations in certain markets.
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In an economic downturn, consumer discretionarygijmg levels generally decline, at times resultmdisproportionately large
reductions in the sale of luxury goods. Consumendjmg on luxury goods also may decline as a redudtwer consumer confidence levels,
even if prevailing economic conditions are favoealfls a result, an economic downturn could impaahare than certain of our competitors
due to our strategic focus on a higher end of carket. Although we have expanded our operationsmguyeriods of stagnant or modestly
declining industry trends, the cyclical naturetod tecreational boating industry or the lack olistty growth could adversely affect our
business, financial condition, or results of operat in the future. Any period of adverse econoaainditions or low consumer confidence h
negative effect on our business.

Lower consumer spending resulting from a downtarthe housing market and other economic factorsrsaly affected our business in
fiscal 2007, and continued weakness in consumerdépg and depressed economic conditions had aasultadtnegative effect on our business
in each subsequent fiscal year, including 2013.r@uenue decreased from $1.2 billion in fiscal 2040%885.4 million in fiscal 2008, to
$588.6 million in fiscal 2009, to $450.3 million fiscal 2010, and increased to $480.9 million stél 2011, to $524.5 million in fiscal 2012,
and to $584.5 million in fiscal 2013. Our earningereased from a net income of $20.1 million indl2007 to a net loss of $134.3 million in
fiscal 2008 (including a $122.1 million goodwill jmirment charge), a net loss of $76.8 million gtdil 2009, net income of $2.5 million in
fiscal 2010 (including a $19.2 million tax refund)net loss of $11.5 million in fiscal 2011, a imetome of $1.1 million in fiscal 2012, and a
income of $15.0 million in fiscal 2013 (includingsd 1.8 million recovery from the Deepwater HoriZzdettlement Program). These
substantially deteriorating economic and financ@iditions have had a greater impact on many @#sicipants in the boating industry, with
certain manufacturers and dealers ceasing busipesations or filing for bankruptcy. While the retion in boating industry participants mi
have a long-term positive impact on our compangisgetitive position, on a market by market basisane facing and expect to continue to
face short-term competitive pressure resulting fdeareased selling prices as a result of forcezbshle to a competitor failing in the market
place.

These conditions have caused us to reduce suladhaotir acquisition program, delay new store opgsj reduce our inventory
purchases, engage in inventory reduction effoltseca number of our retail locations, reduce @adtount, and amend and replace our credi
facility. While we believe the steps we have tat®date will enable us to emerge from the currenhemic environment as a stronger and
more profitable company, we cannot predict the tleiog severity of these unfavorable economic, faialn or industry conditions or the extent
to which they will adversely affect our operatirggults nor can we predict the effectiveness ofrthasures we have taken to address this
environment or whether additional measures wilhbeessary. A continuation of depressed econorniidoistry factors could have additional
negative effects on our company, including inténigmwith our supply of certain brands by manufaetsy reduced marketing and other suppor
by manufacturers, decreased revenue, additionaspres on margins, and our failure to satisfy cam&swunder our credit agreement.

The availability and costs of borrowed funds canvadsely affect our ability to obtain adequate baaventory and the ability and willingnes
of our customers to finance boat purchases.

The availability and costs of borrowed funds caveasely affect our ability to obtain and maintadegquate boat inventory and the
holding costs of that inventory as well as theigbdnd willingness of our customers to financetiqmarchases. As of September 30, 2013, we
had no long-term debt. We rely on our credit féeii to purchase and maintain our inventory of ©§c@ur ability to borrow under our credit
facilities depends on our ability to continue ttisfg our covenants and other obligations underavedit facilities. The aging of our inventory
limits our borrowing capacity as defined provisian®ur credit facilities reduce the allowable ade@ rate as our inventory ages. Our access
funds under our credit facilities also depends upe@nability of our lenders, to meet their fundo@mmitments, particularly if they experience
shortages of capital or experience excessive vauwhborrowing requests from others during a spertod of time. A continuation of
depressed economic conditions, weak consumer spgrtdirmoil in the credit markets, and lender diffties, among other potential reasons,
could interfere with our ability to maintain comgalice with our debt covenants and to utilize ouditfecilities to fund our operations.
Accordingly, it may be necessary for us to closditamhal stores, further reduce our expense stractar modify the covenants with our
lenders. Any inability to utilize our credit fadiks or the acceleration of amounts owed, resuftioigy a covenant violation, insufficient
collateral, or lender difficulties, could require to seek other sources of funding to repay amawrittanding under our credit facilities or
replace or supplement our credit facilities, whichy not be possible at all or under commercialsomable terms.
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Our Amended Credit Facility with GE Commercial Diistition Finance Corporation provides a floor pferancing commitment of up to
$205 million, and the CGI Facility provides a remag floor plan financing commitment of $21 milliohhe collateral for our Amended Credit
Facility is all of our personal property with ceéntdimited exceptions, and our collateral for th&IGacility is our Azimut Yacht inventory
financed by the CGI Facility. None of our real éstaas been pledged as collateral under eithdityaéis of September 30, 2013, we were in
compliance with all of the credit facilities’ covamts and our additional available borrowings uralercredit facilities were approximately
$34.8 million based upon the outstanding borrovtiage availability. On October 16, 2013, the Compaaiy off the entire CGI Facility by
refinancing such amounts owed under the AmendediFacility.

Similarly, decreases in the availability of credlitd increases in the cost of credit adversely affecability of our customers to purchase
boats from us and thereby adversely affect ouitpld sell our products and impacts the profitipibf our finance and insurance activities.
Tight credit conditions during each fiscal yearibegng with fiscal 2008 and continuing through 2011 adversely affected the ability of
customers to finance boat purchases, which hagatine affect on our operating results.

Our strategies to enhance our performance may netsuccessful.

We are increasing our efforts to grow our financamgl insurance, parts and accessory, service, ghahter, and boat storage businesse:
to better serve our customers and thereby increassue and improve profitability as a result afsth higher margin businesses. In addition,
we have implemented programs to increase the saletioe Internet of used boats, parts, accessaesa wide range of boating supplies and
products. These efforts and programs are designieditease our revenue and reduce our dependertbe sale of new boats. These business
initiatives will require us to add personnel, inveapital, enter businesses in which we do not lextensive experience, and encounter
substantial competition. As a result, our strategfieenhance our performance may not be successiulve may increase our expenses or writ
off such investments if not successful.

Our success depends to a significant extent onwredl being, as well as the continued popularity arebutation for quality of the boating
products, of our manufacturers, particularly Brunsiek's Sea Ray, Boston Whaler, and Meridian boat linesd Azimut-Benetti Group’s
Azimut products

Approximately 38% of our revenue in fiscal 2013uléed from sales of new boats manufactured by Bmigls including approximately
25% from Brunswick’s Sea Ray division and approxehal3% from Brunswick’s other divisions. Additialty, approximately 13% of our
revenue in fiscal 2013 resulted from sales of neat® manufactured by Azimut-Benetti Group. The riecher of our fiscal 2013 revenue from
new boat sales resulted from sales of products &dimited number of other manufacturers, none loictv accounted for more than 10% of
revenue.

We depend on our manufacturers to provide us wibkycts that compare favorably with competing paislin terms of quality,
performance, safety, and advanced features, inutlie latest advances in propulsion and navigatystems. Any adverse change in the
production efficiency, product development effotég;hnological advancement, marketplace acceptamaeketing capabilities, and financial
condition of our manufacturers, particularly Brumgwand Azimut-Benetti Group given our reliance®ea Ray, Bayliner, Boston Whaler,
Meridian and Azimut, would have a substantial adeeémpact on our business. Any difficulties enceued by any of our manufacturers,
particularly Brunswick and Azimut-Benetti Groupsudting from economic, financial, or other factomuld adversely affect the quality and
amount of products that they are able to supplystand the services and support they provide to us.

The interruption or discontinuance of the operaiohBrunswick, Azimut-Benetti Group, or other méauiurers could cause us to
experience shortfalls, disruptions, or delays wétspect to needed inventory. Although we belieat #dlequate alternate sources would be
available that could replace any manufacturer atien Brunswick and Azimut-Benetti Group as a paidiwurce, those alternate sources may
not be available at the time of any interruptiamg alternative products may not be available atgamable quality and prices.
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We maintain dealer agreements with Brunswick coxpBea Ray products. Each dealer agreement haRigyear term and provides for
the lowest product prices charged by the Sea Ragiain of Brunswick from time to time to other dostie Sea Ray dealers. These terms are
subject to:

. the dealer meeting all the requirements and canditdof Sea R¢ s applicable programs; ai

. the right of Brunswick in good faith to charge kexsprices to other deale

. to meet existing competitive circumstanc
. for unusual and nc-ordinary business circumstances
. for limited duration promotional prograrr

Each dealer agreement designates a specific gdogahterritory for the dealer, which is exclusiwethe dealer so long as the dealer is
not in breach of the material obligations and penfance standards under the agreement and SeatRey’surrent material policies and
programs following notice and the expiration of @pplicable cure periods without cure.

In March 2006, we became the exclusive dealer fomAit-Benetti Group’s Azimut product line for theitheast United States. Our
geographic territory was expanded to include FoiidSeptember 2008 and to the entire countrylin20d 2. The Azimut dealer agreement
provides a geographic territory to promote the pobdine and to network with the appropriate cleeatthrough various independent locations
designated for Azimut retail sales. Our dealer egrent is multi-year term but requires us to beoimgliance with its terms and conditions.

As is typical in the industry, we generally deathwinanufacturers, other than the Sea Ray divisi@dranswick and Azimut, under
renewable annual dealer agreements. These agreedtenot contain any contractual provisions coriagrproduct pricing or required
purchasing levels. Pricing is generally establisber@ model year basis, but is subject to changfeeimanufacturer’s sole discretion. Any
change or termination of these arrangements foreason could adversely affect product availabditgl cost and our financial performance.

Boat manufacturers exercise substantial control owir business

We depend on our dealer agreements. Through deglleements, boat manufacturers, including Brunsasek Azimut, exercise
significant control over their dealers, restrictitinto specified locations, and retain approvaltagiver changes in management and ownershi
among other things. The continuation of our deatgeements with most manufacturers, including Baigisand Azimut, depends upon,
among other things, our achieving stated goalstdistomer satisfaction ratings and market sharetgaiuan in the market served by the
applicable dealership. Failure to meet the cust@atsfaction, market share goals, and other ciamgdiset forth in any dealer agreement coulc
have various consequences, including the following:

. the termination of the dealer agreem:

. the imposition of additional conditions in subsenfudealer agreement

. limitations on boat inventory allocatior

. reductions in reimbursement rates for warranty waaiormed by the deale
. loss of certain manufacturer to dealer incenti

. denial of approval of future acquisitions;

. the loss of exclusive rights to sell in the geogiaperritory.

These events could have a material adverse effiectipcompetitive position and financial performanc

27



Table of Contents

The failure to receive rebates and other dealeréntives on inventory purchases or retail sales abalbstantially reduce our margins.

We rely on manufacturers’ programs that provideimives for dealers to purchase and sell particadat makes and models or for
consumers to buy particular boat makes or modeig.eliminations, reductions, limitations, or otlanges relating to rebate or incentive
programs that have the effect of reducing the benek receive, whether relating to the abilitynednufacturers to pay or our ability to qualify
for such incentive programs, could increase thectiffe cost of our boat purchases, reduce our mauaid competitive position, and have a
material adverse effect on our financial perforneanc

Fuel prices and supply may affect our business.

All of the recreational boats we sell are powergdliesel or gasoline engines. Consequently, amrirgdon in the supply, or a significant
increase in the price or tax on the sale of fueh@agional or national basis could have a matadsakrse effect on our sales and operating
results. Increases in fuel prices (such as thageottturred during fiscal 2008) negatively impamatsales. At various times in the past, diesel
or gasoline fuel has been difficult to obtain. Hupply of fuels may be interrupted, rationing mayiltposed, or the price of or tax on fuels
may significantly increase in the future, adverseipacting our business.

The availability of boat insurance is critical tour success.

The ability of our customers to secure reasonatibydable boat insurance that is satisfactory mlérs that finance our customers’
purchases is critical to our success. Historicaffgrdable boat insurance has been available. Wéhurricanes that have impacted the sta
Florida and other markets over the past severaby@esurance rates have escalated and insuraneeage has become more difficult to obt:
In addition, as a severe storm approaches lanaranse providers cease underwriting until the stbas passed. This loss of insurance pre
lenders from lending. As a result, sales of boatslme temporarily halted making our revenue diffitmpredict and causing sales to be dele
or potentially cancelled. Any difficulty of customseto obtain affordable boat insurance could impeakg sales and adversely affect our
business.

Other recreational activities and poor industry gmption can adversely affect the levels of boatghases.

Other recreational activities and poor industrycpption can adversely affect the levels of boatipases. As a seller of high-end
consumer products, we must compete for discretyosiending with a wide variety of other recreatiaivities and consumer purchases. In
addition, perceived hassles of boat ownership atadively poor customer service and customer educ#iroughout the retail boat industry
represent impediments to boat purchases. Our cestoemtric strategy is intended to overcome thesegptions.

Adverse federal tax policies can have a negativfeafon us.

Changes in federal and state tax laws, such amaosition of luxury taxes on new boat purchasesgiases in prevailing tax rates, and
removal of certain interest deductions, also infeeeconsumersiecisions to purchase products we offer and coane la negative effect on «
sales. For example, during 1991 and 1992, the &dervernment imposed a luxury tax on new recreatiboats with sales prices in excess of
$100,000, which coincided with a sharp declinedating industry sales from a high of more than $Dillion in 1988 to a low of $10.3 billio
in 1992. Any increase in tax rates, including thosecapital gains and dividends, particularly thoséhigh-income taxpayers, could adversely
affect our boat sales.

The expansion and success of our on-line businesdegends on our ability to provide quality serviceour Internet customers, and our
future growth will be negatively impacted if we an®t able to provide such service

Our on-line businesses are subject to a numbesks and uncertainties that are beyond our coritroluding the following:
. changes in technolog

. changes in consumer willingness to purchaseumts via the Internet, including increases in comsr privacy concerns relating to
the Internet
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. increases in software filters that may inhibit ability to market our products and services overltiternet:

. changes in applicable federal and state reigulasuch as the Federal Trade Commission Act-gieCredit Reporting Act, and the
Gramn-Leact-Bliley Act and similar types of international lav

. failure of our Internet service providers to penfiatheir services properly and in a timely and éffit manner

. failures in our infrastructure or by third pag, such as telephone or electric power serviesilting in website downtime or other
problems;

. failure by us to process on-line customer aadacurately and timely, which may negatively intgaath future on-line and in-store
purchases by such custome

. inability of our suppliers to provide warehaugiand fulfillment services, which may negativatypiact future on-line purchases by
customers

. our failure to assess and evaluate our supplieeagare that we offer products that are desirelddaging enthusiast

. the potential exposure to liability with respethird-party information, including copyright trademark infringement or other
wrongful acts of third parties; false or erronemisrmation provided by third parties; or illegaltivities by third parties, such as
the sale of stolen boats or other goods;

. changing laws, rules, and regulations, sudh@smposition of taxes, that could affect the desf consumers to purchase goods
over the Interner

If we are not able to provide satisfactory senteur Internet customers, our future growth wélddversely affected. Further, we may
also be vulnerable to competitive pressures fraggttowing e-commerce activity in our market, bathteey may impact our own on-line
business, and as they may impact the operatindtsesd investment values of our existing physicahtions.

We recently implemented new business initiativeattimvolve expenses but have not produced meanihgéuenue.

We recently implemented programs to increase deraeer the Internet of used boats and a wide rafi@eating parts, accessories,
supplies, and products; the sale of boats, bogimts, and accessories, as well as the offer ahfia and insurance, or F&I, products at variou
offsite locations; and the charter of power antlrgayachts in the British Virgin Islands. Nonetbgse recently implemented programs have
produced any meaningful revenue to date. We caviggao assurance whether these programs will beessful or that we will recover the
costs we have incurred in their implementation.

Our recently launched yacht charter business exposs to certain risks.

Our recently launched yacht charter business erttel sale by us of specifically designed yachthitd parties for inclusion in our yacht
charter fleet; a yacht management agreement unlgiehwacht owners enable us to put their yachtaiinyacht charter program for a period of
four to five years for a fixed monthly fee payableus; our services in storing, insuring, and nemng their yachts; and the charter by us of
these yachts to vacation customers at agreed &@ble to us. Our failure to find purchasers fazhta intended for our charter fleet will
increase our boat inventory and related operatirsgsc lack of sales into our charter fleet may ltéauncreased losses due to market
adjustments of our yacht charter inventory; andfailure to generate a sufficient number of vaaatibarter customers will require us to ab:
all the costs of the monthly fees to the yacht aw@es well as other operating costs.

Customers consider safety and reliability a primaogcern in selecting a yacht charter provider. yJidzht charter business may present
number of safety risks, including catastrophic stieg adverse weather and marine conditions, méddailure and collision. If we are unat
to maintain acceptable records for safety andbigiliy, our ability to retain current customers aatfact new customers may be adversely
affected. Additionally, any safety issue encourdetaring a yacht charter may result in claims agjais as well as negative publicity. These
events could have a material adverse effect ordh®etitive position and financial performance oftbour yacht charter business and our
boat sales business.
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The yacht charter business is also highly fragnterdensisting primarily of local operators and frhisees. Competition among charter
operators is based on location, the type and digaahts offered, charter rates, destinations sedyjiand attention to customer service. Yacht
charters also face competition from other travel lisure options, including, but not limited touises, hotels, resorts, theme parks, organize
tours, land-based casino operators, and vacatioeship properties. We therefore risk losing bussneot only to other charter operators, but
also to vacation operators that provide such ateres.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to tiane to make successful acquisitions and to intetg the operations of acquired dealers
and each dealer we acquire in the future.

Since March 1, 1998, we have acquired 23 recredtlooat dealers, two boat brokerage operationspaadull-service yacht repair
facilities. Each acquired dealer operated indepethglerior to its acquisition by us. Our succespetals, in part, on our ability to continue to
make successful acquisitions and to integrate pleeations of acquired dealers, including centnadjziertain functions to achieve cost savings
and pursuing programs and processes that promoperation and the sharing of opportunities anduess among our dealerships. We may
not be able to oversee the combined entity effibyear to implement effectively our growth and ogting strategies. To the extent that we
successfully pursue our acquisition strategy, eauiting growth will place significant additionatmiands on our management and
infrastructure. Our failure to pursue successfally acquisition strategies or operate effectivhly ¢ombined entity could have a material
adverse effect on our rate of growth and operagigrormance.

Unforeseen expenses, difficulties, and delays freqtly encountered in connection with rapid expansithrough acquisitions could inhibit
our growth and negatively impact our profitability.

Our growth strategy of acquiring additional recieaal boat dealers involves significant risks. Té$tistegy entails reviewing and
potentially reorganizing acquired business openaticorporate infrastructure and systems, and diahoontrols. Unforeseen expenses,
difficulties, and delays frequently encountered¢amnection with rapid expansion through acquisgioauld inhibit our growth and negatively
impact our profitability. We may be unable to idgnsuitable acquisition candidates or to compté acquisitions of candidates that we
identify. Increased competition for acquisition datates or increased asking prices by acquisittondilates may increase purchase prices for
acquisitions to levels beyond our financial capgbdr to levels that would not result in the retsirequired by our acquisition criteria.
Acquisitions also may become more difficult or lesisactive in the future as we acquire more ofitiust attractive dealers. In addition, we
may encounter difficulties in integrating the opimas of acquired dealers with our own operationsanaging acquired dealers profitably
without substantial costs, delays, or other openati or financial problems.

We may issue common or preferred stock and indostantial indebtedness in making future acquisstidrhe size, timing, and
integration of any future acquisitions may caudestantial fluctuations in operating results fronadar to quarter. Consequently, operating
results for any quarter may not be indicative eftesults that may be achieved for any subsequemtey or for a full fiscal year. These
fluctuations could adversely affect the market@€ our common stock.

Our ability to continue to grow through the acqtiisi of additional dealers will depend upon varifastors, including the following:
. the availability of suitable acquisition candidatesttractive purchase price

. the ability to compete effectively for availablegacsition opportunities

. the availability of borrowed funds or common stedkh a sufficient market price to complete the dsijions;

. the ability to obtain any requisite manufacturegovernmental approval

. the ability to obtain approval of our lenders under current credit agreement; ¢

. the absence of one or more manufacturers atiegno impose unsatisfactory restrictions on usannection with their approval of
acquisitions
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As a part of our acquisition strategy, we frequeertigage in discussions with various recreationat bealers regarding their potential
acquisition by us. In connection with these disimrss we and each potential acquisition candidetd&nge confidential operational and
financial information, conduct due diligence indes; and consider the structure, terms, and camditdf the potential acquisition. In certain
cases, the prospective acquisition candidate agids discuss a potential acquisition with arfyeotparty for a specific period of time, grants
us an option to purchase the prospective dealex flmsignated price during a specific time peréod] agrees to take other actions designed tc
enhance the possibility of the acquisition, sucpraparing audited financial information and coivey its accounting system to the system
specified by us. Potential acquisition discussibeguently take place over a long period of timd avolve difficult business integration and
other issues, including in some cases, managemeo¢ssion and related matters. As a result of thedether factors, a number of potential
acquisitions that from time to time appear likedyoccur do not result in binding legal agreementsae not consummated.

We may be required to obtain the consent of Brunskwvand various other manufacturers prior to the agigition of other dealers.

In determining whether to approve acquisitions, ufacturers may consider many factors, includingfmancial condition and
ownership structure. Manufacturers also may imposelitions on granting their approvals for acqiosis, including a limitation on the
number of their dealers that we may acquire. Ouityabo meet manufacturersequirements for approving future acquisitions Wwilve a direc
bearing on our ability to complete acquisitions afféct our growth strategy. There can be no assearthat a manufacturer will not terminate
its dealer agreement, refuse to renew its dealeeatent, refuse to approve future acquisitionsake other action that could have a material
adverse effect on our acquisition program.

We and the Sea Ray Division of Brunswick have ae@gent extending through June 2015 that provigesa@ess for the acquisition of
additional Sea Ray boat dealers that desire teteired by us. Under the agreement, acquisitioreaf Ray dealers will be mutually agreed
upon by us and Sea Ray with reasonable efforte tmdde to include a balance of Sea Ray dealerbdlratbeen successful and those that
not been. The agreement provides that Sea Raya@tilinreasonably withhold its consent to any prefdascquisition of a Sea Ray dealer by
subject to the conditions set forth in the agreem®mong other things, the agreement requires gedoide Sea Ray with a business plan for
each proposed acquisition, including historicahfioial and five-year projected financial informati@garding the acquisition candidate;
marketing and advertising plans; service capabditind managerial and staff personnel; informatigarding the ability of the candidate to
achieve performance standards within designatddgserand information regarding the success ofppavious acquisitions of Sea Ray deal
The agreement also contemplates Sea Ray reaclgiogdsfaith determination whether the acquisitiorulddoe in its best interest based on our
dedication and focus of resources on the Sea Randtand Sea Ray’s consideration of any adverseteftfieat the approval would have on the
resulting territory configuration and adjacent they dealers sales and the absence of any violatiapplicable laws or rights granted by Sea
Ray to others.

Our growth strategy also entails expanding our pebtines and geographic scope by obtaining additidistribution rights from our
existing and new manufacturers. We may not be tabdecure additional distribution rights or obtatntable alternative sources of supply if we
are unable to obtain such distribution rights. irtability to expand our product lines and geogratiope by obtaining additional distribution
rights could have a material adverse effect orgthath and profitability of our business.

Our growth strategy may require us to secure sigeaht additional capital, the amount of which wilepend upon the size, timing, and
structure of future acquisitions and our working gatal and general corporate need

If we finance future acquisitions in whole or inrpéarough the issuance of common stock or seesritbnvertible into or exercisable for
common stock, existing stockholders will experiedistion in the voting power of their common staakd earnings per share could be
negatively impacted. The extent to which we willdide and willing to use our common stock for asijigins will depend on the market value
of our common stock and the willingness of potdrstidlers to accept our common stock as full otiglaconsideration. Our inability to use our
common stock as consideration, to generate cashdperations, or to obtain additional funding thgbwebt or equity financings in order to
pursue our acquisition program could materiallyiiour growth.
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Any borrowings made to finance future acquisitiongor operations could make us more vulnerablke downturn in our operating
results, a downturn in economic conditions, or@ases in interest rates on borrowings that areesutyj interest rate fluctuations. If our cash
flow from operations is insufficient to meet outbtlservice requirements, we could be required ltadditional equity securities, refinance our
obligations, or dispose of assets in order to roaetlebt service requirements. In addition, ouditr@rangements contain financial covenants
and other restrictions with which we must comphgliiding limitations on the incurrence of additibmalebtedness. Adequate financing may
not be available if and when we need it or mayhb®oavailable on terms acceptable to us. The faftugbtain sufficient financing on favorable
terms and conditions could have a material advefifeet on our growth prospects and our businesantial condition, and results of
operations.

Our internal growth and operating strategies of agiag new locations and offering new products invelvisk.

In addition to pursuing growth by acquiring boaalges, we intend to continue to pursue a stratégyawth through opening new retalil
locations and offering new products in our existamgl new territories. Accomplishing these goalssiqransion will depend upon a number of
factors, including the following:

. our ability to identify new markets in which we cabtain distribution rights to sell our existingadditional product lines

. our ability to lease or construct suitable faabtiat a reasonable cost in existing or new mar

. our ability to hire, train, and retain qualifiedrpennel;

. the timely and effective integration of new retadations into existing operatior

. our ability to achieve adequate market penetratdavorable operating margins without the acqgoisiof existing dealers; ar

. our financial resource

Our dealer agreements with Brunswick require Bruclk\w consent to open, close, or change retailtiona that sell Sea Ray products,
and other dealer agreements generally containaimibvisions. We may not be able to open and ¢@@ w retail locations or introduce new

product lines on a timely or profitable basis. Marer, the costs associated with opening new reéltions or introducing new product lines
may adversely affect our profitability.

As a result of these growth strategies, we exmecbhtinue to expend significant time and efforbpening and acquiring new retail
locations and introducing new products. Our systgcedures, controls, and financial resources meaye adequate to support expanding
operations. The inability to manage our growth @ffeely could have a material adverse effect onbginess, financial condition, and results
of operations.

Our planned growth also will impose significant addesponsibilities on members of senior manageamhtequire us to identify,
recruit, and integrate additional senior level nggra. We may not be able to identify, hire, omtrauitable additions to management.

Our business, as well as the entire recreationabbing industry, is highly seasonal, with seasonglitarying in different geographic market

During the three-year period ended September 3[B,28e average revenue for the quarterly periods@
December 31, March 31, June 30, and Septembep8&sented approximately 18%, 26%, 30%, and 26%e¢entiwvely, of our average annual
revenue. With the exception of Florida, we gengnadhlize significantly lower sales and higher leva inventories and related short-term
borrowings in the quarterly periods ending Decen3fieand March 31. The onset of the public boatraodeation shows in January stimulates
boat sales and allows us to reduce our inventmsideand related short-term borrowings throughbetremainder of the fiscal year. Our
business could become substantially more seasonealacquire dealers that operate in colder regidrise United States.
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Weather and environmental conditions may adversiefpact our business.

Weather and environmental conditions may adverisghact our operating results. For example, droeghtitions, reduced rainfall
levels, excessive rain and environmental conditisash as the BP oil spill in the Gulf of Mexicoaynforce boating areas to close or render
boating dangerous or inconvenient, thereby cungitiustomer demand for our products. While we tiauklly maintain a full range of
insurance coverage for any such events, there &€& lassurance that such insurance coverage isatdeq cover losses that we sustain as a
result of such disasters. In addition, unseasonaty weather and prolonged winter conditions neadlto shorter selling seasons in certain
locations. Many of our dealerships sell boats &tamers for use on reservoirs, thereby subjectimgoasiness to the continued viability of
these reservoirs for boating use. Although our geaigic diversity and any future geographic expamstwould reduce the overall impact on us
of adverse weather and environmental conditiorminone market area, weather and environmentalittmmgiwill continue to represent
potential material adverse risks to us and ourréutyperating performance.

In addition, hurricanes and other storms couldltésuhe disruption of our operations or damageuo boat inventories and facilities as
has been the case when Florida and other markegsbeen affected by hurricanes. While we traditigmaaintain property and casualty
insurance coverage for damage caused by hurricanesther storms, there can be no assurance tttatrsurance coverage is adequate to
cover losses that we may sustain as a result oichues and other storms such as damage from logi8andy. We maintain insurance for
property damage and business interruption, sutgedductibles.

We face intense competition.

We operate in a highly competitive environmentadidition to facing competition generally from nooalting recreation businesses
seeking to attract discretionary spending dolldws recreational boat industry itself is highlygnaented and involves intense competition for
customers, product distribution rights, and su#éabtail locations, particularly on or near wateysiaCompetition increases during periods of
stagnant industry growth. During the recent recessive have also faced competition from banks digting repossessed boats.

We compete primarily with single-location boat agaland, with respect to sales of marine part®sswries, and equipment, with
national specialty marine parts and accessoriessstoatalog retailers, sporting goods stores hagss merchants. Competition among boat
dealers is based on the quality of available prtjube price and value of the products, and atterid customer service. There is significant
competition both within markets we currently seavel in new markets that we may enter. We competach of our markets with retailers of
brands of boats and engines we do not sell innttaaket. In addition, several of our competitorpeesally those selling marine equipment and
accessories, are large national or regional chhatshave substantial financial, marketing, anéotksources. Private sales of used boats
represent an additional source of competition.

Due to various matters, including environmentalogns, permitting and zoning requirements, and &titign for waterfront real estate,
some markets in the United States have experiemténcreased waiting list for marina and storagalability. In general, the markets in
which we currently operate are not experiencingamysual difficulties. However, marine retail adghcould be adversely effected in markets
that do not have sufficient marine and storagelabidity to satisfy demand.

We depend on income from financing, insurance, aedtended service contracts.

A portion of our income results from referral fekgived from the placement or marketing of varifimance and insurance, or F&l,
products, consisting of customer financing, insaeaproducts, and extended service contracts, tis sigmificant component of which is the
participation and other fees resulting from ouegal customer financing contracts. During fiscal 20F&| products accounted for 2.8% of our
revenue.
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The availability of financing for our boat purchesand the level of participation and other feegeaive in connection with such
financing depend on the particular agreement betwseand the lender and the current rate envirohrhenders may impose terms in their
boat financing arrangements with us that may baworible to us or our customers, resulting in redutemand for our customer financing
programs and lower participation and other feesud_ar regulations may be enacted nationally orllpeghich could result in fees from
lenders being eliminated or reduced, materiallydotimg our operating results. Customer financingab®ee more difficult to secure during
fiscal 2008, which continued in each subsequenéafigear through fiscal 2011.

The reduction of profit margins on sales of F&I guots or the lack of demand for or the unavailgbdf these products could have a
material adverse effect on our operating margins.

The Dodd-Frank Act established a new consumer gii@hprotection agency with broad regulatory powéidghough boat dealers are
generally excluded, the Dodd-Frank Act could lemddditional, indirect regulation of boat dealdntigh its regulation of other financial
institutions which provide such financing to oustamers.

We depend on key personnel.

Our success depends, in large part, upon the eomgjrefforts and abilities of our executive offiseAlthough we have employment
agreements with certain of our executive officars,cannot assure that these or other executivempaeswill remain with us. Expanding our
operations may require us to add additional exeeygersonnel in the future. As a result of our déedized operating strategy, we also rely on
the management teams of our dealerships. In additie likely will depend on the senior managemédratny significant businesses we acquire
in the future. The loss of the services of one oreof these key employees before we are ablarecaand retain qualified replacement
personnel could adversely affect our business.

The products we sell or service may expose us terg@l liability for personal injury or property dmage claims relating to the use of those
products.

Manufacturers of the products we sell generallynt@n product liability insurance. We also mainttiird-party product liability
insurance that we believe to be adequate. We magriexce claims that are not covered by or thairaescess of our insurance coverage. The
institution of any significant claims against usiltbsubject us to damages, result in higher instg@osts, and harm our business reputation
with potential customers.

Environmental and other regulatory issues may impaar operations.

Our operations are subject to extensive regulasiopervision, and licensing under various fedetake, and local statutes, ordinances,
and regulations. The failure to satisfy those aheioregulatory requirements could have a matadakrse effect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

Various federal, state, and local regulatory agesydncluding the Occupational Safety and Healtmiistration, or OSHA, the United
States Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA, sindlar federal and local agencies, have jurisdicover the operation of our dealerships,
repair facilities, and other operations, with regpe matters such as consumer protection, worlsaf&ty, and laws regarding protection of the
environment, including air, water, and soil. TheAgRomulgated emissions regulations for outboardimesengines that impose stricter
emissions standards for two-cycle, gasoline outbo@arine engines. The majority of the outboard neaengines we sell are manufactured by
Mercury Marine. Mercury Marine’s product line ofdeemission engines, including the OptiMax, Veraalag other fousstroke outboards, ha
achieved the EPA’s mandated 2006 emission leveig.iAcreased costs of producing engines resultimg fEPA standards, which could be
passed on to us, or the inability of our manufaatsito comply with EPA requirements, could haveatemal adverse effect on our business.

Certain of our facilities own and operate undergibatorage tanks, or USTs, for the storage of varfmetroleum products. USTs are
generally subject to federal, state, and local lamd regulations that require testing and upgradfigSTs and remediation of contaminated
soils and groundwater resulting from leaking USMsaddition, we may be subject to civil liability third parties for remediation costs or othel
damages if leakage from our owned or operated USgrates onto the property of others.
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Our business involves the use, handling, storagcantracting for recycling or disposal of hazarsior toxic substances or wastes,
including environmentally sensitive materials, sastmotor oil, waste motor oil and filters, transsimon fluid, antifreeze, freon, waste paint
lacquer thinner, batteries, solvents, lubricanggrdasing agents, gasoline, and diesel fuels. Aougly, we are subject to regulation by federal
state, and local authorities establishing invesiigeand health and environmental quality standaadd liability related thereto, and providing
penalties for violations of those standards.

We also are subject to laws, ordinances, and régnfagoverning investigation and remediation aftemnination at facilities we operate
or to which we send hazardous or toxic substancesstes for treatment, recycling, or disposaparticular, the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Lial#ldty or CERCLA or “Superfund,” imposes joint, striand several liability on:

. owners or operators of facilities at, from, or tbigh a release of hazardous substances has occ

. parties that generated hazardous substances thateleased at such facilities; ¢

. parties that transported or arranged for the tramnafpon of hazardous substances to such facil

A majority of states have adopted Superfund statcdenparable to and, in some cases, more stritiggmtCERCLA. If we were to be
found to be a responsible party under CERCLA amlar state statute, we could be held liable fbirevestigative and remedial costs
associated with addressing such contaminationddiitian, claims alleging personal injury or progedamage may be brought against us as a
result of alleged exposure to hazardous substamsaking from our operations. In addition, certafrour retail locations are located on

waterways that are subject to federal or state tegslating navigable waters (including oil polartiprevention), fish and wildlife, and other
matters.

Soil and groundwater contamination has been knavexist at certain properties owned or leased byMeshave also been required and
may in the future be required to remove abovegramiunderground storage tanks containing hazarsldastances or wastes. As to certain ¢
our properties, specific releases of petroleum Hen or are in the process of being remediataddordance with state and federal guideli
We are monitoring the soil and groundwater as regiuby applicable state and federal guidelines al8e may have additional storage tank
liability insurance and Superfund coverage whemdiegble. Environmental laws and regulations an@glex and subject to frequent change.
Compliance with amended, new, or more stringenslanregulations, more strict interpretations astmng laws, or the future discovery of
environmental conditions may require additionalenglitures by us, and such expenditures may be ialater

Three of the properties we own were historicallgdias gasoline service stations. Remedial actitmnespect to prior historical site
activities on these properties has been completeddordance with federal and state law. Also,air@ur properties is within the boundaries
a Superfund site, although it has not been idewtiéis a contributor to the contamination in thaare

Additionally, certain states have required or aresidering requiring a license in order to opeeatecreational boat. These regulations
could discourage potential buyers, thereby limifiniyire sales and adversely affecting our busirfesacial condition, and results of
operations.

The market price of our common stock could be subj wide fluctuations as a result of many factors
Factors that could affect the trading price of common stock include the following:
. variations in our operating resul
. the thin trading volume and relatively small pulflaat of our common stocl
. our ability to continue to secure adequate levefinancing;
. variations in san-store sales

. general economic, political, and market conditic
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. changes in earnings estimates published by ana

. the level and success of our acquisition prograchreaw store opening
. the success of dealership integrati

. relationships with manufacturel

. seasonality and weather conditio

. governmental policies and regulatio

. the performance of the recreational boat industryeneral; an

. factors relating to suppliers and competiti

In addition, market demand for small-capitalizatstacks, and price and volume fluctuations in tieelsmarket unrelated to our
performance could result in significant fluctuagdn the market price of our common stock.

The performance of our common stock could adveract our ability to raise equity in the publi@arkets and adversely affect our
acquisition program.

The issuance of additional capital stock in the e, including shares that we may issue pursuanttock-based grants, including stock
option grants, and future acquisitions, may resitt dilution in the net tangible book value per shaof our common stock.

Our board of directors has the legal power andaitthto determine the terms of an offering of ssaof our capital stock, or securities
convertible into or exchangeable for these shaoethe extent of our shares of authorized and ueid€apital stock. The issuance of additiona
common stock in the future, including shares thatmay issue pursuant to stock-based grants, imgustock option grants, and future
acquisitions, may result in dilution in the netdée book value per share of our common stock.

A substantial number of shares are eligible for fue sale.

As of September 30, 2013, there were 23,545,59% st our common stock outstanding. Substantéllpf these shares are freely
tradable without restriction or further registrationder the securities laws, unless held by anli&#” of our company, as that term is defined
in Rule 144 under the securities laws. Shares Inekffiliates of our company, which generally indduour directors, officers, and certain
principal stockholders, are subject to the regalédtions of Rule 144 described below. Outstandihgres of common stock issued in
connection with the acquisition of any acquiredléesaare available for resale beginning six moatier the respective dates of the
acquisitions, subject to compliance with the primris of Rule 144 under the securities laws.

Through September 30, 2013, we have issued optiiopsrchase approximately 4,653,464 shares of camstozk and 558,999 restrict
stock awards under our incentive stock plans, amisaued 596,030 shares of common stock undemopliogee stock purchase plan. We hav
filed a registration statement under the securiies to register the common stock to be issuecutigese plans. As a result, shares issued
under these plans will be freely tradable with@striction unless acquired by affiliates of our gamy, who will be subject to the volume and
other limitations of Rule 144.

We may issue additional shares of common stockafeped stock under the securities laws as paahgfacquisition we may complete
in the future. If issued pursuant to an effectiegistration statement, these shares generallpwifteely tradable after their issuance by per
not affiliated with us or the acquired companies.

We do not pay cash dividends.

We have never paid cash dividends on our commaik stod we have no current intention to do so ferftreseeable future.
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Certain provisions of our restated certificate afdorporation and bylaws and Delaware law may maketange in the control of our
company more difficult to complete, even if a chanin control were in the stockholders’ interest oright result in a premium over the
market price for the shares held by the stockholsler

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws divioler board of directors into three classes of dinexcélected for staggered three-year
terms. The certificate of incorporation also pr@gdhat the board of directors may authorize theaisce of one or more series of preferred
stock from time to time and may determine the sghteferences, privileges, and restrictions axth& number of shares of any such series o
preferred stock, without any vote or action by stackholders. The board of directors may authdtieeéssuance of preferred stock with voting
or conversion rights that could adversely affeet\bting power or other rights of the holders ahooon stock. The certificate of incorporation
also allows our board of directors to fix the numbkdirectors and to fill vacancies on the boafdicectors.

We also are subject to the anti-takeover provisafrSection 203 of the Delaware General Corpordtiaw, which prohibits us from
engaging in a “business combination” with an “ieted stockholder” for a period of three yearsrdfte date of the transaction in which the
person became an “interested stockholder,” unfesstisiness combination is approved in a prescritther. Certain of our dealer
agreements could also make it difficult for a thpattty to attempt to acquire a significant owngrghosition in our company.

Our sales of yachts produced by the Azimut-Ben€ttoup in Italy and motor and sailing yachts produddy Sino Eagle in China expose us
to international political, economic, and other #s.

Our sales of yachts produced by the Azimut-Ber@&ttiup in Italy and yachts for our yacht charteeflproduced by Sino Eagle in China
expose us to international political, economic, atiter risks. Protectionist trade legislation ia thnited States, Italy, or China, such as a
change in current tariff structures, export or impompliance laws, or other trade policies coudearsely affect our ability to import yachts
from these foreign suppliers under economicallyfable terms and conditions. Our foreign purchds@ohts create a number of logistical
and communications challenges. The economic, paljtand other risks we face resulting from theseign purchases include the following:

. compliance with U.S. and local laws and regulatequirements as well as changes in those lawseapdrements
. transportation delays or interruptions and othérat$ of less developed infrastructur
. limitations on imports and export

. foreign exchange rate fluctuatior

. imposition of restrictions on currency conversiarte transfer of fund:s

. tariffs and duties and other trade barrier resnic;

. maintenance of quality standar

. unexpected changes in regulatory requireme

. differing labor regulations

. potentially adverse tax consequenc

. possible employee turnover or labor unr

. the burdens and costs of compliance with a vaoéfgreign laws; ant

. political or economic instability

ltem 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.
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Iltem 2.

Properties

We lease our corporate offices in Clearwater, BirWe also lease 30 of our retail locations utekeses, many of which contain multi-
year renewal options and some of which grant uiserfght of refusal to purchase the propertyadt ¥alue. In most cases, we pay a fixed
at negotiated rates. In substantially all of theskl locations, we are responsible for taxestiesijiinsurance, and routine repairs and
maintenance. We own the property associated witht2dr retail locations we operate and one joimtwe as noted below. Additionally, we
own six retail locations that are currently closednoted below.

The following table reflects the status, approxiesize, and facilities of the various retail looas we operate as of the date of this re

Location
Alabama
Gulf Shores
Arizona
Tempe
California
San Diegc
Connecticut
Norwalk
Westbrook
Florida
Cape Haze(4
Clearwater

Cocoa
Dania

Daytona Beacl
Fort Myers
Jacksonville
Key Largo
Miami

Miami
Naples

North Palm Beach(4
Orlando

Panama Cit
Pensacoli
Pompano Beach

Pompano Beach
Sarasota

St. Petersburg(:
Stuart

Operated
Square
Location Type Footage(1 Facilities at Property Since(2) Waterfront
Company owne: 4,00C Retail and servic 199¢ —
Company owne: 34,000 Retail and servic 199: —
Third-party least 70C Retail only 2011 San Diego Ba
Third-party least 7,00C  Retail and servic 199/ Norwalk Harbor
Third-party least 4,20C Retail and servic 199¢ Westbrook Harbo
Company owne! 18,00 Retail, 8 wet slip: — Intracoastal Waterw:
Company owned 42,000 Retail and service; 20 wet 197: Tampa Bay
slips
Company owne! 15,00C Retail and servic 196¢ —
Company owned 32,000  Repair and service; 16 wet 1991 Port Everglades
slips
Third-party least 16,00( Retail and servic 2007 —
Third-party least 5,00C Retail, service, and stora 198: —
Company owne! 15,00C Retail and servic 2004 —
Third-party least 8,90C  Retail and service; 6 wet sli| 200z Card Sounc
Company owned 7,20C  Retail and service; 15 wet 198( Little River
slips
Company owne: 5,00C  Service only; 11 wet slig 200t Little River
Company owned 19,60( Retail and service; 14 wet 1997 Naples Bay
slips
Company owne: 22,80( Retail and service; 8 wet sli| — Intracoastal Waterw:
Third-party least 18,38¢ Retail and servic 198/ —
Third-party least 10,50C  Retail only; 8 wet slip: 2011 Saint Andrews Ba
Third-party least 24,30(  Retail and servic 197¢ —
Company owned 23,000  Retail and service; 16 wet 199C Intracoastal Waterw:
slips
Company owned 5,40C Retail and service; 24 wet 200t Intracoastal Waterw:
slips
Third-party lease 26,50( Retail, service, and storage; 1972 Sarasota Bay
15 wet slips
Joint venture 15,00C  Yacht service, 20 wet slif 200¢ Boca Ciega Ba
Company owned 29,10(  Retail and service; 66 wet 200z Intracoastal Waterw:
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Location
Tampa(4)
Venice

Georgia
Buford (Atlanta)
Cumming (Atlanta)

Maryland
Baltimore

Joppa

White Marsh(4,
Minnesota
Bayport
Excelsior
Rogers

Walker

Walker

Missouri
Branson
Lake Ozark

Laurie(4)
Osage Beac
Springfield(4)
New Jersey
Brant Beach

Brick
Lake Hopatcong

Ship Bottom
Somers Point

New York
Copiague
Huntington

Lindenhurst (Marina)

Manhattar

North Carolina
Southport
Wrightsville Beact

Operated
Square
Location Type Footage(1 Facilities at Property Since(2) Waterfront
Company ownei! 13,10C Retail and servic — —
Company owned 62,000 Retail, service, and storage; 1972 Intracoastal Waterwe
90 wet slips
Company owne! 13,50C Retail and servic 2001 —
Third-party lease 13,00( Retail and service; 50 wet 1981 Lake Lanier
slips
Third-party lease 7,60C Retail and service; 17 wet 200t  Baltimore Inner Harb¢
slips
Company owned 28,40(  Retail, service, and storage; 196¢ Gunpowder River
294 wet slips
Company ownei! 19,80( Retail and servic — —
Third-party least 45C  Retail only; 10 wet slip 199¢ St Croix River
Third-party least 2,500 Retail only; 14 wet slip 201z Lake Minnetonke
Company ownei! 70,00( Retail, service, and stora 1991 —
Company ownei! 76,40(  Retail, service, and stora 198¢ —
Company owned 6,80C Retail and service; 93 wet 1971 Leech Lake
slips
Third-party least 1,50C Retail only; 6 wet slip: 200( Table Rock Lake
Company owned 60,30(  Retail, service, and storage; 1987 Lake of the Ozarks
300 wet slips
Company ownei! 70C Retail and servic — —
Company ownei! 2,00C  Retail and servic — —
Company owne! 12,20(  Retail and servic — —
Third-party lease 3,80C Retall, service, and storage; 196~ Barnegat Bay
36 wet slips
Company owned 20,00 Retalil, service, and storage; 1977 Manasquan River
225 wet slips
Third-party lease 4,60 Retail and service; 80 wet 199¢ Lake Hopatcong
slips
Third-party least 19,30(  Retail and servic 1972 —
Third-party lease 31,000 Retail, service, and storage; 1987 Little Egg Harbor Bay
33 wet slips
Third-party least 15,00C Retail only 199: —
Third-party lease 1,20C  Retail and service 199t Huntington Harbor ar
Long Island Soun
Third-party lease 14,60( Retail, marina, service, and 196¢  Neguntatogue Creek
storage; 370 wet slips
Great South Ba
Third-party least 1,20C  Retail only; 75 wet slip 199¢ Hudson Rivel
Third-party least 1,60C Retail only 200¢ Cape Fear Rive
Third-party least 34,50( Retail, service, and stora 199¢ Masonboro Inle
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Operated
Square
Location Location Type Footage(1 Facilities at Property Since(2) Waterfront
Ohio
Port Clinton Company owned 80,00( Retail, service and storage; 8 1997 Lake Erie
wet slips
Oklahoma
Afton Third-party least 3,500 Retail and service; 23 wet sli 200z Grand Lake
Rhode Island
Newport Third-party least 70C Retail only 2011 Newport Harba
Warwick Third-party least 4,40C Retail and servic 199¢  Greenwich Ba
Tennesse
Chattanoogi Third-party least 3,000 Retail only; 12 wet slip 200t Tennessee Riv
Texas
Lewisville (Dallas) Company owneil 22,000 Retail and servic 2002 —
Seabrool Company ownei! 32,000 Retail and service; 30 wet sli 200z Clear Lake
British Virgin Islands
Tortola Third-party least 1,05C Vacation Charters; 12 wet sli 2011 Maya Cove

(1) Square footage is approximate and does not incutkde sales space or dock or marina facili
(2) Operated since date is the date the facility wameg by us or opened prior to its acquisition hy
(3) Joint venture entered into with Brunswick to acquirarina and service facilit

(4) Owned location that is currently clost

Item 3. Legal Proceeding:

We are party to various legal actions arising mahdinary course of business. While it is not ifgdaso determine the actual outcome of
these actions as of September 30, 2013, we doetiet/b that these matters will have a material extveffect on our consolidated financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

On January 26, 2012, certain former shareholdegudside -3 Marina, Inc., a company we acquired in March 20i&d a lawsuit in th
United States District Court for the Eastern Dedtaf New York, naming the Company and certainwf directors and officers as defendants.
The lawsuit alleged, in twelve counts, a failureiteely lift stock transfer restrictions on stoakgaired by the plaintiffs in the acquisition,
which allegedly delayed the plaintiffs from sellitige shares while the defendants sold shares iménketplace. The lawsuit claimed damages
in excess of $7 million. On December 3, 2012, theridt Court issued an order dismissing all of directors and officers from the action and
dismissing eleven of the twelve counts, leaving/ahe breach of contract claim against the Compgamproceed and allowing the plaintiff to
replead their alleged common law fraud claim witBthdays. On January 3, 2013, the plaintiffs féeBecond Amended Complaint, re-alleging
their breach of contract claim, as well as threedrclaims against the Company and certain direetod officers. The Second Amended
Complaint alleges damages in excess of $10 mill@mMarch 7, 2013, the District Court issued areodismissing the three fraud claims
against the Company and our directors and offie@nsMarch 21, 2013, we filed an Answer to the SedcAmended Complaint, denying any
liability to the plaintiffs. On July 15, 2013, witefd a Motion for Summary Judgment dismissing tteémpiffs’ remaining breach of contract
claim against the Company. On August 22, 2013DPiils&rict Court granted our Motion for Summary Judgrnand entered judgment for the
Company. On September 20, 2013, the plaintiffsifiteeir Notice of Appeal. We continue to believattthe case is without merit and, as a
result, should not have a material adverse effeaw consolidated financial condition, result©pérations, or cash flows.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure

Not applicable.

PART Il

Item 5. Market for the Registrar’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters andusr Purchases of Equity Securiti¢

Market Information, Holders

Our common stock has been traded on the New YargkIExchange under the symbol HZO since our intidilic offering on June 3,
1998 at $12.50 per share. The following table feth high and low sale prices of the common stiocleach calendar quarter indicated as
reported on the New York Stock Exchange.

High Low

2011

First quartel $ 9.9¢ $ 7.92
Second quarte $10.6: $ 7.51
Third quartel $ 9.67 $ 5.5C
Fourth quarte $ 8.4¢ $ 5.51
2012

First quartel $ 9.2¢ $ 6.34
Second quarte $11.2¢ $ 7.84
Third quartel $10.0: $ 6.82
Fourth quarte $ 9.0t $ 7.17
2013

First quartel $14.1¢ $ 8.6(
Second quarte $13.72 $10.8¢
Third quartel $13.0¢ $10.17
Fourth quarter (through December 3, 20 $16.9¢ $12.01

On December 3, 2013, the closing sale price ocourmon stock was $15.50 per share. On Decemb&13, Zhere were approximately
100 record holders and approximately 3,400 berafmivners of our common stock.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends oonaumon stock. We currently plan to retain anynegeys to finance the growth of ¢
business rather than to pay cash dividends. Pagnoéiainy cash dividends in the future will dependbar financial condition, results of
operations, and capital requirements as well asrdéittors deemed relevant by our board of director
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Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer

The following table presents information with resipi® our repurchases of our common stock durieghiree months ended September 30,
2013.

Total Number

of Shares Maximum Value of
Total Purchased as
Number Part of Publicly Shares that may b
of Shares Average
Purchasec Price Paic Announced Purchased Under
Plans or the Plans or
Period 1) per Share Programs Programs
July 1, 2013 to July 31, 2013 — $ — — —
August 1, 2013 to August 31, 20 — — — —
September 1, 2013 to September 30, 2 12,88: 12.2( — —
Total 12,88: —

(1) All of the shares reported above as purchasedtiributable to shared tendered by employeethéopayment of applicable withholding
taxes.

42



Table of Contents

Performance Graph

The following line graph compares cumulative tetaickholder returns for the five years ended SelpgzrB0, 2013 for (i) our common
stock, (ii) the Russell 2000 Index, and (iii) thaddaq Retail Trade Index. The graph assumes astingat of $100 on September 30, 2008.
The calculations of cumulative stockholder retunrtiee Russell 2000 Index and the Nasdaq RetaileThadiex include reinvestment of
dividends. The calculation of cumulative stockholdgurn on our common stock does not include estwment of dividends because we did
not pay any dividends during the measurement pefibd historical performance shown is not necelgsadicative of future performance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among MarineMax, Inc., the Russell 2000 Index, and the NASDAQ Retail Trade Index

$350

$250 o

....
s

908 9/09 ano am anz2 a3

—&— MarineMax, Inc. — # — Russell 2000 ---2--- NASDAQ Retail Trade

*$100 invested on 9/30/08 in slock or indey, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending September 30,

Copyright® 2013 Russell Invesiment Group. All rights reserved.
The performance graph above shall not be deemiedifior purposes of Section 18 of the Securitizstange Act of 1934, as amended,

or Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the ligbidf that section. The performance graph abovenet be deemed incorporated by refere
into any filing of our company under the Exchang# ér the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Dat:

The following table contains certain financial asgkrating data and is qualified by the more dedaitensolidated financial statements
and notes thereto included elsewhere in this repbg balance sheet and statement of operatioasadat derived from the consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto that hage hedited by Ernst & Young LLP and KPMG LLP, indadent registered certified public
accounting firms. The financial data shown belowwstl be read in conjunction with the consolidatedricial statements and the related note:
thereto and “Management’s Discussion and Analykisrancial Condition and Results of Operation<lined elsewhere in this report.

Fiscal Year Ended September 3(

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
(Amounts in thousands except share, per share, amdtail location data)
Statement of Operations Data
Revenue $ 588,58 $ 450,34 $ 480,89: $ 524,45 584,49°
Cost of sale: 499,92! 339,53: 361,40( 391,17: 433,64
Gross profit 88,66( 110,80° 119,49: 133,28 150,85!
Selling, general, and administrative exper 159,99¢ 123,97. 127,89¢ 127,91 132,50!
(Loss) income from operatiol (71,339 (13,165 (8,402 5,37( 18,34¢
Interest expense, n 14,06¢ 3,92¢ 3,48¢ 4,441 4,21¢
(Loss) income before income tax (benefit)
provision (85,409 (17,09) (11,890 92z 14,13(

Income tax (benefit) provisic (8,630 (19,589 (367) (17¢€) (899)
Net (loss) incom $ (76,779 $ 2,491 $ (11,529 $ 1,09¢ 15,02«
Net (loss) income per shal

Diluted $ (4.1)) $ 0.11 $ (0.52) $ 0.0t 0.6:
Weighted average number of shal

Diluted 18,685,42 22,597,95 22,375,27 22,335,91 24,003,722
Other Data (as of yea-end):
Number of retail locations (- 55 56 54 53 54
Sales per store (2) (: $ 11,28t $ 8,77¢ $ 9,91: $  10,64¢ 12,757
Same-store sales growth (3) (: (29)% A7% 8% 11% 11%

September 30
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Balance Sheet Data
Working capital $ 95,91« $102,95. $ 9553¢ $101,74! $116,43¢
Total asset 393,64« 336, 76( 363,12 365,12: 381,90:
Goodwill — — — 452 80z
Long-term debt (including current portion) ( — — — — —
Total stockholder equity 197,75t 202,03( 195,00( 200,94« 221,81:

(1) Includes only those retail locations open at peend.

(2) Includes only those stores open for the entirequliig 1:-month period

(3) New and acquired stores are included in the comyatmmse at the end of the s’s thirteenth month of operatior

(4) A store is one or more retail locations that adjacent or operate as one entity. Sales pear atar same-store sales growth is intended
only as supplemental information and is not a stitietfor revenue or net income presented in acwd with generally accepted

accounting principles

(5) Amount excludes our shterm borrowings for working capital and inventoiyahcing.
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Item 7. Managemen's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition drResults of Operation

The following should be read in conjunction withrfHaincluding the matters set forth in the “Ris&ctors” section of this report, and our
Consolidated Financial Statements and notes therelieded elsewhere in this report.

Overview

We are the largest recreational boat retailer énldhited States with fiscal 2013 revenue in exoé$580 million. Through our current !
retail locations in 18 states, we sell new and ueetkational boats and related marine produatfyding engines, trailers, parts, and
accessories. We also arrange related boat finanicisgrance, and extended service contracts; pedséat repair and maintenance services;
offer yacht and boat brokerage services; and, wéreadable, offer slip and storage accommodatigvs.recently implemented programs to
increase our sale over the Internet of used bomtsiavide range of boating parts, accessories lissppnd products; the sale of boats, boating
parts, and accessories, as well as the offer ahfia and insurance, or F&I, products at variousiteffocations; and the charter of power and
sailing yachts in the British Virgin Islands. Nookthese recently implemented programs have hadtarial effect on our consolidated
financial statements.

MarineMax was incorporated in January 1998. We cengad operations with the acquisition of five ineleglent recreational boat
dealers on March 1, 1998. Since the initial actjoiss in March 1998, we have acquired 23 recreatibnat dealers, two boat brokerage
operations, and two full-service yacht repair fitie. As a part of our acquisition strategy, wexjnently engage in discussions with various
recreational boat dealers regarding their poteatiguisition by us. Potential acquisition discussifrequently take place over a long period of
time and involve difficult business integration asttier issues, including, in some cases, managesuenéssion and related matters. As a r
of these and other factors, a number of potentiglisitions that from time to time appear likelyowcur do not result in binding legal
agreements and are not consummated. We completdatiaely small acquisition in each of the fisgakrs ended September 30, 2011, 2012,
and 2013.

General economic conditions and consumer spenditigrps can negatively impact our operating resultdavorable local, regional,
national, or global economic developments or uageties regarding future economic prospects coedidice consumer spending in the market
we serve and adversely affect our business. Ecanoomditions in areas in which we operate dealpsshparticularly Florida in which we
generated approximately 50%, 49%, and 51% of oremae during fiscal 2011, 2012, and 2013, respelgtican have a major impact on our
operations. Local influences, such as corporatend@ing, military base closings, and inclement Wweasuch as Hurricane Sandy,
environmental conditions, and specific events, sagcthe BP oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico, alsoutd adversely affect our operations in cer
markets.

In an economic downturn, consumer discretionarygjpg levels generally decline, at times resultimgisproportionately large
reductions in the sale of luxury goods. Consumendjng on luxury goods also may decline as a reslttwer consumer confidence levels,
even if prevailing economic conditions are favoealfis a result, an economic downturn could impaanhoare than certain of our competitors
due to our strategic focus on a higher end of carket. Although we have expanded our operationsmguyeriods of stagnant or modestly
declining industry trends, the cyclical naturelod tecreational boating industry or the lack olistdy growth may adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of ofi@na. Any period of adverse economic condition¥owar consumer confidence has a negative
effect on our business.

Lower consumer spending resulting from a downtarthe housing market and other economic factorsrsaly affected our business in
fiscal 2007, and continued weakness in consumerdspg and depressed economic conditions had aasltatnegative effect on our business
in each subsequent fiscal year, including to a riorged extent in fiscal 2012 and 2013. These dmks have caused us to substantially
reduce our acquisition program, delay new storaimyggs, reduce our inventory purchases, engageventory reduction efforts, close a num
of our retail locations, reduce our headcount, @ménd and replace our credit facility. Acquisiti@msl new store openings remain important
strategies to our company, and we plan to accelemat growth through these strategies when momaaloeconomic conditions return.
However, we cannot predict the length or severitthese unfavorable economic or financial condgion the extent to which they will
continue to adversely affect our operating resubtscan we predict the effectiveness of the measueshave taken to address this environmel
or whether additional measures will be necessary.
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Although economic conditions have adversely afi@cter operating results, we have capitalized oncove strengths to substantially
outperform the industry, resulting in market shgaes. Our ability to capture such market shargstip the alignment of our retailing
strategies with the desires of consumers. We lelies steps we have taken to address weak mankéitions will yield an increase in future
revenue. As general economic trends improve, weaxqur core strengths and retailing strategielspogition us to capitalize on growth
opportunities as they occur and will allow us toeege from this challenging economic environmenhwiteater earnings potential.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

We have identified the policies below as critiegabur business operations and the understandingratesults of operations. The impact
and risks related to these policies on our businpssgations is discussed throughout Managemensesussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations when such jgdliaffect our reported and expected financialltesu

In the ordinary course of business, we make a nuwifoestimates and assumptions relating to thertiegpof results of operations and
financial condition in the preparation of our fircgal statements in conformity with accounting pijshes generally accepted in the United
States. We base our estimates on historical expsrseand on various other assumptions that wevieediee reasonable under the circumsta
The results form the basis for making judgmentauabite carrying values of assets and liabilitied tire not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results could differ significarflgm those estimates under different assumptiodscanditions. We believe that the following
discussion addresses our most critical accountitigies, which are those that are most importanhé&portrayal of our financial condition and
results of operations and require our most difficslibjective, and complex judgments, often asalref the need to make estimates about the
effect of matters that are inherently uncertain.

Revenue Recognitio

We recognize revenue from boat, motor, and traéées and parts and service operations at thettienkeoat, motor, trailer, or part is
delivered to or accepted by the customer or thaeeis completed. We recognize deferred revenum Bervice operations and slip and sto
services on a straight-line basis over the terth@fcontract or when service is completed. We neizegcommissions earned from a brokerage
sale at the time the related brokerage transactases. We recognize commissions earned by uddoing notes with financial institutions in
connection with customer boat financing when wegeize the related boat sales. We recognize matkéties earned on credit life, accident,
disability, gap, and hull insurance products soldhird-party insurance companies at the laterust@mer acceptance of the insurance produc
as evidenced by contract execution or when theeklaoat sale is recognized. We also recognize dssions earned on extended warranty
service contracts sold on behalf of third-partyuiasice companies at the later of customer acceptaitbe service contract terms as evidence
by contract execution or recognition of the reldtedt sale.

Certain finance and extended warranty commissiadsw@arketing fees on insurance products may begeladrack if a customer
terminates or defaults on the underlying contrathiw a specified period of time. Based upon oyvagience of terminations and defaults, we
maintain a chargeback allowance that was not nateriour financial statements taken as a wholaf & ptember 30, 2012 or 2013. Should
results differ materially from our historical expmrces, we would need to modify our estimate afreichargebacks, which could have a
material adverse effect on our operating margins.

Vendor Consideration Received

We account for consideration received from our wesdn accordance with FASB Accounting Standarddif@ation 605-50, “Revenue
Recognition - Customer Payments and Incentives'SCA605-50"). ASC 605-50 requires us to classifgriest assistance received from
manufacturers as a reduction of inventory costratated cost of sales as opposed to netting thstaisse against our interest expense incurre
with our lenders. Pursuant to ASC 605-50, amougttsived by us under our co-op assistance prognamsdur manufacturers are netted
against related advertising expenses.
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Inventories

Inventory costs consist of the amount paid to aegmventory, net of vendor consideration and pasehdiscounts, the cost of equipment
added, reconditioning costs, and transportatiotsaa$ating to acquiring inventory for sale. Wetstaew and used boat, motor, and trailer
inventories at the lower of cost, determined opec#ic-identification basis, or market. We stasgtp and accessories at the lower of cost,
determined on an average cost basis, or marketitWliz® our historical experience, the aging of timeentories, and our consideration of
current market trends as the basis for determiailogver of cost or market valuation allowance. ASeptember 30, 2012 and 2013, our lowel
of cost or market valuation allowance was $2.8ioriland $1.8 million, respectively. If events ocamd market conditions change, causing th
fair value to fall below carrying value, the lowgrcost or market valuation allowance could incesas

Goodwill

We account for goodwill in accordance with FASB Auanting Standards Codification 350, “IntangibléScodwill and Other” (“ASC
3507), which provides that the excess of cost aatrassets of businesses acquired is recordecbdsvilo The acquisitions of Bassett Marine,
LLC and Parker Boat Company resulted in goodwi$802,000. In accordance with ASC 350, we revieadydll for impairment at least
annually and whenever events or changes in ciramss indicate that the carrying value may noebeverable. Our annual impairment test
is performed during the fourth fiscal quarter.hétcarrying amount of goodwill exceeds its fairnalve would recognize an impairment loss ir
accordance with ASC 350. As of September 30, 28id8,based upon our most recent analysis, we detedniirough our qualitative
assessment that it is not “more likely than notttthe fair values of our reporting units are ks their carrying values. As a result, we were
not required to perform the two-step goodwill impaent test.

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

FASB Accounting Standards Codification 360-10-4®dperty, Plant, and Equipment - Impairment or Désp of Long-Lived
Assets” (“ASC 360-10-40"), requires that long-livasisets, such as property and equipment and pethaangibles subject to amortization,
be reviewed for impairment whenever events or chamg circumstances indicate that the carrying athofian asset may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of the asset is measured by compauds its carrying amount to undiscounted futureazesh flows the asset is expected to
generate. If such assets are considered to bermapaie impairment to be recognized is measurg¢keaamount by which the carrying amount
of the asset exceeds its fair market value. Eséimat expected future cash flows represent ourdstshate based on currently available
information and reasonable and supportable assangptAny impairment recognized in accordance wiBCA360-10-40 is permanent and may
not be restored. Based upon our most recent aralysibelieve no impairment of long-lived asseisted at September 30, 2013.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for our stock-based compensation plaimifing the provisions of FASB Accounting Standafdodification 718,
“Compensation — Stock Compensation” (*“ASC 718")aktordance with ASC 718, we use the Black-Schaasation model for valuing all
stock-based compensation and shares purchasedaurdemployee Stock Purchase Plan. We measure cwatien for restricted stock
awards and restricted stock units at fair valu¢ghengrant date based on the number of shares exptectvest and the quoted market price o
common stock. For restricted stock units with madanditions, we utilize a Monte Carlo simulationlgedded in a lattice model to determine
the fair value. We recognize compensation costficrwards in operations, net of estimated forfeis,ion a straigHtne basis over the requis
service period for each separately vesting poiothe award.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with FASBounting Standards Codification 740, “Income @siXx(“ASC 740"). Under
ASC 740, we recognize deferred tax assets andifiebifor the future tax consequences attributableemporary differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existingets and liabilities and their respective tax basfs measure deferred tax assets and liab
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to texiabbme in the years in which we expect those tearg differences to be recovered or
settled. We record valuation allowances to reduredeferred tax assets to the amount expected ttedtieed by considering all available
positive and negative evidence.
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Pursuant to ASC 740, we must consider all posdive negative evidence regarding the realizatiahefdrred tax assets, including past
operating results and future sources of taxablenme Under the provisions of ASC 740-10, we deteeahithat our net deferred tax asset
needed to be fully reserved given recent earningsradustry trends.

For a more comprehensive list of our accountingcpes, including those which involve varying degreé judgment, see Note 2 —
“Significant Accounting Policies” of Notes to Cotlisiated Financial Statements.

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth certain financiatalas a percentage of revenue for the periodsatetic

Fiscal Year Ended September 3(

2011 2012 2013
(Amounts in thousands)
Revenue $480,89:  100.(%  $524,45¢ 100.% $584,49° 100.%
Cost of sale: 361,40( 75.1% 391,17 74.€% 433,64 74.2%
Gross profi 119,49: 24.% 133,28: 25.L%  150,85: 25.8%
Selling, general, and administrative exper 127,89¢ 26.€% 127,91 24.2%  132,50! 22.1%
(Loss) income from operatiol (8,4072) (1.8%) 5,37( 1.C% 18,34¢ 3.1%
Interest expens 3,48¢ 0.7% 4,44 0.% 4,21¢ 0.7%
(Loss) income before income tax ben (12,890 (2.5%) 928 0.2% 14,13( 2.%%
Income tax benefi 367 0.1% 17€ 0.C% 894 0.2%
Net (loss) incom $(11,52) (24%) $ 1,09¢ 0.2% $ 15,02« 2.6%

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2013 Compared Wwitital Year Ended September 30, 2012

RevenueRevenue increased $60.0 million, or 11.5%, to $&&dillion for the fiscal year ended September 3 2from $524.5 million
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2012. Bfiticrease, $57.7 million was attributable to 4fblincrease in comparable-store sales. The
increase in our comparable-store sales was durternental increases in new boat sales, partipataible to new brands we have expanded
with, and incremental increases in used boat safekerage services, F&I products, service, partsaccessories. Improving industry
conditions resulting from improved economic coratis contributed to our comparable-store sales drowt

Gross Profit.Gross profit increased $17.6 million, or 13.2%%$1%0.9 million for the fiscal year ended Septeng®r2013 from
$133.3 million for the fiscal year ended SeptenB8®r2012. Gross profit as a percentage of revemreased to 25.8% for the fiscal year er
September 30, 2013 from 25.4% for the fiscal yeailed September 30, 2012. The increase in gross wad primarily attributable to the
increase in comparable-store sales and incremgimaleased margins on new and used boat sale®doproving industry inventory and
industry-wide conditions.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expen$&sdling, general, and administrative expenses asaé $4.6 million, or 3.6%, to $132.5
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2013 from $12ilion for the fiscal year ended September 3L 2 The fiscal year ended Septembe
2013 included a recovery recognized of approxinygéll.8 million from the Deepwater Horizon SettlethBrogram for damages suffered :
result of the Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill. Excludithis item and making both years comparable rgglfjeneral, and administrative expenses
increased $16.4 million, or 12.7%, to $144.3 milland as a percentage of revenue increased to Zdrtte fiscal year ended September 30,
2013 from 24.4% for the fiscal year ended SepterBBeR012. The overall increase in selling, genenadl administrative expenses was
primarily attributable to increased commissionsl@sgy from increased boat sales and restructuoashaission plans; increased insurance ¢
related to property, casualty, liability and headtie; increased payroll associated with improvetbpmance and modest personnel growth;
increased promotional spending in an effort to ¢texact the inclement weather conditions.
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Interest Expensénterest expense decreased $229,000, or 5.2%,2adiflion for the fiscal year ended SeptemberZm.3 from
$4.5 million for the fiscal year ended SeptemberZ8l 2. Interest expense as a percentage of rewlmmeased to 0.7% for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2013 from 0.9% for the fiseat gnded September 30, 2012. The decrease weaariprimresult of lower interest rates
under our credit facilities.

Income Tax BenefitWe had an income tax benefit of $894,000 foffiteal year ended September 30, 2013 comparedamithcome ta
benefit of $176,000 for the fiscal year ended Septr 30, 2012. Our effective income tax rate wasflar both the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2013 and 2012. In fiscal 2013, thbeaefit was primarily attributable to a favoratde settlement with a state in which we
operate. In fiscal 2012, we generated a loss foptaposes and we could not record the benefithiemet operating loss carryforward due to
the required valuation allowance. For fiscal 2008 2012, the income tax expense ordinarily assediaith our pre-tax income was offset by
the fully reserved net operating loss carryforwatitized.

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2012 Compared Wiital Year Ended September 30, 2011

RevenueRevenue increased $43.6 million, or 9.1%, to $52ilbon for the fiscal year ended September 3@ 2fom $480.9 million
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2011. Sfitisrease, $53.0 million was attributable to dfolincrease in comparable-store sales,
which was partially offset by a decline of $9.4liit related to stores opened or closed that weteligible for inclusion in the comparable-
store base for the 12 months ended September 20, Z8e increase in our comparabtere sales was due to incremental increases irboer
sales, partly attributable to new brands we hayaeded with, and incremental increases in useddadas, brokerage services, F&l products,
service, parts and accessories. Improving indsingitions resulting from improved economic coratig contributed to our comparable-store
sales growth.

Gross Profit.Gross profit increased $13.8 million, or 11.5%$133.3 million for the fiscal year ended Septen@8:r2012 from
$119.5 million for the fiscal year ended SeptenB8®r2011. Gross profit as a percentage of revemreased to 25.4% for the fiscal year er
September 30, 2012 from 24.9% for the fiscal yealed September 30, 2011. The increase in gross wad primarily attributable to the
increase in comparable-store sales and incremgimnaleased margins on new boat sales due to inmordustry inventory conditions.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expensdling, general, and administrative expenses neeadiilat at $127.9 million for both the
fiscal years ended September 30, 2012 and Septe8@b2011. Selling, general, and administrativeesges as a percentage of revenue
decreased approximately 2.2% to 24.4% for the ffigear ended September 30, 2012 from 26.6% fofisieal year ended September 30, 2011
The decrease in selling, general, and administaipenses as a percentage of revenue was priratiributable to expense leverage obtainec
through our reported comparable-store sales ineraad various cost-reduction efforts including s¥aiw cost reductions and less inventory
maintenance given improved inventories.

Interest Expensédnterest expense increased $959,000, or 27.5%.8orillion for the fiscal year ended SeptemberZiL,2 from
$3.5 million for the fiscal year ended SeptemberZl 1. Interest expense as a percentage of rewecneased to 0.9% for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2012 from 0.7% for the fiseat gnded September 30, 2011. The increase waarpyim result of increased borrowings
under our credit facilities due to increased averagentories.

Income Tax BenefitWe had an income tax benefit of $176,000 foffigwal year ended September 30, 2012 comparedanithcome ta
benefit of $367,000 for the fiscal year ended Smper 30, 2011. Our effective income tax rate wasflaor both the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2012 and 2011. In fiscal 2011, wemgéed a loss for tax purposes and we could notddgbe benefit for the net operating loss
carryforward due to the required valuation allowarfeor fiscal 2012, the income tax expense ordinassociated with our pre-tax income was
offset by the fully reserved net operating lossydarward utilized.
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Quarterly Data and Seasonality

Our business, as well as the entire recreatioratifgpindustry, is highly seasonal, with seasopalitrying in different geographic
markets. With the exception of Florida, we gengredhlize significantly lower sales and higher levaf inventories, and related short-term
borrowings, in the quarterly periods ending Decem®ieand March 31. The onset of the public boatrasdeation shows in January stimulates
boat sales and typically allows us to reduce ouemtory levels and related short-term borrowingsulghout the remainder of the fiscal year.
Our business could become substantially more sahgome acquire dealers that operate in colderoregjof the United States or close retall
locations in warm climates.

Our business is also subject to weather patternghwnay adversely affect our results of operatiég example, prolonged winter
conditions, drought conditions (or merely reducaidfall levels) or excessive rain, may limit accasarea boating locations or render boating
dangerous or inconvenient, thereby curtailing augtodemand for our products and services. In aditinseasonably cool weather and
prolonged winter conditions may lead to a shorgdlirgy season in certain locations. Hurricanes @heér storms could result in disruptions of
our operations or damage to our boat inventoriesfagilities, as has been the case when Florideo#tmet markets were affected by hurricanes
Although our geographic diversity is likely to remuthe overall impact to us of adverse weatheritiond in any one market area, these
conditions will continue to represent potential temal adverse risks to us and our future finanpeaformance.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash needs are primarily for working capitadtigport operations, including new and used boadtelated parts inventories, off-
season liquidity, and growth through acquisitiond aew store openings. Acquisitions and new stpenmgs remain important strategies to
our company, and we plan to accelerate our growthugh these strategies when more normal econaoniditions return. However, we cant
predict the length or severity of these unfavoragenomic or financial conditions. We regularly ritonthe aging of our inventories and
current market trends to evaluate our current abuté inventory needs. We also use this evaluati@onjunction with our review of our
current and expected operating performance ancceeghdusiness levels to determine the adequacyrdfrancing needs.

These cash needs have historically been financédoash generated from operations and borrowindsmour credit facilities. Our
ability to utilize our credit facilities to fund epations depends upon the collateral levels anctiante with the covenants of the credit
facilities. Turmoil in the credit markets and weaka in the retail markets may interfere with oulitglio remain in compliance with the
covenants of the credit facilities and therefore ahility to utilize the credit facilities to funaperations. At September 30, 2013, we were in
compliance with all covenants under our creditlfiaes. We currently depend upon dividends and iogfayments from our dealerships and our
credit facilities to fund our current operationglaneet our cash needs. As 100% owner of each adealerships, we determine the amounts ¢
such distributions, and currently, no agreemenitst ¢xat restrict this flow of funds from our dealeips.

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2013 @h#, 2ash provided by operating activities apprated $7.8 million and $8.7 millio
respectively. For the fiscal year ended Septembge@11, cash used in operating activities wasapprately $14.7 million. For the fiscal ye
ended September 30, 2013, cash provided by opegratiivities was primarily related to net incometjadly offset by an increase in inventory
driven by the timing of orders and increased tradesn new boat sales and decreases in accruedsegpand long-term liabilities. For the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2012, cash provigegberating activities was primarily related tdexrease of inventory driven by inventory
order reductions and partially offset by an incesimsaccounts receivable as a result of our stBemfember close. For the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2011, cash used in operating aeswitas primarily related to an increase in inventlsiven by new product lines added and
timing of boats received. This was partially offegta decrease in accounts receivable from our faaturers as a result of reduced aging. In
addition, customer deposits increased as a reklatge yachts that were sold on order.

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2013,, 2012011, cash used in investing activities vpgsaimately $12.6 million,
$7.6 million, and $8.7 million, respectively. Fbietfiscal year ended September 30, 2013, cashimseeesting activities was primarily used
purchase inventory associated with a business sitigniand to purchase property and equipment &gsacwith improving existing retail
facilities and making capital improvements as altesf Hurricane Sandy and partially offset by iremuce proceeds received as a result of
Hurricane Sandy. For the fiscal years ended Sepef) 2012 and 2011, cash used in investing detwivas primarily used to purchase
property and equipment associated with improvirigteyg retail facilities as well as inventory puastes associated with a business acquisitiol
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For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2013, 20d2011, cash provided by financing activities wpproximately $4.9 million, $3.2
million, and $26.2 million, respectively. For thedal year ended September 30, 2013, cash probigléidancing activities was primarily
attributable to net short-term borrowings as altedlincreased inventory levels and proceeds ftbenissuance of common stock from our
stock based compensation plans. For the fiscalgmaded September 30, 2012, cash provided by fingragtivities was primarily attributable
to net short-term borrowings associated with capitpenditures. For the fiscal year ended Septerd®e2011, cash provided by financing
activities was primarily attributable to net shtatm borrowings as a result of increased invenievgls.

In June 2013, we entered into an amendment tormentory Financing Agreement (the “Amended Creditiity”), originally entered
into in June 2010, as subsequently amended, witlc@Bmercial Distribution Finance Corporation. Thee 2013 amendment extended the
maturity date of the Credit Facility to June 2046bject to additional extension for two one-yeaiqus, with lender approval. The June 2013
amendment, among other things, also added addifem#ers and modified the amount of borrowing Eldiity, interest rate, and maturity
date of the Credit Facility. The Amended Creditikgrovides a floor plan financing commitment @b to $205 million, an increase from the
previous limit of $150 million, subject to borrovgibase availability resulting from the amount agohg of our inventory.

The Amended Credit Facility has certain financ@lenants as specified in the agreement. The coteimaiude provisions that our
leverage ratio must not exceed 2.75 to 1.0 andotimaturrent ratio must be greater than 1.2 toAtGeptember 30, 2013, we were in
compliance with all of the covenants under the AdeshCredit Facility. The interest rate for amouwnitstanding under the Amended Credit
Facility is now 355 basis points above the one-imdmindon Inter-Bank Offering Rate (“LIBOR”) a redian of 28 basis points from the prior
amendment. There is an unused line fee of ten pagi$s on the unused portion of the Amended Criealility.

Advances under the Amended Credit Facility aredtatl by the acquisition of eligible new and usaceintory or are re-advances against
eligible new and used inventory that have beeriglgrpaid-off. Advances on new inventory will generally magtur,081 days from the origin
invoice date. Advances on used inventory will mat8®1 days from the date we acquire the used iowerEach advance is subject to a
curtailment schedule, which requires that we payrdthe balance of each advance on a periodic bisng after six months. The curtailm
schedule varies based on the type and value afiteatory. The collateral for the Amended Creditifity is all of our personal property with
certain limited exceptions. None of our real estate been pledged for collateral for the Amendezti€ Facility.

We were also a party to an Inventory Financing &grent (the “CGl Facility”) with CGI Finance, In¢GGI”). The CGlI Facility
provided a floor plan financing commitment of $30lion and was designed to provide financing for dzimut Yacht inventory needs. The
CGil Facility was not renewed by the Company andregpn August 2013; however, existing advanceseuatide CGI Facility can remain
outstanding for up to 18 months. The interest f@t@mounts outstanding under the CGI Facility5® Basis points above the one month
London Inter-Bank Offering Rate. Azimut Yacht intery is now financed under the Amended Credit Fscil

As of September 30, 2012 and 2013, our indebtedhmsxciated with financing our inventory and wogk@apital needs totaled
approximately $120.6 million and $122.5 millionspectively. At September 30, 2012 and 2013, therd@st rate on the outstanding short-term
borrowings was approximately 4.0% and 3.7%. At Seytter 30, 2013, our additional available borrowingder our Amended Credit Facility
were approximately $34.8 million based upon thestauiding borrowing base availability. The agingof inventory limits our borrowing
capacity as defined curtailments reduce the alléevativance rate as our inventory ages. On Octdhe2(13, the Company paid off the entire
CGil Facility by refinancing such amounts owed urtierAmended Credit Facility.

Except as specified in this “Management’s Discussind Analysis of Financial Condition, and Resaft®©perations” and in our
consolidated financial statements, we have no nahtsymmitments for capital for the next 12 mont& believe that our existing capital
resources will be sufficient to finance our opemasi for at least the next 12 months, except fosiptes significant acquisitions.
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Contractual Commitments and Commercial Commitments

The following table sets forth a summary of our eniai contractual obligations and commercial cornmeiits as of September 30, 2013:

Operatin
Year Ending Short-Term Long-Term P ’
September 3C Borrowings (1) Liabilities (2) Leases (3 Total
(Amounts in thousands)

2014 $ 122,47( $ — $ 5,25¢ $127,72-
2015 — 4738 4,05: 4,52¢
2016 — — 3.18¢ 3,18¢
2017 — — 2,36 2,36
2018 — — 1,701 1,701
Thereaftel — — 1,53 1,53:
Total $  122,47( $ 47% $18,09¢ $141,03¢

(1) Estimates of future interest payments for stenmn borrowings have been excluded in the taluiesentation. Amounts due are
contingent upon the outstanding balances and thigbla interest rates. As of September 30, 2018irtterest rate on our short-term
borrowings was approximately 3.7'

(2) The amounts included in long-term liabilitiemnsist primarily of gross unrecognized tax benefitd our estimated liability for claims on
certain workers’ compensation insurance policiekil#ive estimate the amount to be paid in exced2 afionths, the ultimate timing of
the payments is subject to certain variability. éatingly, we have classified all amounts as dudhinfollowing year for the purposes of
this table.

(3) Amounts for operating lease commitments doimdtide certain operating expenses such as maimtenasurance, and real estate taxes
These amounts are not a material component of tipgmxpenses

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any transactions, arrangementsher celationships with unconsolidated entities #ive reasonably likely to affect our
financial condition, liquidity, or capital resouscaVe have no special purpose or limited purposi#emnthat provide off-balance sheet
financing, liquidity, or market or credit risk supp; we do not engage in hedging, or research amdldpment services; and we do not have
other relationships that expose us to liabilityt ikanot reflected in the financial statements.

ltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk

At September 30, 2013, all of our short-term dedsebnterest at a variable rate, tied to LIBOR asfarence rate. Changes in the
underlying LIBOR interest rate on our short-ternbtdeould affect our earnings. For example, a hygiithal 100 basis point increase in the
interest rate on our short-term debt would resulin increase of approximately $1.2 million in azmre-tax interest expense. This estimated
increase is based upon the outstanding balancer ahort-term debt as of September 30, 2013 andreessno mitigating changes by us to
reduce the outstanding balances and no additiotezkist assistance that could be received fromorerdlie to the interest rate increase.

Products purchased from European-based and Chirasssl manufacturers are subject to fluctuatiotiserJ.S. dollar exchange rate,
which ultimately may impact the retail price at aiiwe can sell such products. Accordingly, fludwzd in the value of the other currencies
compared with the U.S. dollar may impact the ppo@ts at which we can profitably sell such foremoducts, and such price points may not
be competitive with other product lines in the @ditStates. Accordingly, such fluctuations in exgfearates ultimately may impact the amount
of revenue, cost of goods sold, cash flows, andiegs we recognize for such foreign product linde. cannot predict the effects of exchange
rate fluctuations on our operating results. Inaiartases, we may enter into foreign currency flashhedges to reduce the variability of cash
flows associated with forecasted purchases of maig/achts from European-based and Chinese-bameafacturers. We are not currently
engaged in foreign currency exchange hedging tcdiosa to manage our foreign currency exposurandf when we do engage in foreign
currency exchange hedging transactions, we carssot@that our strategies will adequately protacioperating results from the effects of
exchange rate fluctuations.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dz

Reference is made to the financial statementsydhes thereto, and the report thereon, commencimage F-1 of this report, which
financial statements, notes, and report are incatpd herein by reference.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéanting and Financial Disclosure

On March 27, 2013, our Audit Committee approvedslection of KPMG LLP (“*KPMG”) to serve as our gpkendent registered public
accounting firm for the fiscal year ending Septen8i® 2013. There have been no disagreements witfoomer accountants on accounting
and financial disclosure. For further informatiphease refer to our Form 8-K filed with the SECAgpril 2, 2013.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedure
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresdtetiesigned to ensure that material informagguired to be disclosed by us in
Securities Exchange Act reports is recorded, psmgessummarized and reported within the time psriebcified in the Securities and
Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and that sformation is accumulated and communicated toneanagement, including the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, ggpeopriate, to allow timely decisions regardinguiegd disclosure.

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial i0&r have evaluated the effectiveness of the demigihoperation of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 18a)yHhd 15d-15(e) under the Securities ExchangefAt®34) as of the end of the period
covered by this report. Based on such evaluatiach sfficers have concluded that, as of the entti@period covered by this report, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effectitkeareasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Controls

During the quarter ended September 30, 2013, there no changes in our internal controls over fareporting that materially
affected, or were reasonably likely to materiafifieet, our internal control over financial repogdin

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, does not expect tha disclosure controls and
procedures and internal controls over financiabreépg will prevent all errors and all fraud. A dool system, no matter how well conceived
and operated, can provide only reasonable, nofi@esassurance that the objectives of the cosyrsiem are met. Further, the design of a
control system must reflect the fact that thereraseurce constraints, and the benefits of conimist be considered relative to their costs.
Although our disclosure controls and proceduresdasigned to provide reasonable assurance of anpitheir objectives because of the
inherent limitations in all control systems, no leraion of controls can provide absolute assurdhatall control issues and instances of fraud
if any, within the company have been detected. &lirdserent limitations include the realities thadgments in decision-making can be faulty,
and that breakdowns can occur because of simple @rmistake. Additionally, controls can be cirotented by the individual acts of some
persons, by collusion of two or more people, omanagement override of the control. The desigmgfsystem of controls also is based in
part upon certain assumptions about the likelihofdditure events, and there can be no assurantarialesign will succeed in achieving its
stated goals under all potential future conditiangr time, a control may become inadequate beaasfusganges in conditions, or the degree o
compliance with the policies or procedures may ritmigte. Because of the inherent limitations irpateeffective control system, misstatements
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected

CEO and CFO Certifications

Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 are the Certifications & @hief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officrespectively. The Certifications
are required in accordance with Section 302 oShbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Section 302 Gestfons”). This Item of this report,
which you are currently reading is the informat@mmcerning the Evaluation referred to in the Sec862 Certifications and this information
should be read in conjunction with the Section B@2tifications for a more complete understandintheftopics presented.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaing adequate internal control over financiglaring, as such term is defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) of the Securities Exchange Act @4.9Jnder the supervision and with the participatid our management, including our
principal executive officer and principal financa@ficer, we conducted an evaluation of the effemtiess of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting as of September 30, 208 Beguired by the Securities Exchange Act of 198k R3a-15(c). In making this
assessment, we used the criteria set forth by ¢imen@ittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tregd@ammission (“COSQ”) innternal
Control — Integrated Framework (199Based on its evaluation, our management conclutadts internal control over financial reporting
was effective as of September 30, 2013.

Our internal control over financial reporting asSeEptember 30, 2013 has been audited by KPMG Lihihdependent registered public
accounting firm, as stated in their report whicpegrs below.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
MarineMax, Inc.:

We have audited MarineMax, Inc.’s internal contreér financial reporting as of September 30, 2®E3ed on criteria established in
Internal Control- Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidriee Treadway Commission (COSO).
MarineMax, Inc.’s management is responsible forntaning effective internal control over financiaporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financighoeting, included in the accompanying managemeepsrt on internal control over financial
reporting. Our responsibility is to express an apiron the Company'’s internal control over finahc&porting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stededof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigéénternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe@is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness eaististesting and evaluating the design and operaffiectiveness of internal control based on
the assessed risk. Our audit also included perfagreuch other procedures as we considered necesghg/circumstances. We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opini

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantiegeinerally accepted accounting princip
A company'’s internal control over financial repodiincludes those policies and procedures thai€ftpin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseocfompany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely deteatfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢taisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssaubject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, MarineMax, Inc. maintained, in alhterial respects, effective internal control diueancial reporting as of September 30,
2013, based on criteria establishedniternal Control — Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike
Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
consolidated balance sheet of MarineMax, Inc. atsigliaries as of September 30, 2013 and the detatiesolidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the yé@ntended, and our report dated December 6, 2q&r@ssed an unqualified opinion on those
consolidated financial statements.

/sl KPMG LLF

Tampa, Florida
December 6, 2013
Certified Public Accountants
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Item 9B.  Other Information

Not applicable.

PART IlI

Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govere

The information required by this Item relating tar directors and corporate governance is incorpdrherein by reference to the
definitive Proxy Statement (particularly under taption “Corporate Governance”) to be filed purduarRegulation 14A of the Exchange Act
for our 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Thimimation required by this Item relating to our ex#ve officers is included in “Business
— Executive Officers.”

We have adopted a code of ethics that appliesrtprincipal executive officer, principal financiafficer, and other senior accounting
personnel. The “Code of Ethics for the CEO and &drinancial Officers” is located on our websitevatw.MarineMax.conmn the Investor
Relations section under Corporate Governance.

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirementeuigm 5.05(c) of Form 8-K regarding any amendntenor waiver from, a provision
of this code of ethics by posting such informatienour website, at the address and location specibove.

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatio

The information required by this Item is incorp@éherein by reference to the definitive Proxy Stant (particularly under the caption
“Executive Compensation”) to be filed pursuant ggRlation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2014 AalnMeeting of Stockholders.

ltem 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners alanagement and Related Stockholder Mattt

The information required by this Item is incorp@éherein by reference to the definitive Proxy @tant (particularly under the caption
“Security Ownership of Principal Stockholders, Ri@s, and Officers”) to be filed pursuant to Regian 14A of the Exchange Act for our
2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Iltem 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, addector Independenct

The information required by this Item is incorp@éherein by reference to the definitive Proxy Stent (particularly under the caption
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactionshe filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the ExaeAct for our 2014 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Servict

The information required by this Item is incorpaéherein by reference to the definitive Proxy S&tant (particularly under the caption
“Ratification of Appointment of Independent Auditpto be filled pursuant to Regulation 14A of thedBange Act for our 2014 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders.

PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule
(@) Financial Statements and Financial Statement 8edules
(1) Financial Statements are listed in the Index togdtidated Financial Statements on pa-1 of this report

(2) No financial statement schedules are included Isecauch schedules are not applicable, are notresljuir because required informat
is included in the consolidated financial statera@mtnotes theret
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(b) Exhibits
Exhibit
Number

3.1

3.1(a)

3.2

3.3

4.1

10.3(h)*

10.3(i)*

10.4*

10.5*

10.20

10.20(a)

10.21(Ht

10.21(g)t
10.21(h)t
10.21()t
10.21()1
10.21(Kk)t
10.21()
10.21(m) -
10.21(n) t

10.22*
10.23*
10.24*
10.25

10.26%

10.26(a)
10.26(b)

10.27t

Exhibit
Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Ragist, including all amendments to date
Certificate of Amendment of Restricted Certificafdncorporation of the Registrant (
Third Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Regis{{@¥
Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Rapi@ting Preferred Stock (.
Specimen of Common Stock Certificate
Employment Agreement between Registrant and WilllhrMcGill Jr. (4)
Employment Agreement between Registrant and MicHadcLamb (4)
1998 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended through Bepay, 2001 (5
1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Agreement Relating to Acquisitions between Regmteand Brunswick Corporation, dated December 75300
Sea Ray Sales and Service Agreemen

Inventory Financing Agreement executed on Jun€@40, among MarineMax, Inc. and its subsidiarisBarrowers, and
GE Commercial Distribution Finance CorporationLasder. (8

Program Terms Letter executed on June 24, 2010ngMarineMax, Inc. and its subsidiaries, as Borneyand GE
Commercial Distribution Finance Corporation, asdemn (8)

Amendment Number One to Inventory Financing Agresimexecuted on December 17, 2010, among MarineMaxand
its subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and GE CommerdistriDution Finance Corporation, as Lender.

Amendment Number One to Program Terms Letter, égeaan December 17, 2010, among MarineMax, Inc.isnd
subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and GE Commercial Digion Finance Corporation, as Lender.

Amendment Number Two to Inventory Financing Agrertnexecuted on June 1, 2011, among MarineMax,dnd.its
subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and GE Commercial Digion Finance Corporation, as Lender. (

Amendment Number Two to Program Terms Letter, etegtcan June 1, 2011, among MarineMax, Inc. ansubsidiaries,
as Borrowers, and GE Commercial Distribution Firm@orporation, as Lender. (1

Amendment Number Three to Inventory Financing Agreet, executed on July 27, 2012, by and among Matax, Inc.
and its subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and GE Comiadbistribution Finance Corporation, as Lender.)(

Amended and Restated Inventory Financing Agreenexetuted on June 28, 2013, by and among MarineMaxand its
subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and GE Commercial Digion Finance Corporation, as Lender. (

Amended and Restated Program Terms Letter, exeoutddne 28, 2013, among MarineMax, Inc. and itsisliaries, as
Borrowers, and GE Commercial Distribution Finanaggration, as Lender. (1

MarineMax, Inc. 2007 Incentive Compensation Ple3)

Form Stock Option Agreement for 2007 Incentive Cengation Plan (11

Form Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for 200dentive Compensation Plan (1
Director Fee Share Purchase Program

Floor Plan Loan Agreement executed on October Z020y and among MarineMax, Inc. and its subsid&ras Borrower
and CGI Finance, Inc., as Lender. (

Notice of Extension to Floor Plan Loan Agreemerdcaeixed on September 15, 2011, by and among Marixelke and its
subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and CGI Finance, aglL.ender. (16

Notice of Extension to Floor Plan Loan Agreemerdaaited on July 5, 2012, by and among MarineMax,dnd its
subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and CGI Finance, aglL.ender. (11

Floor Plan Credit Loan Note executed on Octob&070, by MarineMax, Inc. and its subsidiaries, asr@wvers, payable
CGI Finance, Inc., as Lender. (1
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Exhibit
Number

10.28

10.29(a)’
10.29(b)’
10.29(c)*
10.30*
10.31*
10.32%
10.32(a)

10.32(b)

10.32(c)

10.33t
10.33(a)

10.33(b)
10.33(c)
10.33(d)

16.1
21

23.1
23.2
311

31.2

32.1
32.2
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.LAB
101.PRE
101.DEF

Exhibit

Pledge and Security Agreement executed on Octq®#910, by and among MarineMax, Inc. and its subsis, as Borrowers,
and CGI Finance, Inc., as Lender. (

MarineMax, Inc. 2011 Sto-Based Compensation Plan (;

Form Stock Option Agreement for 2011 St-Based Compensation Plan (;

Form Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for 2@&tacl-Based Compensation Plan (;

Consulting Agreement, dated June 7, 2012, by atwdas the Company and John B. Furman

Severance Policy for Key Executives (:

Dealership Agreement dated September 1, 2008, thpatween MarineMax Northeast, LLC and Azimut B&riaP.A.

First Amendment dated June 22, 2010 to Dealersgieément dated September 1, 2008, by and betwesgndWaax
Northeast, LLC and Azimut Benetti S.P.

Second Amendment dated February 29, 2012 to Dégletgreement dated September 1, 2008, by and leetivarineMax
Northeast, LLC and Azimut Benetti S.P.

Third Amendment dated July 21, 2012 to Dealershgpe&ment dated September 1, 2008, by and betwegnaWaax
Northeast, LLC and Azimut Benetti S.P.

Dealership Agreement dated September 1, 2008, thpatween MarineMax East, Inc. and Azimut Benefi. A.

First Amendment dated June 22, 2010 to Dealersgiieément dated September 1, 2008, by and betwegnéWax East, Inc.
and Azimut Benetti S.P./

Second Amendment dated February 29, 2012 to Déglepgireement dated September 1, 2008, by and leetiMarineMax
East, Inc. and Azimut Benetti S.P.

Third Amendment dated July 21, 2012 to Dealerstgpedment dated September 1, 2008, by and betwesandWeax East, Inc
and Azimut Benetti S.P./

Fourth Amendment dated August 21, 2013 to Dealpragreement dated September 1, 2008, by and betWaeneMax East
Inc. and Azimut Benetti S.P./

Letter from Ernst & Young LLP to the Securities dxthange Commission, dated March 28, 2013
List of Subsidiarie:

Consent of KPMG LLF

Consent of Ernst & Young LL

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgatetbuthe Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amend

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgatetbuthe Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amend

Certification pursuant to U.S.C. Section 1350, dgpded pursuant to Section 906 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sar-Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurt

t Certain information in this exhibit has been a@edtand filed separately with the Securities andnaxnge Commission. Confidential
treatment has been requested with respect to tliteedrportions

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arraage

(1) Incorporated by reference to Registration Stateraerform 1-K for the year ended September 30, 2001, as fitleBecember 20, 200

(2) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form &K as filed February 19, 201

(3) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form K as filed on June 16, 201



(4) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form K as filed on June 13, 200

(5) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-Q for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2@6Tiled on February 14, 20C
(6) Incorporated by reference to Registration Stateraerorm ‘-1 (Registration 33-47873) as filed on March 12, 19¢

(7) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form K as filed on December 9, 20C

(8) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2016ijexson August 9, 201(

(9) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-Q for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2840iled on February 8, 201
(10) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 201filexson August 5, 2011
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(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)
(18)
(19)
(20)

()
(1)

Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 201#|exson August 3, 201Z
Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1i-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2018Jexson August 6, 201
Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form &K as filed on March 6, 200°

Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form &8 (File No. 33-141657) as filed March 29, 20C

Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-K for the year ended September 30, 2010, as fieBecember 2, 201!
Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-K for the year ended September 30, 2011, as fieBecember 8, 201.
Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form &K as filed on January 25, 201

Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form &K as filed on June 11, 201

Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form K as filed on November 27, 201

Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form &K as filed on April 2, 2015

Financial Statements Schedule

See Item 15(a) abov
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&i(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduty authorized.

MARINEMAX, INC.

/s/ William H. McGill Jr.
William H. McGill Jr.
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Offi

Date: December 6, 2013

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Signature Capacity Date
/s! William H. McGill Jr. Chairman of the Board, President, and December 6, 2013
William H. McGill Jr. Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer
/sl Michael H. McLamb Executive Vice President, Chief Financial December 6, 2013
Michael H. McLamb Officer, Secretary, and Director

(Principal Accounting and Financial Office

/s/ Frances L. Allen Director December 6, 2013
Frances L. Aller

/s/ Hilliard M. Eure Il Director December 6, 2013
Hilliard M. Eure I
/s/ Russell J. Knittel Director December 6, 2013

Russell J. Knitte

/s/ Charles R. Ogleshy Director December 6, 2013
Charles R. Oglesh

/sl Joseph A. Watters Director December 6, 2013
Joseph A. Wattetr

/s/ Dean S. Woodman Director December 6, 2013
Dean S. Woodma
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
MarineMax, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineet of MarineMax, Inc. and subsidiaries &epftember 30, 2013, and the
related consolidated statements of operationskistdders’ equity, and cash flows for the year teaded. These consolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of the Compamgsagement. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and diss in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegrferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of
MarineMax, Inc. and subsidiaries as of SeptembeB803, and the results of their operations anit tash flows for the year then ended, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accountinigciples.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), MarineMax
Inc. internal control over financial reporting &dsSeptember 30, 2013, based on criteria establishiedernal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission (COSO), and our regateéd December 6, 2013, expres
an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of@mnpany’s internal control over financial reporting

/sl KPMG LLF

Tampa, Florida
December 6, 2013
Certified Public Accountants
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Report of Independent Registered Certified Public Acounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
MarineMax, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineet of MarineMax, Inc. and subsidiaries &epitember 30, 2012, and the
related consolidated statements of operationskistdders’ equity and cash flows for each of the fwears in the period ended September 30,
2012. These financial statements are the respditysitfithe Company’s management. Our responsibiditto express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and diss in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of
MarineMax, Inc. and subsidiaries at September 8022and the consolidated results of their opanatand their cash flows for each of the twc
years in the period ended September 30, 2012 nfoonity with U.S. generally accepted accountinggiples.

/sl Ernst & Young LLI

Tampa, Florida
December 7, 2012
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands except share and per shéa da

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivable, n
Inventories, ne
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Other lon¢-term assets, ni
Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payabl
Customer deposi
Accrued expense
Shor-term borrowings
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
STOCKHOLDERY EQUITY:
Preferred stock, $.001 par value, 1,000,000 steartf®rized, none issued or outstanding at Septe8th
2012 and 201
Common stock, $.001 par value; 40,000,000 shatb®azed, 23,701,050 and 24,336,495 shares iss
and 22,910,150 and 23,545,595 shares outstandBgpaember 30, 2012 and 2013, respecti
Additional paic-in capital
Retained earning
Treasury stock, at cost, 790,900 shares held daeSdyer 30, 2012 and 20.
Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financa#tistents.
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September 3C September 3C
2012 2013
$ 23,61 $  23,75¢
18,82( 19,41(
215,12( 228,04:

5,058 4,84¢
262,61( 276,05t
98,79¢ 100,33¢
3,71t 5,501

$ 365,12 $ 381,90.
$ 8,451 $ 7471
8,49¢ 9,34:
23,26¢ 20,33:
120,64 122,471
160,86! 159,61
3,31- 473
164,17 160,09(
24 24
215,88! 221,72¢
84t 15,86¢
(15,810 (15,810
200,94« 221,81,
$ 365,12 $ 381,90.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Amounts in thousands except share and per shéa da

For the Year Ended September 3C

2011 2012 2013
Revenue $ 480,89: $ 524,45 $ 584,49
Cost of sale: 361,40( 391,17: 433,64«
Gross profit 119,49 133,28: 150,85:
Selling, general, and administrative exper 127,89¢ 127,91 132,50!
(Loss) income from operatiol (8,4072) 5,37( 18,34¢
Interest expens 3,48¢ 4,44 4,21¢
(Loss) income before income tax ben (12,890 922 14,13(
Income tax benefi 367 17€ 894
Net (loss) incom $ (11,52) $ 1,09¢ $ 15,02
Basic net (loss) income per common st $ (0.52) $ 0.0t $ 0.6t
Diluted net (loss) income per common sh $ (0.52) $ 0.0t $ 0.6
Weighted average number of common shares usedripwting net (loss) income per
common share
Basic 22,375,27 22,740,98 23,253,99
Diluted 22,375,27 23,335,91 24,003,722

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgistents.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(Amounts in thousands except share data)

BALANCE, September 30, 2010

Net loss

Shares issued pursuant to employee stock purches

Shares issued upon vesting of equity awards, r@ixof
withholding

Shares issued upon exercise of stock opt

Stoclk-based compensatic

BALANCE, September 30, 201

Net income

Shares issued pursuant to employee stock purches

Shares issued upon vesting of equity awards, r@ixof
withholding

Shares issued upon exercise of stock opt

Stoclk-based compensatic

BALANCE, September 30, 201

Net income

Shares issued pursuant to employee stock purches

Shares issued upon vesting of equity awards, r@ixof
withholding

Shares issued upon exercise of stock opt

Stocl-based compensatic

BALANCE, September 30, 201

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&stents.

Retained
Additional Earnings Total
Common Stock Paid-in (Accumulated Treasury Stockholders
Shares Amount Capital Deficit) Stock Equity

22,938,93 23 206,54 11,26¢ (15,810 202,03(
— — — (11,529 — (11,527
81,61¢ — 48¢€ — — 48¢
70,38¢ — (191) — — (191)
195,79: — 94¢ — — 94¢
16,36¢ — 3,24¢ — — 3,24¢
23,303,10 23 211,04: (259) (15,810 195,00(
— — — 1,09¢ — 1,09¢
101,98: — 561 — — 561
45,08¢ — (85) — — (85)
230,38( 1 903 — — 904
20,50 — 3,46¢ — — 3,46t
23,701,055 $ 24 $21588¢ $ 84t  $(15,81(0) $ 200,94
— — — 15,02 — 15,02
81,71°¢ — 574 — — 574
32,66¢ — (157) — — (157)
504,40( — 2,692 — — 2,69
16,66+ — 2,73% — — 2,73%
24,336,449 $ 24 $221,72¢ $ 15,86¢ $(15,81() $ 221,81
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net (loss) incomi
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to rshc(used in) provided by operating activit
Depreciation and amortizatic
Loss on sale of property and equipm
Gain on insurance settlemel
Stocl-based compensation expense,
Decrease (increase) —
Accounts receivable, n
Inventories, ne
Prepaid expenses and other as
Increase (decrease)—
Accounts payabl
Customer deposit
Accrued expenses and lc-term liabilities
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activi
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipm
Net cash used in acquisition of businesses, priynarrentory
Proceeds from insurance settleme
Proceeds from sale of property and equipn
Net cash used in investing activiti
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net borrowings on shc-term borrowings
Debt modification cost
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock una@eniive compensation and employee purcl
plans
Net cash provided by financing activiti
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of peric
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of perio

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Informat
Cash paid for
Interest
Income taxe:

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgistents.
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For the Year Ended September 3C

2011 2012 2013
$(11,529 $ 1,09¢  $ 15,02
6,61¢ 6,47¢ 6,771
21 225 13€
— — 154
3,24¢ 3,46¢ 2,73t
7,04:  (4,65) 31¢
(28,660  8,31¢ (8,852
161 (479 (820)
1,64( (185 (2,645
3,67¢ (590) 832
3,10 (4,990 (5,849
(14680 _ 8,67¢ 7,811
(6,58 (5,737 (9,82
(2,25 (4,399 (4,639
— — 1,74¢
151 2,48¢ 112
(8,697 (7,649 (12,609
24,98t 1,81¢ 1,82:

(10 — —
1,24¢ 1,38( 3,10¢
26,21 3,19¢ 4,93:
2,847 4,231 13¢
16,53¢  19,38¢ 23,61
$19,38¢ $23,617 $ 23,75¢
3,261 4,32: 4,38
31 10 33C
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. COMPANY BACKGROUND AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION:

We are the largest recreational boat retailer énldhited States. We engage primarily in the re@lié, brokerage, and service of new and
used boats, motors, trailers, marine parts andsaocies and offer slip and storage accommodationsriain locations. In addition, we arrange
related boat financing, insurance, and extendedcgecontracts. We recently implemented prograniadcease our sale over the Internet of
used boats and a wide range of boating parts, sages, supplies, and products; the sale of bbatgjng parts, and accessories, as well as th
offer of finance and insurance, or F&I, productvatious offsite locations; and the charter of poamed sailing yachts in the British Virgin
Islands. None of these recently implemented prograave had a material effect on our consolidateghfiial statements. As of September 30,
2013, we operated through 54 retail locations irsth8es, consisting of Alabama, Arizona, Califori@annecticut, Florida, Georgia, Maryland,
Massachusetts, Minnesota, Missouri, New Jersey, Xenk, North Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma, Rhode Islafhdnnessee, and Texas. Our
MarineMax Vacations operations maintain a facilityl ortola, British Virgin Islands.

We are the nation’s largest retailer of Sea Ragt®@oWhaler, Bayliner, and Meridian recreationatsand yachts, all of which are
manufactured by Brunswick Corporation (“Brunswick3gles of new Brunswick boats accounted for apprately 38% of our revenue in
fiscal 2013. Brunswick is the world’s largest maatfirer of marine products and marine engines. #lleue we represented approximately
49% of Brunswick’s Sea Ray boat sales, during maaf 2013.

We have dealership agreements with Sea Ray, BUStater, Bayliner, Meridian, and Mercury Marine, stlibsidiaries or divisions of
Brunswick. We also have dealer agreements witg-lased Azimut-Benetti Group’s product line for Amit Yachts. These agreements allow
us to purchase, stock, sell, and service these fi@etavers’ boats and products. These agreememsithdsv us to use these manufacturers’
names, trade symbols, and intellectual propentiesir operations.

We are a party to a multi-year dealer agreemeriit Bitinswick covering Sea Ray products that appaistas the exclusive dealer of Sea
Ray boats in our geographic markets. We are thiugive dealer for Boston Whaler and Bayliner thitougulti-year dealer agreements for
many of our geographic markets. We are a partydeader agreement with Hatteras Yachts that gigsebe exclusive right to sell Hatteras
Yachts throughout the states of Florida (excludiregFlorida panhandle), New Jersey, New York, aexB§. We are also the exclusive dealer
for Cabo Yachts throughout the states of FloridewNersey, and New York through a dealer agreerireatdition, we are the exclusive
dealer for Azimut Yachts for the entire United $tathrough a multi-year dealer agreement. SalaswfAzimut boats accounted for
approximately 13% of our revenue in fiscal 2013. Mééeve non-Brunswick brands offer a migrationdar existing customer base or fill a
void in our product offerings, and accordingly, it compete with the business generated from dwar girominent brands.

As is typical in the industry, we deal with manutaers, other than Sea Ray, Boston Whaler, Baylideridian, and Azimut Yachts,
under renewable annual dealer agreements, eachicifi @ives us the right to sell various makes andefs of boats within a given geographic
region. Any change or termination of these agredsp@n the agreements discussed above, for angnmeaschanges in competitive,
regulatory, or marketing practices, including rebait incentive programs, could adversely affectresults of operations. Although there are a
limited number of manufacturers of the type of kaatd products that we sell, we believe that adecalternative sources would be available
to replace any manufacturer other than Sea RayAaimdut as a product source. These alternative ssumay not be available at the time of
any interruption, and alternative products maybeavailable at comparable terms, which could afiperating results adversely.

General economic conditions and consumer spenditigrps can negatively impact our operating resultsavorable local, regional,
national, or global economic developments or uageties regarding future economic prospects coedidice consumer spending in the market
we serve and adversely affect our business. Ecanoomditions in areas in which we operate dealpsshparticularly Florida in which we
generated approximately 50%, 49%, and 51% of aremae during fiscal 2011, 2012, and 2013, respelgtican have a major impact on our
operations. Local influences, such as corporatend@ing, military base closings, inclement weatheh as Hurricane Sandy, environmental
conditions, and specific events, such as the BBpililin the Gulf of Mexico, also could adverselffect our operations in certain markets.
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In an economic downturn, consumer discretionarygijmg levels generally decline, at times resultmdisproportionately large
reductions in the sale of luxury goods. Consumendjmg on luxury goods also may decline as a redudtwer consumer confidence levels,
even if prevailing economic conditions are favoealfls a result, an economic downturn could impaahare than certain of our competitors
due to our strategic focus on a higher end of carket. Although we have expanded our operationsmguyeriods of stagnant or modestly
declining industry trends, the cyclical naturetod tecreational boating industry or the lack olistdy growth may adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of ofi@na. Any period of adverse economic conditionar consumer confidence has a negative
effect on our business.

Lower consumer spending resulting from a downtarthe housing market and other economic factorsrsaly affected our business in
fiscal 2007, and continued weakness in consumerdépg and depressed economic conditions had aasltadtnegative effect on our business
in each subsequent fiscal year, including to a rioriéed extent in fiscal 2012 and 2013. These dtioas have caused us to substantially
reduce our acquisition program, delay new storeimgs, reduce our inventory purchases, engagevéntory reduction efforts, close a num
of our retail locations, reduce our headcount, @ménd and replace our credit facility. Acquisiti@msl new store openings remain important
strategies to our company, and we plan to accelenat growth through these strategies when momaaloeconomic conditions return.
However, we cannot predict the length or severitthese unfavorable economic or financial condaion the extent to which they will
continue to adversely affect our operating resubiscan we predict the effectiveness of the measueshave taken to address this environmel
or whether additional measures will be necessary.

In order to provide comparability between periodsspnted, certain amounts have been reclassifiedtfie previously reported
consolidated financial statements to conform tocthresolidated financial statement presentatiomefcurrent period. The consolidated
financial statements include our accounts and theunts of our subsidiaries, all of which are wihalvned. All significant intercompany
transactions and accounts have been eliminated.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:
Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with amiginal maturity of three months or less to be caghivalents.

Vendor Consideration Received

We account for consideration received from our weadn accordance with FASB Accounting Standarddif@ation 605-50, “Revenue
Recognition - Customer Payments and Incentives'SCA605-50"). ASC 605-50 requires us to classifgriest assistance received from
manufacturers as a reduction of inventory costratated cost of sales as opposed to netting thstaisse against our interest expense incurre
with our lenders. Pursuant to ASC 605-50, amougttsived by us under our co-op assistance prognamsdur manufacturers are netted
against related advertising expenses.

Inventories

Inventory costs consist of the amount paid to aegmventory, net of vendor consideration and pasehdiscounts, the cost of equipment
added, reconditioning costs, and transportatiotsaa$ating to acquiring inventory for sale. Wetstaew and used boat, motor, and trailer
inventories at the lower of cost, determined opecHic-identification basis, or market. We statetp and accessories at the lower of cost,
determined on an average cost basis, or markeutilize our historical experience, the aging of ilmeentories, and our consideration of
current market trends as the basis for determiailayver of cost or market valuation allowance. ASeptember 30, 2012 and 2013, our lower
of cost or market valuation allowance was $2.8ioriland $1.8 million, respectively. If events ocamd market conditions change, causing th
fair value to fall below carrying value, the lowarcost or market valuation allowance could incesas
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Property and Equipment

We record property and equipment at cost, net afimclated depreciation, and depreciate propertyegiuébment over their estimated
useful lives using the straight-line method. Weitzdige and amortize leasehold improvements oveldlser of the life of the lease or the
estimated useful life of the asset. Useful livasgdorposes of computing depreciation are as follows

Years
Buildings and improvements 5-4Q
Machinery and equipme 3-1C
Furniture and fixture 5-1C
Vehicles 3-5

We remove the cost of property and equipment sotétored and the related accumulated deprecidtam the accounts at the time of
disposition and include any resulting gain or livsthe consolidated statements of operations. Véegehmaintenance, repairs, and minor
replacements to operations as incurred, and weatiapi and amortize major replacements and imprevasiover their useful lives.

Goodwill

We account for goodwill in accordance with FASB Aanting Standards Codification 350, “IntangibléScodwill and Other” (“ASC
3507), which provides that the excess of cost aatrassets of businesses acquired is recordecdsvilo The acquisitions of Bassett Marine,
LLC and Parker Boat Company resulted in goodwil$802,000. In accordance with ASC 350, we revieadyall for impairment at least
annually and whenever events or changes in cirames indicate that the carrying value may noebeverable. Our annual impairment test
is performed during the fourth fiscal quarter.hétcarrying amount of goodwill exceeds its fairnalve would recognize an impairment loss ir
accordance with ASC 350. As of September 30, 28i48,based upon our most recent analysis, we detedniirough our qualitative
assessment that it is not “more likely than noétttine fair values of our reporting units are liss their carrying values. As a result, we were
not required to perform the two-step goodwill imrpaent test.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

FASB Accounting Standards Codification 360-10-4@dperty, Plant, and Equipment - Impairment or Désp of Long-Lived
Assets” (“ASC 360-10-40"), requires that long-livasisets, such as property and equipment and pecth#angibles subject to amortization,
be reviewed for impairment whenever events or chamg circumstances indicate that the carrying athofian asset may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of the asset is measured by compauds its carrying amount to undiscounted futureazesh flows the asset is expected to
generate. If such assets are considered to bermapaie impairment to be recognized is measurg¢keaamount by which the carrying amount
of the asset exceeds its fair market value. Estismat expected future cash flows represent ourdstshate based on currently available
information and reasonable and supportable assangtAny impairment recognized in accordance wiBCA360-10-40 is permanent and may
not be restored. Based upon our most recent aralysibelieve no impairment of long-lived asseisted at September 30, 2013.

Customer Deposits

Customer deposits primarily include amounts reakivem customers toward the purchase of boats. &egnize these deposits as
revenue upon delivery to or acceptance by of tlete@ boats to customers.
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Insurance

We retain varying levels of risk relating to theumance policies we maintain, most significantlyrkess’ compensation insurance and
employee medical benefits. We are responsible®ictaims and losses incurred under these progtamnited by per occurrence deductibles
and paid claims or losses up to pre-determined maxi exposure limits. Our third-party insurance ieasrpay any losses above the pre-
determined exposure limits. We estimate our ligbftbr incurred but not reported losses using astohnical loss experience, our judgment, anc

industry information.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from boat, motor, and traéées, and parts and service operations at thethienleoat, motor, trailer, or part is
delivered to or accepted by the customer or thaeeis completed. We recognize deferred revenum Bervice operations and slip and sto
services on a straight-line basis over the terth@icontract or when service is completed. We neizegcommissions earned from a brokerage
sale at the time the related brokerage transactames. We recognize commissions earned by uddomg notes with financial institutions in
connection with customer boat financing when wegeize the related boat sales. We recognize matkéties earned on credit life, accident,
disability, gap, and hull insurance products soldHird-party insurance companies at the laterust@mer acceptance of the insurance produc
as evidenced by contract execution or when théeetlboat sale is recognized. Pursuant to negotageeements with financial and insurance
institutions, we are charged back for a portiothese fees should the customer terminate or dedauthe related finance or insurance contrac
before it is outstanding for a stipulated minimueripd of time. We base the chargeback allowancéhmiias not material to the consolidated
financial statements taken as a whole as of Sege8®) 2013, on our experience with repaymentstaudts on the related finance or

insurance contracts.

We also recognize commissions earned on extendgantya service contracts sold on behalf of thirdip@surance companies at the
later of customer acceptance of the service canteatis as evidenced by contract execution or ngitiog of the related boat sale. We are
charged back for a portion of these commissionsishihe customer terminate or default on the sergantract prior to its scheduled maturity.
We determine the chargeback allowance, which wasaterial to the consolidated financial statemégiten as a whole as of September 30,
2013, based upon our experience with terminatiortefaults on the service contracts.

The following table sets forth percentages of @wenue generated by certain products and ser¥aresach of last three fiscal years.

2011 2012 2013
New boat sale 60.€% 62.7% 61.%
Used boat sale 19.(% 17.8% 19.4%
Maintenance, repair, storage, and charter ser 8.£% 8.2% 8.C%
Finance and insurance produ 2.7% 2.8% 2.8%
Parts and accessori 6.2% 6.C% 5.5%
Brokerage service 2.6% 2.0% 2.4%
Total Revenut 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for our stock-based compensation plaimiing the provisions of FASB Accounting Standafodification 718,
“Compensation — Stock Compensation” (*“ASC 718")aktordance with ASC 718, we use the Black-Scha&sation model for valuing all
stock-based compensation and shares purchasedaurdemployee Stock Purchase Plan. We measure cwatien for restricted stock
awards and restricted stock units at fair valu¢ghengrant date based on the number of shares exptectvest and the quoted market price o
common stock. For restricted stock units with madanditions, we utilize a Monte Carlo simulationteedded in a lattice model to determine
the fair value. We recognize compensation costficewards in operations, net of estimated forfeis,ion a straigHtne basis over the requis
service period for each separately vesting poiaihe award.
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Advertising and Promotional Costs

We expense advertising and promotional costs asred and include them in selling, general, andiattnative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatiRursuant to ASC 605-50, we net amounts receivagshynder our co-op assistance
programs from our manufacturers against the relativ@rtising expenses. Total advertising and pramnat expenses approximated $11.2
million, $9.5 million, and $9.8 million, net of led co-op assistance of approximately $364,0080,880, and $419,000, for the fiscal years
ended September 30, 2011, 2012, and 2013, resplgctiv

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with FA8Bounting Standards Codification 740, “Income &siX(“ASC 740”). Under
ASC 740, we recognize deferred tax assets andifiebifor the future tax consequences attributableemporary differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existinge#s and liabilities and their respective tax basfs measure deferred tax assets and liab
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxabbme in the years in which we expect those teary differences to be recovered or
settled. We record valuation allowances to reduredeferred tax assets to the amount expected ttedlieed by considering all available
positive and negative evidence.

Pursuant to ASC 740, we must consider all posdive negative evidence regarding the realizatiashefdrred tax assets, including past
operating results and future sources of taxablenme Under the provisions of ASC 740-10, we deteeabithat our net deferred tax asset
needed to be fully reserved given recent earningsradustry trends.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subjectasoncentrations of credit risk, consist prindipaf cash and cash equivalents and
accounts receivable. Concentrations of creditwigk respect to our cash and cash equivalentdraiedl primarily to amounts held with
financial institutions. Concentrations of credgkriarising from our receivables are limited prifyatd amounts due from manufacturers and
financial institutions.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amount of our financial instrumentpragimates fair value resulting from either lentghmaturity or existence of interest
rates that approximate prevailing market ratesasntgherwise disclosed in these consolidated finhatatements.

Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of consolidated financial stateméntonformity with accounting principles geneyalccepted in the United States
requires us to make estimates and assumptionaffeat the reported amounts of assets and liaslgind disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated finahstatements and the reported amounts of reveangesxpenses during the reporting periods.
Significant estimates made by us in the accompangimsolidated financial statements relate to \tanallowances, valuation of goodwill
and intangible assets, valuation of long-lived tsssend valuation of accruals. Actual results califtér materially from those estimates.

F-12



Table of Contents

3. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE:

Trade receivables consist primarily of receivalfitem financial institutions, which provide fundirigr customer boat financing and
amounts due from financial institutions earned framanging financing with our customers. We norgnaéillect these receivables within
30 days of the sale. Trade receivables also incimd@unts due from customers on the sale of boatts,gervice, and storage. Amounts due
from manufacturers represent receivables for varinanufacturer programs and parts and service penfermed pursuant to the

manufacturers’ warranties.

The allowance for uncollectible receivables, whigs not material to the consolidated financialestents as of September 30, 2012 or
2013, was based on our consideration of customengat practices, past transaction history withaugrs, and economic conditions. When
an account becomes uncollectable, we expensaibad debt and we credit payments subsequentliveec® the bad debt expense account.
We review the allowance for uncollectible receiabivhen an event or other change in circumstaesedis in a change in the estimate of the

ultimate collectability of a specific account.

Accounts receivable, net consisted of the follonan@&eptember 30,

Trade receivable
Amounts due from manufacture
Other receivable

4. INVENTORIES:

Inventories, net, consisted of the following at teefber 30,

New boats, motors, and traile
Used boats, motors, and traili
Parts, accessories, and ot

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:
Property and equipment consisted of the followin§eptember 30,

Land

Buildings and improvemen
Machinery and equipme
Furniture and fixture
Vehicles

Accumulated depreciation and amortizat

2012 2013
(Amounts in thousands)
$ 11,34¢ $ 14,98:
7,061 4,06(

411 36¢€

$ 18,82( $ 19,41(

2012 2013
(Amounts in thousands)

$179,21( $189,61¢
29,421 31,70:
6,48:¢ 6,722
$215,12( $228,04:

2012 2013

(Amounts in thousands)
$ 41,05( $ 40,93¢

79,54( 81,21
25,401 26,33
3,90¢ 4,65¢
4,761 4,94F
154,66: 158,08
(55,86¢) (57,74)

$ 98,79¢ $100,33¢

Depreciation and amortization expense on propertyeuipment totaled approximately $6.5 million,48@illion, and $6.8 million for the

fiscal years ended September 30, 2011, 2012, ah8l, 28spectively.
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6. OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS:

During February 2006, we became party to a joimtwes with Brunswick that acquired certain reahtsstaind assets of Great American
Marina for an aggregate purchase price of approely&11.0 million, of which we contributed apprmately $4.0 million and Brunswick
contributed approximately $7.0 million. The ternighee agreement specify that we operate and maitit@i service business and that
Brunswick operate and maintain the marina busirfgissultaneously with the closing, the acquiredtgriiecame Gulfport Marina, LLC
(“Gulfport”). We account for our investment in Gpidfrt in accordance with FASB Accounting Standarddification 323, “Investment —

Equity Method and Joint Venture”. Accordingly, wdjwast the carrying amount of our investment in @ait to recognize our share of earnings
or losses, based on the service business we op€hsearrying amount of our investment is includedther long-term assets on the
consolidated balance sheets, and our share oathéngs or losses based on the service business¢haperate are included in selling, genera
and administrative expenses on the consolidatéeinseants of operations.

7. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS:

In June 2013, we entered into an amendment tormentory Financing Agreement (the “Amended Creditiity”), originally entered
into in June 2010, as subsequently amended, witlic@Bmercial Distribution Finance Corporation. Thed 2013 amendment extended the
maturity date of the Credit Facility to June 2046bject to additional extension for two one-yeaiqaks, with lender approval. The June 2013
amendment, among other things, also added addifemders and modified the amount of borrowing Eallity, interest rate, and maturity
date of the Credit Facility. The Amended Creditifgrovides a floor plan financing commitment @b to $205 million, an increase from the
previous limit of $150 million, subject to borrovgbase availability resulting from the amount agthg of our inventory.

The Amended Credit Facility has certain financ@alenants as specified in the agreement. The coteimaiude provisions that our
leverage ratio must not exceed 2.75 to 1.0 andatlnaturrent ratio must be greater than 1.2 toAtGBeptember 30, 2013, we were in
compliance with all of the covenants under the AdeshCredit Facility. The interest rate for amouwnitstanding under the Amended Credit
Facility is now 355 basis points above the one-imdwaindon Inter-Bank Offering Rate (“LIBOR”) a redian of 28 basis points from the prior
amendment. There is an unused line fee of ten pasits on the unused portion of the Amended Ciealility.

Advances under the Amended Credit Facility areatatl by the acquisition of eligible new and usecitory or are re-advances against
eligible new and used inventory that have beeriglgrpaid-off. Advances on new inventory will generally magtur,081 days from the origin
invoice date. Advances on used inventory will matB81 days from the date we acquire the used ioweriEach advance is subject to a
curtailment schedule, which requires that we payrdthe balance of each advance on a periodic bteiing after six months. The curtailm
schedule varies based on the type and value afvleatory. The collateral for the Amended Creditikigy is all of our personal property with
certain limited exceptions. None of our real estete been pledged for collateral for the Amendezti€ Facility.

We were also a party to an Inventory Financing &grent (the “CGI Facility”) with CGI Finance, In¢QGI”). The CGI Facility
provided a floor plan financing commitment of $30lion and was designed to provide financing for dzimut Yacht inventory needs. The
CGl Facility was not renewed by the Company andreggn August 2013; however, existing advanceseutide CGI Facility can remain
outstanding for up to 18 months. The interest f@t@mounts outstanding under the CGI Facility5® Basis points above the one month
London Inter-Bank Offering Rate. Azimut Yacht intery is now financed under the Amended Credit Fscil

As of September 30, 2012 and 2013, our indebtediesxciated with financing our inventory and wogk@apital needs totaled
approximately $120.6 million and $122.5 millionspectively. At September 30, 2012 and 2013, therést rate on the outstanding short-term
borrowings was approximately 4.0% and 3.7%. At Seytter 30, 2013, our additional available borrowingder our Amended Credit Facility
were approximately $34.8 million based upon thestauiding borrowing base availability. The agingof inventory limits our borrowing
capacity as defined curtailments reduce the alldsvatlvance rate as our inventory ages.
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As is common in our industry, we receive interesistance directly from boat manufacturers, inclgdsrunswick. The interest
assistance programs vary by manufacturer, but géyénclude periods of free financing or reducaterest rate programs. The interest
assistance may be paid directly to us or our leddpending on the arrangements the manufacturerdtablished. We classify interest
assistance received from manufacturers as a reduztinventory cost and related cost of salespg®sed to netting the assistance against ou
interest expense incurred with our lenders.

The availability and costs of borrowed funds caveasely affect our ability to obtain adequate bogéntory and the holding costs of ti
inventory as well as the ability and willingnessoof customers to finance boat purchases. At SdqeB0, 2013, we had no long-term debt.
However, we rely on our Amended Credit Facilityptorchase our inventory of boats. The aging of nuemtory limits our borrowing capacity
as defined curtailments reduce the allowable advaate as our inventory ages. Our access to fumdisrwour Amended Credit Facility also
depends upon the ability of our lenders to meet thading commitments, particularly if they expance shortages of capital or experience
excessive volumes of borrowing requests from ottarig a short period of time. A continuation efpdessed economic conditions, weak
consumer spending, turmoil in the credit markatsl, lender difficulties, among other potential reasaould interfere with our ability to utili:
our Amended Credit Facility to fund our operatioAry inability to utilize our Amended Credit Fagylicould require us to seek other sources
of funding to repay amounts outstanding under teditagreements or replace or supplement ourtcagdeements, which may not be possible
at all or under commercially reasonable terms.

Similarly, decreases in the availability of credlitd increases in the cost of credit adversely affecability of our customers to purchase
boats from us and thereby adversely affect ouitglhd sell our products and impact the profitailbf our finance and insurance activities.
Tight credit conditions during fiscal 2009, 2018d&2011 adversely affected the ability of custonterfinance boat purchases, which had a
negative effect on our operating results.

8. INCOME TAXES:
The components of our benefit from income taxesisted of the following for the fiscal years end®ahtember 30,

2011 2012 2013
(Amounts in thousands)

Current benefit

Federa $(235) $(11€) $ 101

State (132) (60) (995)

Total current benef (367) $(17€) $(8949)
Deferred benefit

Federa — — —

State — — —

Total deferred benef — — —
Total income tax benet $(367) $(17€) $(894)

Below is a reconciliation of the statutory feddaredome tax rate to our effective tax rate for tisedl years ended September 30,

2011 2012 2013

Federal tax (benefit) provision (35.0% 35.(% 35.(%
State taxes, net of federal effi (6.9% (16.9% (0.7%
Stock based compensati 0.7% 7.5% 0.6%
Valuation allowanct 39.5% (50.2% (45.0%
Federal NOL carrybac (2.00% (12.0% 0.C%
Foreign rate differentic 0.C% 15.0% 2.S%
Other 0.5% 2.7% 0.%%

Effective tax rate (3.1)% (19.0% (6.9%
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Deferred income taxes reflect the impact of tempodifferences between the amount of assets ahiiiti@s recognized for financial
reporting purposes and such amounts recognizéddome tax purposes. The tax effects of these temnpdifferences representing the
components of deferred tax assets (liabilitie§egtember 30,

2012 2013
(Amounts in thousands)
Current deferred tax asse

Inventories $ 1,64¢ $ 1,49«
Accrued expense 651 1,26¢
Current deferred tax asst 2,29t 2,762
Valuation allowanct (2,299 (2,769
Net current deferred tax ass $ — $ —
Long-term deferred tax asse
Depreciation and amortizatic $ 11,94t $ 8,27t
Stock based compensati 4,17 4,21¢
FIN 48 deferred tax ass 482 70
Tax loss carryforward 29,19¢ 26,72¢
Other 182 294
Long-term deferred tax asse 45,98: 39,58!
Valuation allowanct (45,989 (39,58)
Net lon¢-term deferred tax asse $ — $ —

Pursuant to ASC 740, we must consider all posdive negative evidence regarding the realizatiahefdrred tax assets, including past
operating results and future sources of taxablenre Under the provisions of ASC 740, we determithed a full valuation allowance was
needed given cumulative losses in recent yearsigixg) the Deepwater Horizon recoveries. The taahlation allowance at September 30,
2012 and 2013 was $48.3 million and $42.3 milli@spectively.

Under ASC 740, the impact of an uncertain tax pmsitaken or expected to be taken on an incomestaxn must be recognized in the
financial statements at the largest amount thatose likely than not to be sustained upon audith@yrelevant taxing authority. An uncertain
income tax position will not be recognized in theahcial statements unless it is more likely thahaf being sustained. As of September 30,
2012 and 2013, we had approximately $1.5 milliod $224,000, respectively, of gross unrecognizedemnefits, of which approximately
$1.0 million and $154,000, respectively, if recamd, would impact the effective tax rate beforesidering a change in valuation allowance.

The reconciliation of the total amount recordedunrecognized tax benefits at the beginning andoéide fiscal years ended
September 30, 2012 and 2013 is as follows:

2012 2013
(Amounts in thousands)
Unrecognized tax benefits at the beginning of ther $ 1,581 $ 1,49¢
Increases in tax positions for prior ye 4€ 34
Decreases in tax positions for prior ye (32 (1,309)
Lapse of statute of limitatior (97 0
Unrecognized tax benefits at September $ 1,49¢ $ 224
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Consistent with our prior practices, we recognigeriest and penalties related to uncertain taXipasias a component of income tax
expense. As of September 30, 2012 and 2013, intnespenalties represented approximately $673000100,000, respectively, of the gi
unrecognized tax benefits.

We are subject to tax by both federal and stat@gaxuthorities. Until the respective statutesimithtions expire, we are subject to
income tax audits in the jurisdictions in which agerate. We are no longer subject to U.S. fedaraékaminations for fiscal years prior to
2010, and we are not subject to audits prior t20@9 fiscal year for the majority of the statagdictions.

It is reasonably possible that a change to thé amt@unt of unrecognized tax benefits could ocouhe next 12 months based on
examinations by tax authorities, the expiratiostatutes of limitations, or potential settlemerftsutstanding positions.

9. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:

In November 2005, our Board of Directors approvethare repurchase plan allowing our company torofyase up to 1,000,000 shares
of our common stock. Under the plan, we may buklzaenmon stock from time to time in the open madkeh privately negotiated blocks,
dependent upon various factors, including price arallability of the shares, and general market@mns. Through September 30, 2013, we
had purchased an aggregate of 790,900 shares afi@orstock under the plan for an aggregate purghase of approximately $15.8 million.

10. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION:

We account for our stock-based compensation plaimifing the provisions of FASB Accounting Standafdodification 718,
“Compensation — Stock Compensation” (*“ASC 718")aktordance with ASC 718, we use the Black-Schal&sation model for valuing all
stock-based compensation and shares purchasedaurdemployee Stock Purchase Plan. We measure cwatien for restricted stock
awards and restricted stock units at fair valu¢hengrant date based on the number of shares exptcvest and the quoted market price o
common stock. For restricted stock units with madanditions, we utilize a Monte Carlo simulationigedded in a lattice model to determine
the fair value. We recognize compensation costifficewards in operations, net of estimated forfeisiion a straigHtne basis over the requis
service period for each separately vesting poiaihe award.

Cash received from option exercises under all shased compensation arrangements for the fiscas yaled September 30, 2011,
2012, and 2013 was approximately $1.4 million, $tiion, and $3.3 million, respectively. There wero tax benefits realized for tax
deductions from option exercises for the fiscalrgended September 30, 2011, 2012, and 2013. Wentlyrexpect to satisfy share-based
awards with registered shares available to be éssue

11. THE INCENTIVE STOCK PLANS:

During February 2013, our stockholders approvetbagsal to amend the 2011 Stock-Based Compendakion(“2011 Plan”) to
increase the 1,200,456 share threshold by 1,00G0&&s to 2,200,456 shares. During January 2@t ktockholders approved a proposal to
authorize our 2011 Plan, which replaced our 20@@éntive Compensation Plan (“2007 Plan”). Our 20EhProvides for the grant of stock
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted Istatock units, bonus stock, dividend equivaleatser stock related awards, and performance
awards (collectively “awards”), that may be setiledash, stock, or other property. Our 2011 Psagheisigned to attract, motivate, retain, and
reward our executives, employees, officers, dimsctand independent contractors by providing swrhgns with annual and long-term
performance incentives to expend their maximumreffim the creation of stockholder value. Subsetjtethe February 2013 amendment
described above, the total number of shares ofoommon stock that may be subject to awards un@e2@i1 Plan is equal to 2,000,000 shi
plus (i) any shares available for issuance andubject to an award under the 2007 Plan, which2083456 shares at the time of approval of
the 2011 Plan, (ii) the number of shares with resfewhich awards granted under the 2011 Plantlze@007 Plan terminate without the
issuance of the shares or where the shares aeitéorbr repurchased; (iii) with respect to awayadmted under the 2011 Plan and the 2007
Plan, the number of shares that are not issuedesuli of the award being settled for cash ormtrs® not issued in connection with the
exercise or payment of the award; and (iv) the remalp shares that are surrendered or withheld ymeat of the exercise price of any award
or any tax withholding requirements in connectidthvany award granted under the 2011 Plan and@6& Plan. The 2011 Plan terminates in
January 2021, and awards may be granted at anydtimieg the life of the 2011 Plan. The date on \ntdgvards vest are determined by the
Board of Directors or the Plan Administrator. TheslBd of Directors has appointed the Compensatianr@ittee as the Plan Administrator.
The exercise prices of options are determined &\Biard of Directors or the Plan Administrator anel at least equal to the fair market value
of shares of common stock on the date of grant.tétre of options under the 2011 Plan may not exteregears. The options granted have
varying vesting periods. To date, we have notesbibr been under any obligation to settle any asvardash.
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The following table summarizes option activity fr@&@eptember 30, 2012 through September 30, 2013:

Weighted
Aggregate Weighted Average
Intrinsic Remaining
Shares Value Average Contractual
Available Options (in Exercise
for Grant Outstanding thousands Price Life
Balance at September 30, 2012 1,062,44: 2,507,680 $ 4,58t $ 9.8¢ 6.5
Options authorize 1,000,001 — —
Options grante: (572,25() 572,25( $ 7.62
Options cancelled/forfeited/expirt 273,89 (273,89 $ 11.2%
Restricted stock awards forfeit 23,44. — —
Options exercise — (504,400) $ 5.3¢
Balance at September 30, 2( 1,787,53 2,301,63i $10,41¢ $ 10.1¢ 6.5
Exercisable at September 30, 2( 1,795,32 $ 793¢ $ 10.9¢ 5.6

The weighted-average grant date fair value of mtigranted during the fiscal years ended SepteBthe2011, 2012, and 2013 was
$5.15, $4.30, and $4.49, respectively. The totainsic value of options exercised during the fisears ended September 30, 2011, 2012, an
2013 was approximately $766,000, $1.4 million, & million, respectively.

As of September 30, 2012 and 2013, there were appabtely $921,000 and $980,000, respectively, séaagnized compensation costs
related to norvested options that are expected to be recognizedaoweighted average period of 1.9 years ange&aés, respectively. The tc
fair value of options vested during the fiscal yeanded September 30, 2011, 2012, and 2013 wasxapptely $4.1 million, $3.1 million, and
$2.5 million, respectively.

We used the Black-Scholes model to estimate tmevéiie of options granted. The expected term ¢tibop granted is derived from the
output of the option pricing model and represeinésperiod of time that options granted are expeittde outstanding. Volatility is based on
the historical volatility of our common stock. Thgk-free rate for periods within the contractuei of the options is based on the
U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the timegrdnt.

The following are the weighted-average assumptisesl for the fiscal years ended September 30,

2011 2012 2013
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rat 1.3% 0.8% 0.6%
Volatility 94.9% 89.9% 80.1%
Expected life 44year 45year 4.3year
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12. EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN:

During February 2012, our stockholders approvetbagsal to amend our 2008 Employee Stock Purchiase(FStock Purchase Plan”)
to increase the number of shares available undg¢ipthn by 500,000 shares. The Stock PurchaseaBlamended provides for up to 1,000,000
shares of common stock to be available for purchgsmur regular employees who have completed at @ year of continuous service. In
addition, there were 52,837 shares of common siwakable under our 1998 Employee Stock Purchaee, Rihich have been made available
for issuance under our Stock Purchase Plan. Trek $torchase Plan provides for implementation ofoup0 annual offerings beginning on the
first day of October starting in 2008, with eacfeahg terminating on September 30 of the followyegar. Each annual offering may be divi
into two six-month offerings. For each offeringe thurchase price per share will be the lower %6 of the closing price of the common
stock on the first day of the offering or (ii) 858%the closing price of the common stock on thé d&ay of the offering. The purchase price is
paid through periodic payroll deductions not toeed 10% of the participant’s earnings during edfdriag period. However, no participant
may purchase more than $25,000 worth of commorkstonually.

We used the Black-Scholes model to estimate tmevédiie of options granted to purchase sharesdsguesuant to the Stock Purchase
Plan. The expected term of options granted is ddrfrom the output of the option pricing model aapresents the period of time that options
granted are expected to be outstanding. Volat#ityased on the historical volatility of our comnsinck. The risk-free rate for periods within
the contractual term of the options is based onl® Treasury yield curve in effect at the timegdnt.

The following are the weighted-average assumptiesl for the fiscal years ended September 30,

2011 2012 2013
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rat 0.2% 0.1% 0.1%
Volatility 48.9% 51.8% 54.8%
Expected life Six month: Six month: Six month:

As of September 30, 2013, we had issued 596,03@slbd common stock under our Stock Purchase Plan.

13. RESTRICTED STOCK AWARDS:

We have granted non-vested (restricted) stock asv@rdstricted stock”) and restricted stock uni8gUs”) to certain key employees
pursuant to the 2011 Plan and the 2007 Plan. ®igated stock awards have varying vesting peribdsgenerally become fully vested at
either the end of year four or the end of year,fdepending on the specific award. Certain resiistock awards granted in fiscal 2008
required certain levels of performance by us byt&aper 2011 before they were earned: these metaos not met, and the awards were
forfeited. Certain RSUs granted in fiscal 2010, 0dnd 2012 require a minimum level of performaoiceur stock price compared with an
index over designated time periods from the grame defore they are earned, or the awards wilbHeifed. The stock underlying the RSUs
will be delivered upon vesting. The performancerioeffor the RSUs granted in fiscal 2010 were net by the September 2012 measuremen
date, and the awards were forfeited. The performanetrics for the RSUs granted in fiscal 2011 weet by the September 2013 measuret
date, and the awards were earned.
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We accounted for the restricted stock awards gdaméeng the measurement and recognition provisibdsSC 718. Accordingly, the fair
value of the restricted stock awards is measureti@grant date and recognized in earnings overeitpaisite service period for each separe
vesting portion of the award.

The following table summarizes restricted stock mativity from September 30, 2012 through Sepend®, 2013:

Weighted

Average

Grant Date

Shares Fair Value

Non-vested balance at September 30, 2012 124,10t $ 6.62
Changes during the peri

Awards vestel (35,99¢) $ 7.4

Awards forfeitec (23,449 $ 6.5

Non-vested balance at September 30, 2 64,67( $ 6.0

As of September 30, 2013, we had approximately RI0gbof total unrecognized compensation cost rélataon-vested restricted stock
awards. We expect to recognize that cost over ghteil-average period of 1.1 years.

14. NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE:

The following is a reconciliation of the sharesdigethe denominator for calculating basic andtdiinet income (loss) per share for the
fiscal years ended September 30,

2011 2012 2013
Weighted average common shares outstanding ussddulating basic
income (loss) per sha 22,375,27 22,740,98 23,253,99
Effect of dilutive option: — 594,93. 749,73t
Weighted average common and common equivalent shiges in
calculating diluted income (loss) per sh 22,375,27 23,335,91 24,003,72

During the fiscal years ended September 30, 20d28t3, there were 1,546,207 and 1,728,042 weightethge shares of options
outstanding, respectively, that were not includethe computation of diluted income (loss) per stscause the options’ exercise prices wer
greater than the average market price of our comstak, and therefore, their effect would be ailtittve. For the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2011, no options were included irctimeputation of diluted loss per share becausesperted a net loss and the effect of their
inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES:
Lease Commitments

We lease certain land, buildings, machinery, eqeiptmand vehicles related to our dealerships undefcancelable third-party operating
leases. Certain of our leases include optionsedioewal periods and provisions for escalation. Rexjgenses, including month-to-month
rentals, were approximately $6.1 million, $5.1 foill, and $5.4 million for the fiscal years ende@i®enber 30, 2011, 2012, and 2013,
respectively.
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Future minimum lease payments under non-cancetgd@sating leases at September 30, 2013, werelas/ol

(Amounts in thousands

2014 $ 5,25¢
2015 4,05
2016 3,18¢
2017 2,367
2018 1,701
Thereaftel 1,53¢
Total $ 18,09¢

Other Commitments and Contingencies

We are party to various legal actions arising edhdinary course of business. In addition, cerfiaimer shareholders of Surfside - 3
Marina, Inc., a company we acquired in March 200&qd a lawsuit naming our company as defendane [wsuit alleges a failure to timely
lift stock transfer restrictions on stock acquilsdthe plaintiffs in the acquisition, which alledgdelayed the plaintiffs from selling the shares.
The court has entered judgment in our favor andrthtter is currently pending appeal. While it i$ feasible to determine the actual outcome
of these actions as of September 30, 2013, wevedliat these matters should not have a matenairad effect on our consolidated financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

In fiscal 2013 we recognized a recovery of appratety $11.8 million from the Deepwater Horizon &ettent Program for damages
suffered as a result of the Deepwater Horizon Qill.SThe recovery was recorded as a reductiorelting), general, and administrative expel
on our consolidated statements of operations. Wadt#tional claims are outstanding, we cannot bageof the amount of any further
recovery.

During fiscal 2011, 2012, and 2013, we incurred<associated with store closings and lease tetioimsaof approximately $750,000,
$350,000, and $162,000, respectively. These costaply related to the future minimum operatingde payments of the closed locations.
store closings were a key component in our effolddtter match our fixed costs with the declinesitail business caused by the soft economic
conditions. The store closing costs have been dedun selling, general, and administrative expems¢he consolidated statements of
operations during fiscal 2011, 2012, and 2013.

In connection with our workers’ compensation inswepolicies, we maintain a letter of credit in #mount of $800,000 with our policy
holder. The letter of credit is collateralized bygeatificate of deposit held by the bank that issthee letter of credit. The certificate of depasit
classified as cash and cash equivalents in thexgzaoying consolidated balance sheets as of Septe3@b2013.

We are subject to federal and state environmeetpllations, including rules relating to air and evagdollution and the storage and
disposal of gasoline, oil, other chemicals and wiaste believe that we are in compliance with segjulations.

16. EMPLOYEE 401(k) PROFIT SHARING PLANS:

Employees are eligible to participate in our 40 Rk)fit Sharing Plan (the “Plan”) following thei®9lay introductory period starting
either April 1 or October 1, provided that they afeyears of age. Under the Plan, we match 25%icipants’ contributions, up to a
maximum of 5% of each participant’s compensatioe. &ntributed, under the Plan, or pursuant to pre/similar plans, approximately
$283,000, $298,000, and $440,000 for the fiscatsyeaded September 30, 2011, 2012, and 2013, tesec

17. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED):

The following table sets forth certain unauditeduderly financial data for each of our last eighagers. The information has been
derived from unaudited financial statements thabeléeve reflect all adjustments, consisting orfljormal recurring adjustments, necessary
for the fair presentation of such quarterly finah@hformation.
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December 31 September 3C  December 31 September 3C
March 31, June 30, March 31, June 30,
2011 2012 2012 2012 2012 2013 2013 2013
(Amounts in thousands except share and per share g
Revenue $ 91,780 $ 14399. $ 151,33 $ 137,34 $ 99,05 $ 160,006 $ 17575t $ 149,68:
Cost of sale 66,21! 109,61- 111,04( 104,30¢ 72,77¢ 122,35¢ 128,94¢ 109,56
Gross profil 25,57 34,37¢ 40,29( 33,04 26,27¢ 37,65( 46,80" 40,11¢
Selling, general, and administrative expetr 28,57( 30,99« 34,65¢ 33,69( 29,44 36,10( 33,04° 33,91¢
(Loss) income from operatiol (2,99¢€) 3,38¢ 5,631 (649) (3,16%) 1,55( 13,76( 6,20:
Interest expens 1,217 1,20:¢ 1,01¢ 1,00¢ 997 1,16¢ 1,19: 862
(Loss) income before income tax ben
(provision) (4,217 2,181 4,611 (2,65¢) (4,162) 384 12,56° 5,341
Income tax benefit (provisior — 11€ — 60 — (4C) 1,07( (136)
Net (loss) incom: $ (4,219 $ 2297 $ 4617 $ (1,599 $ (4,167 $ 344 $ 1363 $ 5,20t
Net (loss) income per shai
Diluted $ 019 $ 01C $ 02( $ 0.0 $ (0.18) $ 0.01 $ 05¢ $ 0.21
Weighted average number of sha
Diluted 22,592,337 23,253,52 23,515,73 22,906,72 22,955,71 24,019,40 24,177,02 24,267,87
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Exhibit 10.32
NOTE: PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT INDICATED BY[****]” ARE SUBJECT TO A CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST, AN
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DEALERSHIP AGREEMENT

THIS DEALERSHIP AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made eftive on September 1, 2008 by and between AZIMENBTTI S.P.A., an
Italian corporation, (“AZIMUT") with offices locat at Via Michele Coppino 104, Viareggio (Luccaglyt and MARINEMAX
NORTHEAST, LLC, a Delaware limited liability compamd/b/a MARINEMAX SURFSIDE 3“DEALER”) with offices located at 18167 US
19 North, Suite 300, Clearwater, Florida 33764 (MEIT and DEALER sometimes referred to collectivebréin as the “Parties”).

In consideration of the mutual covenants contaime@in, AZIMUT and DEALER agree as follows:

PREAMBLE

A) DEALER possesses sufficient technical and conasiaécompetence in the field of the non commengiatoryacht industry to ensure
efficient distribution of such products in the Tigary (as hereafter definec

B) DEALER also possesses sufficient skills to ensuoenotion of AZIMUT Products (as hereafter definadbh the clientele and the displ
of these Products for sa

C) DEALER has the right to appoint subdealers @nagywithin the Territory subject to prior writtapproval by AZIMUT, which approval
will not be unreasonably withheld. In such a ca&ADER will remain directly responsible in respettAZIMUT for its subdealers
and/or agents activit

D) DEALER possesses or has at its disposal inetsifbry the technical installations and the skillabor necessary to ensure the launching
repair and complete service of AZIMI's Products as better specified in the DEALER Qigalifon Book.

E) AZIMUT requires DEALER to distribute the Prods@nd supplementary equipment manufactured by AZINbid to promote
effectively and efficiently their sales in the Tigary.

F) AZIMUT requires DEALER to follow DEALER QUALIFIGTION PROGRAM by fully complying with all rules, ahdards and
procedures stated in DEALER QUALIFICATION BOOK apgoof which has been delivered to DEALER and foansntegral part of
this Agreement a8ppendix 1. AZIMUT reserves the right to modify DEALER QUALIEATION BOOK at any time on prior written
notice to DEALER with modifications applicable tib dealers.
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DEFINITIONS

In addition to the definitions made in other partshis Agreement, the Parties agree that theviailg terms shall have the meaning hereinafte
defined:

Contractual Term The term of this Agreement shall tveo (2) yearsprovided, however, that at the end of each tweld (honth term
hereof, this Agreement shall be automatically reza¥or another twelve (12) months for so long afADER and AZIMUT are able to
agree in good faith on acceptable retail salessg@ald Dealer has good faith intentions to seelsties of at least “silver” as defined in
the Dealer Qualification Bool

DEALER Manager. The manager of DEALER next identified upon whpeesonal service AZIMUT relies in entering into the
Agreement. DEALER Manager: Andrew Schneider, or atiner individual appointed in MarineMax’s reasoleattiscretion that is
capable of leading DEALER in the performance of thgreement

DEALER Owner. DEALER Owner means the owner(s) of DEALER nexntified upon whose personal service AZIMUT relies
entering into the Agreement. DEALER Owner: Marinei

Exclusivity . DEALER has the exclusive right to sell the Praduo customers that, to the best of DEALER’S kremigie, will moor their
boat in the Territory for not less than one hundrigghty-one (181) days during the first twelve (12) morftosn delivery of the boa

This exclusivity is based upon the following twg EZIMUT engagements:

V.

VI.

VII.

1. No other dealer will be appointed in the Tersitand

2. No other dealer will be allowed to sell Produntthe Territory. Specifically, Azimut will usesittommercially reasonable best effort
restrict or prohibit other dealers from sellingoi@nother dealers territory, unless otherwise agpedween the dealers.

Notice. A certified letter with return receipt requestedif required by urgency, an e-mail or facsingl®vided receipt of such
communication is acknowledged in writing by thetpdo whom it is addressed. Notices shall be eiffeaipon receipt

Options. All components or equipment or customizationsiestied by DEALER which are not included in the dtad specification of
the relevant mode

Order Contract The order contract used between AZIMUT and DEALfBRthe confirmation of the purchase of each Pobda standar
copy of which is attached heretoAppendix 2.

VIII. Products. Boats manufactured by AZIMUT (listed Appendix 3 to this Agreement) sold with the trademark ‘AZIMUEII

supplementary equipment, accessories and spasegiatch boats, and clothing. AZIMUT reservesrtgbt to include in or exclude
from this list, at any time any boat model, or depgentary equipment, accessories and spare pastebfboats by simple written notice
to this effect no less than thirty (30) days ptinchange

Page 2 of 2t
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IX. Territory. The geographical area encompassed by the boesdd#rMaryland to Maine

X.  Trademarks The trademark AZIMUT and all other trademarks ehhare or will be registered on behalf of AZIMUTg@arrent copy of
which is reproduced and described in DEALER Quadifion Book.

ARTICLE |
LEGAL STATUS OF DEALER

1.1. DEALER has the right to purchase and to sZIMUT Products on its own name and for its own asdoDEALER has the status of
independent DEALER v-a-vis AZIMUT and vis-a-vis customers

1.2 DEALER has the right to distribute the Produtthe Territory on an exclusive basis. It is gbli to promote sales of the Products in the
Territory in the most efficient manner, and to devibss commercially reasonable best efforts to tgveuch sales

1.3 DEALER engages itself not to promote/sell/distre products in competition with the AZIMUT Prads; provided, however, that this
shall not include any of the brands currently eattoy DEALER or its affiliates which DEALER and #ffiliates shall be permitted to s
unless agreed otherwise by Azimut in writii

1.4 DEALER is NOT authorized to act either in the naonas an agent of AZIMU1

1.5 DEALER has the duty to protect the interests of MEIT with all the diligence required of a good meanhand to inform AZIMUT of it
activity as well as the conditions of the markethia Territory.

ARTICLE Il
UNDERTAKING OF DEALER

2.1 DEALER has the duty to display the Productiéanmost apparent manner possible and under thefavasable conditions in its show
windows, show cases, display floors and any othergs visited by the clientele, to which DEALER Ilaasess either on a permanent or
provisional basis, to be determined in DEALER’Ss@@able judgment of what is most appropriate afettfe, after input and
consultation with Azimut if warrante:

2.2 DEALER shall not sell, promote or advertise sake of Products outside the Territory, excepuhlications with cross-territorial
distribution (in the latter, territory has to beesjjied as appropriate

Page 3 of 2t
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2.3  AZIMUT authorizes DEALER to make known to ilgeatele its status of AZIMUT exclusive importerdadistributor in the Territory.
DEALER may also use the term “AZIMUT exclusive inm@ and distributor for United States East CoamnfMaryland to Maine” on
its letterhead, signs, prospectus and advertisemBEALER acknowledges that AZIMUT has the exclesight to use and to control 1
use of the Trademarks, and but for the limited,-enclusive right granted for DEALER to use of theIMUT name and trademarks as
provided in this Agreement, DEALER would have nghtito use the sam

2.4 DEALER accepts and undertakes, with respeitted’roducts it will sell, to fulfill the obligatis set out in the “AZIMUT Warranty
Bookhere attached Appendix 4.

2.5 In purchasing each boat, DEALER and AZIMUT widecute an Order Contract where AZIMUT undertaléth respect to the Products
sold to DEALER, only the express warranty obliga§iwalid with respect to DEALER. It is here agrégdhe Parties that the terms and
conditions set out in the Order Contract may beifreztiby AZIMUT either generally or in respect afyaparticular Order Contract upon
prior written notice to Deale

2.6 DEALER shall carry in stock at all times durithg: term of the Agreement such inventory of Preslas DEALER’s volume of sales or
service may require. DEALER shall in no event cédess than the minimum Products established by ahaigreement between DEALE
and AZIMUT in good faith based on many factors urtlthg without limitation the strength of the econoim the Territory, Euro impact,
Azimut product availability and realistic potentfal growth, unless subsequently agreed to in mgithetween the parties in good faith.
DEALER’s required minimum Products inventory wilange as new Products are added to AZIMiAvailable products. The forecas
orders are attached hereto as Append

ARTICLE Il
CONDITIONS OF SALE AND TITLE

3.1 AZIMUT will supply DEALER with Products in so farseavailable, at the conditions set out in this it

3.2 Provided the entire Purchase Price and alr silnes due and owed by the buyer to AZIMUT in respé this Order have been paid in
full, title to the Yacht will be deemed to be tréarsed to the DEALER. The parties agree the DEAIERpay the purchase price for
each Product when the Product is ready for shipindtaly. AZIMUT shall retain risk of loss for theroduct until the Product is
physically delivered to DEALER in the designatedtpo the United States. AZIMUT shall be responsjldt its expense, to ship the
Product and to insure the Product to cover itsvallie until delivery to DEALER in the United Statend shall provide a certificate of
insurance upon shipment naming DEALER as an adhditimsured and loss paye

Page 4 of 2
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3.3 AZIMUT will sell the Products to DEALER usinbé prices resulting from the price list containedppendix 5 to this contract (the “
Price List ”). AZIMUT reserves the right to modify Prices ajmalble to future product purchases/orders by gibgALER thirty
(30) days prior written Notice. Prices are normatigdified by AZIMUT once a year effective as oftaf September, however, AZIMUT

reserves the right to modify its prices at any tilPeces are for delivery cost, insurance, andjfre
3.4 AZIMUT may, at its reasonable discretion, refasy requested modification to the orders. Modifans are valid only if accepted by
AZIMUT in writing.

3.5 DEALER will have the following discount strucéuon the Prices indicated in the Price List. DEARL&ill be granted the discount off the
option pricelist listed below

“ [****] n

3.6 FLOOR PLAN. AZIMUT recognizes DEALER six (6) mitn floor plan assistance for boats ordered inksto kept in inventory at an
interest rate equal to New York prime. In caseltbat is sold within the six (6) month period, theof plan will be recognized for the
effective time kept in stock. Upon request from DER, AZIMUT shall consider in good faith grantingtérest on trade inventor

For ordered boats already sold retail at the tifrtb@ shipment from ltaly, floor plan will be reauiged to DEALER at an interest rate
equal to New York prime for the time it takes tdivr the boat to the retail customer or a maxinfrsixty (60) days, whichever comes
first.

ARTICLE IV
FURTHER UNDERTAKINGS OF DEALER

4.1 DEALER has to make its commercially reasonablgt efforts in order to establish the best imag@ZIMUT in the Territory and to
promote the sales of Products and achieve the stiglinover thereir

4.2 DEALER must operate through at least one peemiaoifice to ensure an adequate promotion of tABMAJT Products at its own
expense. DEALER must within two (2) weeks from éxecution of this Agreement communicate to AZIMUTexe its offices are and,
when and where it will open its new offices if @ppble. DEALER undertakes to follow the rules anstiuctions set out in DEALER

Qualification Book in any refitting, restructuriragnd opening of any of its offices and yat

Page 5 of 2t
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4.3 Pursuant to the rules and instructions seinroDEALER Qualification Book, DEALER and all its tveork locations have to show an
“AZIMUT Yachts” sign where its offices or servicanrds are established subject to zoning laws andamdes and as soon as reasonabl
practicable

ARTICLE V
ADVERTISING

5.1 DEALER will promote the Product locally by orgaing VIP receptions, meetings and introductorgitails as better specified in
DEALER Quialification Book

5.2 DEALER shall be responsible for advertising/antharketing activity in the Territory and DEALERd AZIMUT shall mutually agree
on a marketing plan and budget for the contragteat. If an agreement is not reached on the bud@@kUT will establish the budget
based upon dealers in similar territories. The letiglgll define which costs are paid by AZIMUT or BEER with the intention that the
cost of all advertising and sales promotion adésgishall be borne by DEALER. Such advertising illperformed consistently with
AZIMUT’s advertising standards set out in DEALER d&ification Book. Upon request, DEALER will trangnd AZIMUT a copy of
each and every advertisement and/or marketing rahtkat it will use concerning the Products. DEAR Bcknowledges that AZIMUT
may request changes and deny the publication skthdvertisements and marketing material whiclilit@gasonably deem not in line
with AZIMUT standards as defined in DEALER Qualdtton Book

5.3 Prior to the expiration of the contractual year ADIER and AZIMUT will together review the expendituof the budget for advertising
determine any appropriate adjustments for the sulesd year

5.4 AZIMUT will provide DEALER with a sufficient nmber of brochures and marketing material which bélfree of charge for DEALER.
Further quantities will be sold “at cost”. Any digation will be strictly forbidden being understotidt in case of violation of this
instruction and/or violation of copyrights on amyage, content or right anyway connected to suclemniahDEALER will be fully liable
of damages and herein expressly undertakes toA®IRIUT harmless from any and all damages or claoming from third Parties or
such violations. Unless expressly regulated in DERLQualification Book, DEALER will be allowed to ply a sticker positioned
identifying DEALER on the back side of each AZIMpackaging, brochure or other marketing mate

5.5 Transportation costs of all brochures, markgtind promotional materials will be at DEALER’s o DEALER will receive on a
regular basis the invoices regarding the purchfpeomotional material and the transport costs.niayt shall be remitted by wire-
transfer to AZIMUT or deducted in the monthly wegempensatior
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5.6 Shipments of promotional material will be eittfeeight collect” or “freight prepaid” at DEALER choice. The method of shipment
selected by DEALER should be shown on the or

ARTICLE VI
BOAT SHOWS

6.1 During the Contractual Term, DEALER must attémel Miami Boat Show and the Ft. Lauderdale Boatvs(individually the “Show”
and collectively the “Shows®rganized by AZIMUT. DEALER agrees collectively tvithe DEALER of FL to provide full range of bo
to be displayed in each show as is feasible unléf&sently agreed with AZIMUT , which agreemeniadimot be unreasonably withheld.
At the Boat Show, DEALER will have the availabilibf a nonexclusive meeting room and all other facilitiesaaged by AZIMUT, sucl
as bar service in the display, brochures, orgaioizak assistance, et

6.2 DEALER must, at its own expenses, take paitsitocal boat show(s) that Dealer deems to besadié and arrange a display according
to the rules and instructions set out in DEALER [@ieation Book or if different according to the gielines that will from time to time |
agreed upon with AZIMU’s Sales and Marketing Departmel

ARTICLE VII
TERMS OF PAYMENT

7.1 Unless otherwise agreed in writing on a case bg basis, all Products must be paid by DEALER dsvid for all boat orders
Motoryacht75-100’ (including S line)
. Orders for stock
e $100,000 on Azimut acceptance of or
« $200,000 on starting laminatic
« balance upon delivery to carrier in Ite
Motoryacht 101’ — 116’ (including S line)
. Orders for stocl
e $100,000 on Azimut acceptance of or
«  $400,000 on starting laminatic
* balance upon delivery to carrier in Ite
Motortyacht 75’ — 116’ (including S line)
. Retail contracts
* 5% on Azimut acceptance of order following custoeescution of retail contrac
* 5% on engine installatio

< balance upon delivery to carrier in It
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AZIMUT shall be responsible for and bear all ridkass or damage and costs of shipping and inseréarche Products through delivery
at a United States port in New York or such othes.port designated by DEALER at DEALER's option.

Eventual request of cancellation of any valid oragred by DEALER will be reasonably evaluated byM@T and if accepted, deposit
will be allocated to another model as mutually adgrapon.

7.2 DEALER shall comply with the terms of paymetatted above, except for any amounts contested WLBR in good faith. Should
DEALER fail to comply with such terms of paymen#ZIMUT shall so notify DEALER in writing and DEALERhall so comply for all
uncontested amounts within five (5) business dagesifter, if not soone

ARTICLE VIII
PROTOCOL OF ACCEPTANCE AND CHECK LIST

8.1 According to the procedure set out in DEALERa{iication Book, before or after title to the bastransferred to DEALER according to
the provisions of Article 3.2 above, DEALER, witHiourteen (14) calendar days from the date wheibtia is delivered to Dealer in the
United State— must:

(i) sign the Protocol of Acceptance in the formaatin DEALER Qualification Book and deliver it &ZIMUT together with the
Check List.

(i) directly or through appointed experts, inspaatl identify any cosmetic defects and missing sterith respect to the relevant
contractual and technical specifications, accordinthe procedure set out in DEALER QualificationdR;

Provided however that such 14 day period shalbeneled for such time as reasonably necessaryay & caused by circumstances
beyond the control of the parties. Additionallythviespect to any latent defects or defects whielmat discovered upon initial
inspection, DEALER shall have the opportunity teritlfy and report and seek remedy of such defetisiing discovery thereof.
Further provided that DEALER will use its commelgi@easonable best effort to carry out the adigitdescribed under (i) and

(ii) hereabove in Viareggio for all boats built\areggio shipyard.

The risk of loss shall be borne by AZIMUT until dedry to Dealer at United States designated port.

8.2 Except as specifically provided herein or othse agreed between the parties, AZIMYBbligations to DEALER may never exceed
set out in the AZIMUT Warranty Book and the othermts and conditions contained in the relevant O@teitract.
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ARTICLE IX
CONDITIONS OF RESALE BY DEALER

9.1 Inreselling the Products DEALER shall reprégereach customer the contents and limits of tAEMUT Warranty Book and in the
resale agreement shall, to the extent applicablerence or provide the similar terms and condétioontained in the Order Contract
executed with AZIMUT for the Product to be resc

9.2 DEALER shall sell the Products in substantiftly same conditions as they are received byasaeable wear and tear and normal
installation of electronics and entertainment systexcepted, and shall not alter, remove or inveany tamper with any of the AZIMUT
Trademarks, marks or numbers on the Products. DERAWHE have the right to attach to the Productsidsne indicating DEALER is an
authorized distributor of AZIMUT

ARTICLE X
AFTER SALE ASSISTANCE, END CUSTOMER
WARRANTY AND ‘WARRANTY EXTENSION ' PACKAGE

10.1 Atits own expense DEALER shall organize aaintain an appropriate and adequate after-salstasse service in compliance with the
rules and instructions confirmed in DEALER Quakfiion Book.

10.2 - DEALER undertakes to provide assistance, atgler warranty, for all AZIMUT boats in portsmoarinas situated in the Territory, both
those sold by DEALER or otherwise, at the condgipnovided in DEALER Qualification Progral

10.3 - DEALER expressly accepts and undertakesiapty with the content of the AZIMUT Warranty Boek| with reference both to the
Warranty for Pleasure-boat Customers and to thedfigr for Professional Customers. For such purgos@ZIMUT Warranty Booklet
is annexed to this agreemetAppendix 4).

10.4 DEALER further expressly accepts all conditions amgited AZIMUT Warranty Extension Package descdlie the AZIMUT Warranty
Booklet and undertakes to offer it to its customegfraining from proposing its own service packagehowever, packages that have no
been previously agreed with AZIMU

10.5 DEALER undertakes to carry out Maintenanceises for all AZIMUT boats (as per DQP rules) indilug maintenance-services
provided for new boats up to 62 feet and Mainteras®rvices included in any Limited AZIMUT Warrariyxtension Package
implemented on specific boa
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10.6 DEALER shall refrain from seeking paymentdoly Maintenance-services (excluding warranty) idetliin any Limited AZIMUT
Warranty Extension Package and implemented on paadksshall strictly comply with the provisions sett in DEALER Qualification
Program.

10.7 AZIMUT shall reimburse DEALER costs for approvedeirventions under warranty as per warranty conustigsee warranty booklet) a
DQP Book but in any event no later than thirty (88ys following submission of appropriate documgaoite

10.8 DEALER labour rate will be One Hundred and 1@ths Dollars ($100.00) per hour for the first fwee(12) months thereafter.
Subsequent rates will be determined by the Parstised on actual fair costs and rates posted bgrdeahccordance with DQP regulation
on this same dedicated mati

ARTICLE XI
ASSISTANCE AGAINST UNFAIR COMPETITION AND
INFRINGEMENT OF INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

11.1 DEALER shall cooperate with AZIMUT to carry out alttions necessary to protect the Trademarks iffehetory. The Trademarks sh
not be used in any manner that will invalidatertgistration thereof and the right to use the Tnaal¥s in connection with the
appropriate Products is only granted to the exteaittAZIMUT is able to do so without endangering thalidity of the registration.
DEALER shall (insofar as it becomes aware theraof)fy AZIMUT of any unauthorized use in the Teory of the Trademarks or of any
other intellectual or industrial property rightstive control or ownership of AZIMUT. At the requestAZIMUT, DEALER shall take
part in or give assistance in respect of any lpgateedings and execute any documents and do @ tteasonably necessary to assist
AZIMUT in protecting AZIMUT's intellectual and inditrial property rights (including without limitaticche Trademarks) in the
Territory. DEALER shall leave in position and naiver or erase any notices or other marks (includiitgout limitation details of pater
or notices that a trademark design or copyriglatied to the Products is owned by AZIMUT) which AT may place on or affix to
the Products. DEALER undertakes not to apply tre/&@marks to any item not one of the Products ndistoibute or sell any such items
with the Trademarks so applied or to engage inadhgr practice or activity likely to mislead pot@hpurchasers into believing that an
item is one of the Products when in fact it is |
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ARTICLE XII
BUSINESS OR ENTERPRISE SECRETS

12.1 Each party shall keep confidential and natld&e to any third party, except for the purpodabie Agreement, all information relating to
the Products (whether technical or commercial)tarttie affairs and business of the other and itsjrrespective subsidiary or
associated companies, whether such informatiorscdoded to DEALER by AZIMUT or otherwise obtained DEALER or AZIMUT as
a result of the association between AZIMUT and DEERL Without prejudice to the generality of the fgoang, where DEALER is a
company within a group of companies and/or itsvét@s in pursuance of this Agreement are carrigdtlorough various local
establishments in the Territory, the said informatmay be disclosed to other companies within gwohp and/or to any employees of
DEALER who are employed at the said local estabiisht. This clause is not intended to prohibithg fact of existence of a contract to
distribute Products of AZIMUT; ii) review of the Agement by DEALER’s legal counsel or its normaked Contracts
Specialist/Administrator that may be an employeBBALER or an affiliate of DEALER; iii) review byelgal and professional advisors,
after a breach is alleged by either party, to revigaterial and matters relating to the breach biyt for purposes of rectification or
defense; or iv) governmental authorities to whomristy of such information is necessary in ordantplement the sale of Products. For
the avoidance of doubt this provision shall suntive expiry or termination (for whatsoever caudehis Agreement. Confidential
Information shall not include any information whishor becomes known to the general public, whichlieady in the other party’s

possession prior to disclosure by the primary partyhich is independently generated by eithenypaithout use of the Confidential
Information.

12.2 Public StatementdNeither party shall make any public statementsgsue any press releases regarding this Agreeonéné content
hereof without the prior written consent of theestbarty.

ARTICLE XIII
NO ASSIGNMENT OR TRANSFER

13.1 DEALER shall maintain ownership, authority aadponsibility of its operations through DEALERDREALER’s affiliates. Other than a
corporate reorganization or restructuring, thissagrent shall not be assignable or transferableaddaehange, directly or indirectly,
voluntarily or involuntarily, in DEALEF s control without the prior written consent of AZIM.

13.2 This Agreement cannot be assigned or tramsfdoy DEALER without the prior written consent GZMMUT. ,. If, and only if, AZIMUT
consents in writing to the assignment or trangfech assignment and transfer is contingent upoagkignee or transferee duly accepting
in writing the provisions of this agreement anduasisig, in all respects, DEALFE's duties relative to rights to be assigr
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ARTICLE XIV
INDEMNIFICATION

14.1 AZIMUT agrees to assume the defense of DEABBR to indemnify DEALER against any money judgmetatim, demand, loss, cost,
expense, cause of action or allegation includinfpevit limitation attorney fees, less any offsebrared by DEALER, in any lawsuit,
assertion or other claim naming DEALER as a defafjdahere such lawsuit or claim relates to: (apbeged breach of any warranty
relating to any Products; or (b) bodily injury aoperty damage or any other damage or loss clatmbdve been caused by a defect in
the design, manufacture or assembly of a Prodimt for delivery thereof to DEALER; provided, howeythat if any information
discloses DEALER negligence, error or omissionrof aature, or should it appear that the Produstsiued in such lawsuit had been
altered by or for DEALER at DEALER’S direction drDEALER has violated any of the provisions of thigreement with respect to the
product involved, then DEALER will, upon requesbtain its own counsel and defend itself at DEALEBYst, and AZIMUT will be
obligated to indemnify DEALER to the extent of AZWT’ s responsibility. DEALER shall notify AZIMUT of anglaim which DEALER
will assert AZIMUT might be obligated to defend @ndhis Section within thirty (30) days of DEALERsceipt of notice of said claim
(s). AZIMUT shall promptly conduct a preliminaryestigation to initially determine whether AZIMU$ obligated to defend under this
Section. Notwithstanding any such investigation]MBT may retender defense of any action to DEALERmy time upon reasonable
prior notice in the event information discloses DER altered products, breached this Agreement omaitted negligence, errors or
omissions with respect to the product or customeslved. DEALER will take the steps necessary gt its own interests and the
interests of AZIMUT involved in the lawsuit untiish time as AZIMUT may assume the active defendeEALER. AZIMUT will, if it
assumes the defense of DEALER, reimburse DEALERdasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs inglnyeDEALER from the date
of the tender. AZIMUT, if it assumes DEALER'’s de$en will have the right to retain and direct colindéts own choosing subject to
approval of DEALER which will not be unreasonablithheld, and DEALER shall cooperate in all matidusing the course of defendi
the lawsuit. AZIMUT shall obtain and maintain corapensive general liability insurance, through sohand reputable carriers, in
amounts reasonably satisfactory to DEALER and statie DEALER as an additional insured, as its @sisrappear, on such policies.
Upon request, AZIMUT shall provide DEALER with artiicate of insurance evidencing such coveragectvishall require that
DEALER receive not less than thirty (30) days n@t¢ cancellation or modification of such covere
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14.2 Upon request of AZIMUT, DEALER shall indemnifyefend and hold AZIMUT harmless from any clairenthnd, cause of action or
cost, including attorney fees incurred by AZIMUTating thereto, which may arise or be assertedag&ZIMUT, if such claim, and
only to the extent that such claim, demand or cafigetion results solely from: (a) DEALE&failure to comply, in whole or in part, w
any material obligation of DEALER under the Agreerneith respect to the product or customer in goes{b) any actual negligence,
error, or omission of DEALER in connection with th&le, preparation, repair or service (includinthaut limitation warranty service
authorized by Azimut) by DEALER of the product arstomer in question; (c) any modification of anpdrcts made by or on behalf of
DEALER at DEALER*"S direction, except those madeguant to the express written instruction or with éxpress written approval of
AZIMUT; (d) DEALER'’s breach of any material agreemidetween DEALER and DEALER'’s customer or othémtiparty; or
(e) unauthorized warranties, misleading statememitgepresentations or deceptive or unfair prastipeDEALER, directly or indirectly,
to AZIMUT, a customer or a third party in perforrgiits duties as Dealer under this Agreement. AZIM&hall notify DEALER within
thirty (30) days of the existence of any claims altdw DEALER an opportunity to resolve such clajmpeovided that no resolution or
settlement shall be binding upon AZIMUT withoutvsitten approval thereof. AZIMUT shall be obligdte tender defense of any such
claim, demand or cause of action to DEALER; prodittewever that Azimut shall have the opportunitapprove of counsel in its
reasonable judgment. AZIMUT shall not retain colile$éts choosing to defend an indemnified claindanthis paragraph and DEALER
shall not be required to reimburse AZIMUT for arosts or attorneys’ fees as incurred if Azimut clesoiss own counsel. DEALER shall
obtain and maintain comprehensive general liahitisurance, through solvent and reputable carrie@mounts reasonably satisfactory
to AZIMUT and shall name AZIMUT as an additionasured, as its interests appear, on such policipenWequest, DEALER shall
provide AZIMUT with a certificate of insurance eeiacing such coverage which shall require that AZIIWdceive not less than thirty
(30) days notice of cancellation or modificationsofth coverage

ARTICLE XV
SURVIVAL

15.1. The provisions of Articles 12, 14, 16, 17 48dshall survive the expiration or terminatiortltis Agreement and any claims either party
may have for the collection of money, includinghwitit limitation warranty claims, or the enforcemehany obligations which may be
the nature of continuing obligations shall alsov/aue the expiration or termination of this Agreere

ARTICLE XVI
TERMINATION AND WAIVER

16.1 The Agreement may be terminated, at any time, byuadiagreement of AZIMUT and DEALE}
16.2 The Agreement shall terminate and expire at theoéide Contractual Term, as such may be renewsd fime to time

16.3 AZIMUT may terminate the Agreement after tleewrrence of one or more of the following eventslefiault, upon thirty (30) days prior
written notice by AZIMUT to DEALER in the event thBEALER has not remedied nor taken measures tedgrthe default during su
thirty (30) day period following receipt of writterotice thereof by DEALEFR

a) Failure by DEALER to secure and continuouslyntein any license necessary for the conduct by DERof all of its Dealership
Operations as a whole pursuant to the Agreemetiiectermination, expiration without renewal or sersgion or revocation of all
such licenses for any reason whatsoe
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b)

c)
d)

e)

9)

h)

Any change, transfer or attempted transfer bADER or DEALER Affiliates, voluntarily or by operatn of law, of the whole or
any part of the Agreement, other than to an aféilaf DEALER as part of a corporate reorganizationestructuring, or any change
in control outside the ordinary course of busineglout prior written consent of AZIMUT and any marted change, transfer or
assignment shall be null and void and not bindingAg@IMUT;

Intentionally Omitted

Knowingly submitting to AZIMUT any intentionatdudulent statement, application, report, requasisuance of reimbursement,
compensation, refund or credit, including withaatitation any fraudulent claim for warranty workblor rate, set-up
reimbursement or warranty covera

Knowing use by DEALER of any deceptive or fraudtlpractice, whether willful, or intentional, in tisale of any Produc

Any indictment for any crime or violation of afngw by DEALER which will have an adverse effecttbe reputation of DEALER,
Dealership Operations or AZIMUT; or any convictionany court of original jurisdiction of DEALER fany crime or violation of
any law which will adversely and materially afféiee conduct of Dealership Operations or will beenatly harmful to the
goodwill or reputation of AZIMUT, Products or theademarks

DEALER’s entering into any agreement, combinationderstanding, conspiracy or contract, oral dtten, with any other party
with the known purpose of fixing prices of Produ@tsvered in (f)):

DEALER’s abandonment of all of its Dealership Operatiansravhole or failure to maintain a going busint

Material and continuous failure of DEALER adetpig to represent, promote, sell or service thedBects or to achieve minimum
yearly sales of the Products from time to time edr® by the Parties provided that such agreemiintamsider many factor
including the strength of the economy in the Teryit Euro impact, Azimut product availability anghtistic potential for growth;
from time to time through each annual period, Azigmnd Dealer will discuss Dealer’s peformance asgtrannual goals if needed,
as mutually agreed between the Par
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)
K)

Failure of DEALER to purchase the orders as perehplx 6 of this Agreement (unless differently agreg the parties in writing

Insolvency by any definition of DEALER; or themmmission of any act of bankruptcy; or the exiséeatfacts or circumstances
which would require the voluntary commencement IBARDER or the involuntary commencement against DERLA any
proceedings under any bankruptcy act or law or uadg state insolvency law; or the filing of a pieti by or against DEALER
under any bankruptcy or insolvency law; or the apipoent of a receiver or other officer having samipowers for DEALER or
Dealership Operations; or any levy under attachygarhishment or execution or similar process wigaot, within ten (10) days,
vacated or removed by payment or bond

16.4 AZIMUT may select any applicable provision andhich it elects to terminate the Agreement, gine notice thereunder,
notwithstanding the existence of any other grododsermination or the reference to such other gdsuin the notice of termination and
AZIMUT shall specify such reason in its written ivetto DEALER.

16.5 DEALER shall be responsible to pay all attgrfezs and costs incurred by AZIMUT terminatingsthAigreement following an uncured
event of default by DEALER described in Article 3®ereof.

16.6 DEALER may terminate the Agreement, at antiafter the occurrence of any one or more of éleviing events of default, upon
thirty (30) days prior written notice from DEALER AZIMUT in the event that AZIMUT has not remediedr taken measures to rem
the default during such thirty (3day period following receipt of written notice teef from DEALER:

a)

b)

Failure by AZIMUT to secure and continuously ntain any license necessary for the conduct by AZIMf its Operations
pursuant to the Agreement or the termination, exjoin without renewal or suspension or revocatibany such license for any
reason whatsoever, whether or not that licenseinstated

Any change, transfer or attempted transfer byM\ZT voluntarily or by operation of law, of the wheoor any part of the
Agreement, other than to an affiliate of AZIMUT, amy interest or legal or beneficial ownership éieior any right or obligation
thereunder, directly or indirectly, such as, foaeple only, by way of an underlying ownership iettrin AZIMUT’s Operations or
the assets thereof outside the ordinary coursesiiibss, without prior written consent of DEALERJany purported change,
transfer or assignment shall be null and void astdbinding on DEALER

Intentionally Omitted
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d)

e)

f)

9)

h)

Knowingly sSubmitting or participating in thetsuission to DEALER of any intentional fraudulerdtetment, application, report,
request for issuance of reimbursement, compensatfumd or credit

Knowing use by AZIMUT of any deceptive or fraleht practice, whether willful or intentional inghmanufacture or sale of any
Product;

Any indictment for any crime or violation of afngw by AZIMUT which will have an adverse effect the reputation of DEALER,
Dealership Operations or AZIMUT; or any convictionany court of original jurisdiction of AZIMUT foany crime or violation of
any law which will adversely and materially afféiee conduct of Dealership Operations or will beenatly harmful to the
goodwill or reputation of DEALER, Products or theadiemarks

AZIMUT's entering into any agreement, combinationderstanding, conspiracy or contract, oral diten, with any other party
with the known purpose of fixing prices of Produu

Insolvency by any definition of AZIMUT or the gomission of any act of bankruptcy; or the existeofckacts or circumstances
which would require the voluntary commencement BIMUTor the involuntary commencement against AZIMdfTany
proceedings under any bankruptcy act or law or uadg state insolvency law; or the filing of a fieti by or against AZIMUT
under any bankruptcy or insolvency law; or the apimoent of a receiver or other officer having semipowers for AZIMUT; or an
levy under attachment, garnishment or executicgimilar process which is not, within ten (10) dayacated or removed by
payment or bonding

Material and continuous failure of AZIMUT to sply the product contemplated by this Agreementoappanother dealer in the
Territory; failure to fulfill warranty obligations

16.7 DEALER may select any applicable provisionemdhich it elects to terminate the Agreement, gine notice thereunder,
notwithstanding the existence of any other grodfodsermination or the reference to such other gdsuin the notice of termination and
DEALER shall specify such reason in its notice @IMUT.

16.8 AZIMUT shall be responsible to pay all attoriiees and costs incurred by DEALER in terminatinig Agreement following an event of
default as described in Article 16.6 hereof by AZIM

16.9 Neither party shall be liable to the other for capsential, punitive, exemplary or incidental dansa
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ARTICLE XVII
OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES UPON
TERMINATION OR EXPIRATION OF THE CONTRACT

17.1 The acceptance by AZIMUT of orders from DEALER, thader of orders to AZIMUT by DEALER or the conted sale of Products
DEALER or any other act or course of dealing of BT or DEALER after termination or expiration ofeatAgreement shall not be
construed as or deemed to be a renewal of the Agmeefor any further term or a waiver of such teration by or against either party.
Any dealings after termination or expiration sh@lon a day-to-day basis. In all cases, DEALER ZWVAJT each agree to conduct
itself and its operations until the effective dateéermination, and after termination or expiratmfithe Agreement, so as not to injure
reputation or goodwill of the Trademarks or eadieol

17.2 Upon the mailing of a written notice of terwatilon or after date of the expiration of the Agreatnwithout renewal, AZIMUT shall
fulfill all pending orders of DEALER for Productkat are under contract to a customer, special toalsequipment, if previously
accepted by AZIMUT unless the parties agree othem

17.3 Not later than the effective date of the terminaiio expiration of the Agreement, DEALER shall eetshold itself out as an authori:
dealer of the Products and discontinue sellingeorising any Products as an authorized dealer srslesagreement to the contrary is
reached between the parti

17.4 In addition to any other requirements setfortthe Agreement, within a reasonable time follaypthe termination or expiration of the
Agreement, DEALER shall, at its sole expense, dignae any and all uses of the Trademarks and@itisy symbols and marks which
may be confusingly similar thereto; remove all sifpearing Trademarks and destroy all stationepair@rders, advertising and
solicitation materials, and all other printed mabiearing Trademarks or referring directly or iredity to AZIMUT or the Products in
any way which might make it appear to any membétkeopublic that DEALER is still an authorized te¥aThe foregoing shall inclu
without limitation discontinuing the use of Tradek®appearing in connection with DEALER’s busineame or any advertising.
DEALER shall also deliver to AZIMUT, at AZIMUT's pke of business, or to a person designated by AZIMIJ shall destroy upon
request by AZIMUT, any and all technical or serviterature, advertising and other printed matetiah in DEALER’s possession
which relates to the Products and which was acduireobtained by DEALER from AZIMUT. DEALER shalkdtroy any sign bearing
Trademarks which is not to be repurchased by AZIM

17.5 Upon request of Azimut, DEALER shall deliverAZIMUT copies of DEALER’s availabe records of gdedivery service, warranty
service, recall or update service or other sergfdbe Product:
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17.6 Upon Termination by AZIMUT without Cause, Ténation by DEALER for cause and nonrenewal or eain of this Agreement
(subject to the provisions below), Azimut shallhiiit sixty (60) days of the effective date of teration or expiration “[****]”",
Additionally, promptly following the effective datd# termination or expiration, Azimut will reture MarineMax deposits for boats that
are “on-order”. To the extent boats are “sold iétid on order, the parties can mutally agree wwbo will deliver the product. For
purposes of this section, “Cause” is defined asitmy in 16.3 with respect to DEALER and any itenséction 16.6 with respect to
Azimut. “[****] 7

17.7 Any Products, tools or materials in DEALER&spession acquired from AZIMUT for which DEALER hast paid AZIMUT, shall be
promptly returned to AZIMUT upon termination or évgtion of this Agreement at DEALFE's cost.

17.8 AZIMUT shall at any time after terminationexpiration of this Agreement have no obligation oiely the right to establish and
maintain any kind of relationship with ultimate phasers, agents, distributors, dealers, retaidesits, customers or other distribution
outlets at any level of distribution or sale whicwe or will distribute, sell or handle AZIMUT’s &tucts in the Territory and any other
such ultimate purchasers, agents, distributordedgaetailers, clients, customers, or other iistion outlets at any level of distribution,
utilized or solicited by DEALER during the term sfich agreemen

17.9 For a period of twelve (12) months followirgrhination or expiration, AZIMUT shall continue gell parts and accessories for the
products to DEALER, unless otherwise agreed tcheyRarties

ARTICLE XVl
MISCELLANEOUS

18.1 This Agreement cancels, supersedes and remélgerevious documents or agreements exchangexeouted by and between the Partie:
and all prior course of conduct, business dealargkindustry custom and practi

18.2 All Appendices attached to this Agreement congiaurt integral part of i
18.3 Intentionally Omitted

18.4 No modification or amendment made to any Appentadise valid unless executed in writing by bothitiéa hereto. Any execute
modification or amendment shall bear the date chamendment or modification, is valid and effeetas of such date and shall be
substitutive of the prior Appendix it has amendedadified.

18.5 The present agreement shall not be amendaaddified, except by a written document signed bthtiRarties and shall not be modified
by any prior or subsequent course of conduct, legsinlealings and/or industry custom and prac
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18.6 Any waiver of any breach of any term or candibf this agreement with respect to DEALER or afiyer dealer agreement with respect
to any other dealer shall not operate as a waivany other breach of such term or condition, oai§ other term or condition hereof nor
shall any failure to enforce any provision hereoény other dealer agreement operate as a waivarobf provision or any other provisi
hereof

18.7 This agreement and the rights and obligatiditise Parties hereunder shall be governed by anstizied in accordance with the laws of
Italy, without regard to conflicts of laws, exceyst described in Section 18.8 belt

18.8 Any dispute arising out or in connection vitib execution, interpretation or termination otAigreement or the relationship between
DEALER and AZIMUT must first be submitted in writirby the disputing party to the other party. Theipa shall then enter into a good
faith resolution period of thirty (30) days durindpich they will attempt to resolve the matter iroddaith. In the event that the parties are
unable to reach a compromise resolution, at theoétite thirty (30) day period, or earlier upon maitdetermination of the parties, the
dispute shall be exclusively submitted by the Bartdo and determined by a panel of three (3) atbits in “[****]", such arbitrators to be
legally qualified and to be appointed by agreenbetiveen Parties. The decision of the panel ofrratbits will be made through the
application of “[****]” law to this agreement and il be final and binding. The parties acknowledgel agree that the provisions of this
paragraph do not confer or create jurisdiction dvamut in the “[****]” in general or “[****]” in p articular other than for the purposes
described hereir

18.9 Time is of the essence of this Agreem:
#0k% SIGNATURES BEGIN ON FOLLOWING PAGE *****
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AZIMUT BENETTI S.P.A MARINEMAX NORTHEAST, LLC
d/b/a MARINEMAX SURFSIDE 3

By: /s/ Marco Valle By: /s/ Michael H. McLamb

Print Name: Marco Vall Print Name: Michael H. McLam

Title: Sales Directo Title: Vice Presiden

Page 20 of 2



NOTE: PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT INDICATED BY[****]” ARE SUBJECT TO A CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST, AN
HAVE BEEN OMITTED FROM THIS EXHIBIT. COMPLETE, UNRBACTED COPIES OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN FILED WITH
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION AS PART ORHIS COMPANY’S CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST.

APPENDIX 1
TO THE AZIMUT DEALERSHIP CONTRACT

DEALER QUALIFICATION BOOK
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APPENDIX - 2
TO THE AZIMUT DEALERSHIP CONTRACT

ORDER CONTRACT

APPENDIX - 3
TO THE AZIMUT DEALERSHIP CONTRACT

LIST OF PRODUCTS

MOTORCRUISER LINE
AZIMUT 43
AZIMUT 46
AZIMUT 47
AZIMUT 50
AZIMUT 55
AZIMUT 58
AZIMUT 62
AZIMUT 68
AZIMUT 70

MOTORYACHT LINE
AZIMUT 75

AZIMUT 82

AZIMUT 85/ 88
AZIMUT 95

AZIMUT 98

AZIMUT 105
AZIMUT 116
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S LINE RANGE:
AZIMUT 43 S
AZIMUT 62 S
AZIMUT 68 S
AZIMUT 86 S
AZIMUT 103 S
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APPENDIX 4
TO THE AZIMUT DEALERSHIP CONTRACT

AZIMUT WARRANTY BOOK
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APPENDIX 5
TO THE AZIMUT DEALERSHIP CONTRACT

2008 — 2009 US PRICE LIST

n[****]"
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APPENDIX 6

“[****]"

Page 26 of 26



Exhibit 10.32(a)

)

FIRST AMENDMENT
MARINEMAX NORTHEAST, LLC. and AZIMUT BENETTI, S.P.A
DEALERSHIP AGREEMENT 2008 - 2010

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT (“AMENDMENT?") to the Dealersip Agreement by and between AZIMUT BENETTI S.P.AAZIMUT”") and
MARINEMAX NORTHEAST, LLC, d/b/a MARINEMAX SURFSIDE3 (“DEALER”) dated September 1, 2008 (‘AGREEMENT8)entered
into as of the 22 day of June, 2010.

WHEREAS, the parties desire to modify the Agreenaenset forth below:

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual ewav@s herein contained, and the benefits to beelkby each party, the sufficiency
which is acknowledged, the parties agree as follows

1. Definitions: Section IX of Definitions (“Territory”) is herebgmended to include the following territories:
THE STATES OF NORTH CAROLINA, SOUTH CAROLINA AND \RGINIA

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedAlniendment as of the 22 day of June, 2010.

AZIMUT BENETTI S.P.A MARINEMAX NORTHEAST, LLC
d/b/a MARINEMAX SURFSIDE 3

By: /s/ Marco Valle By: /s/ Michael H. McLamb

Print Name: Marco Vall Print Name: Michael H. McLam

Title: Sales Directo Title: Vice Presiden
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SECOND AMENDMENT
MARINEMAX NORTHEAST, LLC and AZIMUT BENETTI, S.P.A.
DEALERSHIP AGREEMENT 2008 - 2010

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT (“AMENDMENT”) to the Dealersp Agreement by and between AZIMUT BENETTI S.P.BAZIMUT")
and MARINEMAX NORTHEAST, LLC, d/b/a MARINEMAX SURFBE 3 (“DEALER”) dated September 1, 2008 (“AGREEMEN is
entered into as of the 29 day of February, 2012.

WHEREAS, the parties desire to modify the Agreenaanset forth below:

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual ewav@s herein contained, and the benefits to beelkby each party, the sufficiency
which is acknowledged, the parties agree as follows

1. Definitions: Section VIII of Definitions (“Products”) is herglamended to include the following products:

MAGELLANO AND ATLANTIS

2. Appendix 3 to the Azimut Dealership Contradtéseby amended to include the following in the lbisProducts: MAGELLANO AND
ATLANTIS

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedAlniendment as of the 29 day of February, 2012.

AZIMUT BENETTI S.P.A MARINEMAX NORTHEAST, LLC
d/b/a MARINEMAX SURFSIDE 3

By: /s/ Marco Valle By: /s/ Michael H. McLamb

Print Name: Marco Vall Print Name: Michael H. McLam

Title: Sales Directo Title: Vice Presiden
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J

THIRD AMENDMENT
MARINEMAX NORTHEAST, LLC and AZIMUT BENETTI, S.P.A.
DEALERSHIP AGREEMENT 2008 - 2010

THIS THIRD AMENDMENT (“AMENDMENT?") to the Dealerstp Agreement by and between AZIMUT BENETTI S.P.AA4IMUT") and
MARINEMAX NORTHEAST, LLC, d/b/a MARINEMAX SURFSIDE3 (“DEALER”) dated September 1, 2008 (‘AGREEMENT8)entered
into as of the 21 day of July, 2012.

WHEREAS, the parties desire to modify the Agreenaenset forth below:

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual ewav@s herein contained, and the benefits to beelkby each party, the sufficiency
which is acknowledged, the parties agree as follows

1. Definitions: Section IX of Definitions (“Territory”) is herebgupplemented to add the following territories:
THE STATES OF MINNESOTA, MISSOURI, OHIO, OKLAHOMATENNESSEE, ILLINOIS, MICHIGAN, WISCONSIN AND INDIAM.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedAlnendment as of the 21 day of July, 2012.

AZIMUT BENETTI S.P.A MARINEMAX NORTHEAST, LLC
d/b/a MARINEMAX SURFSIDE 3

By: /s/ Marco Valle By: /s/ Michael H. McLamb

Print Name: Marco Vall Print Name: Michael H. McLam

Title: Sales Directo Title: Vice Presiden



Exhibit 10.33
NOTE: PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT INDICATED BY[****]” ARE SUBJECT TO A CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST, AN

HAVE BEEN OMITTED FROM THIS EXHIBIT. COMPLETE, UNRBACTED COPIES OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN FILED WITH
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION AS PART ORHIS COMPANY'’S CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST.

DEALERSHIP AGREEMENT

THIS DEALERSHIP AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made eftive on September 1, 2008 by and between AZIMENBTTI S.P.A., an
Italian corporation, (“AZIMUT")with offices located at Via Michele Coppino 104 a¥&ggio (Lucca), Italy, and MARINEMAX EAST, INC.,
Delaware company, d/b/a MARINEMAX (“DEALER”) withffices located at 18167 US 19 North, Suite 300 a@iater, Florida 33764
(AZIMUT and DEALER sometimes referred to collectiv@erein as the “Parties”).

In consideration of the mutual covenants contaime@in, AZIMUT and DEALER agree as follows:

PREAMBLE

A) DEALER possesses sufficient technical and conasiaécompetence in the field of the non commengiatoryacht industry to ensure
efficient distribution of such products in the Tigary (as hereafter definec

B) DEALER also possesses sufficient skills to ensuoenotion of AZIMUT Products (as hereafter definadbh the clientele and the displ
of these Products for sa

C) DEALER has the right to appoint subdealers @nagywithin the Territory subject to prior writtapproval by AZIMUT, which approval
will not be unreasonably withheld. In such a ca&ADER will remain directly responsible in respettAZIMUT for its subdealers
and/or agents activit

D) DEALER possesses or has at its disposal inetsifbry the technical installations and the skillabor necessary to ensure the launching
repair and complete service of AZIMI's Products as better specified in the DEALER Qigalifon Book.

E) AZIMUT requires DEALER to distribute the Prods@nd supplementary equipment manufactured by AZINbid to promote
effectively and efficiently their sales in the Tigary.

F) AZIMUT requires DEALER to follow DEALER QUALIFIGTION PROGRAM by fully complying with all rules, ahdards and
procedures stated in DEALER QUALIFICATION BOOK apgoof which has been delivered to DEALER and foansntegral part of
this Agreement a8ppendix 1. AZIMUT reserves the right to modify DEALER QUALIEATION BOOK at any time on prior written
notice to DEALER with modifications applicable tib dealers.
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DEFINITIONS

In addition to the definitions made in other partshis Agreement, the Parties agree that theviailg terms shall have the meaning hereinafte
defined:

Contractual Term The term of this Agreement shall tveo (2) yearsprovided, however, that at the end of each tweld (honth term
hereof, this Agreement shall be automatically reza¥or another twelve (12) months for so long afADER and AZIMUT are able to
agree in good faith on acceptable retail salessg@ald Dealer has good faith intentions to seelsties of at least “silver” as defined in
the Dealer Qualification Bool

DEALER Manager. The manager of DEALER next identified upon whpeesonal service AZIMUT relies in entering into the
Agreement. DEALER Manager: Andrew Schneider, or atiner individual appointed in MarineMax’s reasoleattiscretion that is
capable of leading DEALER in the performance of thgreement

DEALER Owner. DEALER Owner means the owner(s) of DEALER nexntified upon whose personal service AZIMUT relies
entering into the Agreement. DEALER Owner: Marinei

Exclusivity . DEALER has the exclusive right to sell the Praduo customers that, to the best of DEALER’S kremigie, will moor their
boat in the Territory for not less than one hundrigghty-one (181) days during the first twelve (12) morftosn delivery of the boa

This exclusivity is based upon the following twg EZIMUT engagements:

V.

VI.

VII.

1. No other dealer will be appointed in the Tersitand

2. No other dealer will be allowed to sell Produntthe Territory. Specifically, Azimut will usesittommercially reasonable best effort
restrict or prohibit other dealers from sellingoi@nother dealers territory, unless otherwise agpedween the dealers.

Notice. A certified letter with return receipt requestedif required by urgency, an e-mail or facsingl®vided receipt of such
communication is acknowledged in writing by thetpdo whom it is addressed. Notices shall be eiffeaipon receipt

Options. All components or equipment or customizationsiestied by DEALER which are not included in the dtad specification of
the relevant mode

Order Contract The order contract used between AZIMUT and DEALfBRthe confirmation of the purchase of each Pobda standar
copy of which is attached heretoAppendix 2.

VIII. Products. Boats manufactured by AZIMUT (listed Appendix 3 to this Agreement) sold with the trademark ‘AZIMUEII

supplementary equipment, accessories and spasegiatch boats, and clothing. AZIMUT reservesrtgbt to include in or exclude
from this list, at any time any boat model, or depgentary equipment, accessories and spare pastebfboats by simple written notice
to this effect no less than thirty (30) days ptinchange

Page 2 of 2
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IX. Territory. The geographical area encompassed by the boesddrFlorida

Provided however that to the extent that DEALER ihastock or on order for stock an Azimut model "1@0larger, DEALER will be
considered MASTER STOCKING DEALER for Azimut modelQ’ or larger for the period that DEALER has inc or on order in

stock at least an Azimut 100’ or larger. Under Ma8tocking Dealer status, other US and Canadialedewill try to sell the boat 100’

or larger that the Master Stocking Dealer hasaclksbr on order with priority and, if this is nabgsible for whatever reason, the eventua
sale of the other US and Canadian dealer will gaa3f% commission of the net price to the Mastecl8tg Dealer (unless differently
agreed by the parties.

X.  Trademarks The trademark AZIMUT and all other trademarksatthare or will be registered on behalf of AZIMUT¢arrent copy of
which is reproduced and described in DEALER Quadiiion Book.

ARTICLE |
LEGAL STATUS OF DEALER

1.1. DEALER has the right to purchase and to sIMUT Products on its own name and for its own asdoDEALER has the status of
independent DEALER v-a-vis AZIMUT and vis-a-vis customers

1.2 DEALER has the right to distribute the Produetthe Territory on an exclusive basis. It is gbli to promote sales of the Products in the
Territory in the most efficient manner, and to devibss commercially reasonable best efforts to tgveuch sales

1.3 DEALER engages itself not to promote/sell/distte products in competition with the AZIMUT Praads; provided, however, that this
shall not include any of the brands currently eattoy DEALER or its affiliates which DEALER and #ffiliates shall be permitted to s
unless agreed otherwise by Azimut in writi

1.4 DEALER is NOT authorized to act either in the naonas an agent of AZIMU1

1.5 DEALER has the duty to protect the interests of MEIT with all the diligence required of a good meaiohand to inform AZIMUT of it
activity as well as the conditions of the markethia Territory.

Page 3 of 2
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2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

3.1

ARTICLE II
UNDERTAKING OF DEALER

DEALER has the duty to display the Productthanmost apparent manner possible and under thefawasable conditions in its show
windows, show cases, display floors and any othergs visited by the clientele, to which DEALER laasess either on a permanent or
provisional basis, to be determined in DEALER’Ssa@able judgment of what is most appropriate afetéfe, after input and
consultation with Azimut if warrante:

DEALER shall not sell, promote or advertise shée of Products outside the Territory, exceguhlications with cross-territorial
distribution (in the latter, territory has to beespied as appropriate

AZIMUT authorizes DEALER to make known to ilgeatele its status of AZIMUT exclusive importerdadistributor in the Territory.
DEALER may also use the term “AZIMUT exclusive inmf@ and distributor for Florida” on its letterheaigns, prospectus and
advertisements. DEALER acknowledges that AZIMUT tiesexclusive right to use and to control the afsthe Trademarks, and but for
the limited, non-exclusive right granted for DEALE&Ruse of the AZIMUT name and trademarks as pexvid this Agreement,
DEALER would have no right to use the sal

DEALER accepts and undertakes, with respeitted’roducts it will sell, to fulfill the obligatits set out in the “AZIMUT Warranty
Bookhere attached Appendix 4.

In purchasing each boat, DEALER and AZIMUT widecute an Order Contract where AZIMUT undertaléth respect to the Products
sold to DEALER, only the express warranty obligatiwvalid with respect to DEALER. It is here agrbgdhe Parties that the terms and
conditions set out in the Order Contract may beifremtiby AZIMUT either generally or in respect afyaparticular Order Contract upon
prior written notice to Deale

DEALER shall carry in stock at all times duritig term of the Agreement such inventory of Préslas DEALER’s volume of sales or
service may require. DEALER shall in no event cadess than the minimum Products established by ahaigreement between DEALLE
and AZIMUT in good faith based on many factors urtthg without limitation the strength of the econoim the Territory, Euro impact,
Azimut product availability and realistic potentfal growth, unless subsequently agreed to in mgithetween the parties in good faith.
DEALER's required minimum Products inventory wiiange as new Products are added to AZIMi&Available products. The forecas
orders are attached hereto as Append

ARTICLE Il
CONDITIONS OF SALE AND TITLE

AZIMUT will supply DEALER with Products in so farssavailable, at the conditions set out in this it
Page 4 of 2
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3.2 Provided the entire Purchase Price and alf silnens due and owed by the buyer to AZIMUT in resjpé this Order have been paid in
full, title to the Yacht will be deemed to be trfarsed to the DEALER. The parties agree the DEAIMER pay the purchase price for
each Product when the Product is ready for shipinditaly. AZIMUT shall retain risk of loss for theroduct until the Product is
physically delivered to DEALER in the designatedtpo the United States. AZIMUT shall be responsijldt its expense, to ship the
Product and to insure the Product to cover itsvialie until delivery to DEALER in the United Statend shall provide a certificate of
insurance upon shipment naming DEALER as an additimsured and loss pays

3.3 AZIMUT will sell the Products to DEALER usinbé prices resulting from the price list containedppendix 5 to this contract (the “
Price List ”). AZIMUT reserves the right to modify Prices ajmalble to future product purchases/orders by gidgALER thirty
(30) days prior written Notice. Prices are normatigdified by AZIMUT once a year effective as oftaf September, however, AZIMUT
reserves the right to modify its prices at any tiReces are for delivery cost, insurance, andjfre

3.4 AZIMUT may, at its reasonable discretion, refasy requested modification to the orders. Modifans are valid only if accepted by
AZIMUT in writing.

3.5 DEALER will have the following discount structuon the Prices indicated in the Price List. DEAL&ill be granted the discount off the
option pricelist listed below

“ [****] n

3.6 FLOOR PLAN. AZIMUT recognizes DEALER six (6) mitn floor plan assistance for boats ordered inkstoa kept in inventory at an
interest rate equal to New York prime. In casebtbat is sold within the six (6) month period, theof plan will be recognized for the
effective time kept in stock. Upon request from DER, AZIMUT shall consider in good faith grantingtérest on trade inventor

For ordered boats already sold retail at the tifrtt@ shipment from lItaly, floor plan will be reauiged to DEALER at an interest rate
equal to New York prime for the time it takes tdivr the boat to the retail customer or a maxinfrsixty (60) days, whichever comes
first.

ARTICLE IV
FURTHER UNDERTAKINGS OF DEALER

4.1 DEALER has to make its commercially reasonalelst efforts in order to establish the best imag@ZIMUT in the Territory and to
promote the sales of Products and achieve the stiglinover thereir

Page 5 of 2
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4.2 DEALER must operate through at least one peemiaoifice to ensure an adequate promotion of tABMAJT Products at its own
expense. DEALER must within two (2) weeks from éxecution of this Agreement communicate to AZIMUTexe its offices are and,
when and where it will open its new offices if @ppble. DEALER undertakes to follow the rules anstiuctions set out in DEALER
Qualification Book in any refitting, restructuriragnd opening of any of its offices and yat

4.3 Pursuant to the rules and instructions setnroDEALER Qualification Book, DEALER and all its tveork locations have to show an
“AZIMUT Yachts” sign where its offices or servicands are established subject to zoning laws aridanmdes and as soon as reasonabl
practicable

ARTICLE V
ADVERTISING

5.1 DEALER will promote the Product locally by orgaing VIP receptions, meetings and introductorgitails as better specified in
DEALER Qualification Book

5.2 DEALER shall be responsible for advertising/antharketing activity in the Territory and DEALERd AZIMUT shall mutually agree
on a marketing plan and budget for the contragteat. If an agreement is not reached on the bud@@kUT will establish the budget
based upon dealers in similar territories. The letidgll define which costs are paid by AZIMUT or BEER with the intention that the
cost of all advertising and sales promotion adésgishall be borne by DEALER. Such advertising tillperformed consistently with
AZIMUT’s advertising standards set out in DEALER d@ification Book. Upon request, DEALER will trangnd AZIMUT a copy of
each and every advertisement and/or marketing rahtkat it will use concerning the Products. DEAR Bcknowledges that AZIMUT
may request changes and deny the publication gkthdvertisements and marketing material whichllireasonably deem not in line
with AZIMUT standards as defined in DEALER Qualdtton Book

5.3 Prior to the expiration of the contractual year ADIER and AZIMUT will together review the expendituof the budget for advertising
determine any appropriate adjustments for the sulesd year

5.4  AZIMUT will provide DEALER with a sufficient nmber of brochures and marketing material which bélfree of charge for DEALER.
Further quantities will be sold “at cost”. Any digation will be strictly forbidden being understotidht in case of violation of this
instruction and/or violation of copyrights on amyage, content or right anyway connected to suclerniahDEALER will be fully liable
of damages and herein expressly undertakes toA®IRIUT harmless from any and all damages or claoming from third Parties or
such violations. Unless expressly regulated in DERLQualification Book, DEALER will be allowed to ply a sticker positioned
identifying DEALER on the back side of each AZIMackaging, brochure or other marketing mate

Page 6 of 2



NOTE: PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT INDICATED BY[****]” ARE SUBJECT TO A CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST, AN
HAVE BEEN OMITTED FROM THIS EXHIBIT. COMPLETE, UNRBACTED COPIES OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN FILED WITH
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION AS PART ORHIS COMPANY’S CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST.

5.5 Transportation costs of all brochures, markgtind promotional materials will be at DEALER’s o DEALER will receive on a
regular basis the invoices regarding the purchfpeomotional material and the transport costs.niayt shall be remitted by wire-
transfer to AZIMUT or deducted in the monthly wizempensatior

5.6 Shipments of promotional material will be eittfeeight collect” or “freight prepaid” at DEALER choice. The method of shipment
selected by DEALER should be shown on the or

ARTICLE VI
BOAT SHOWS

6.1 During the Contractual Term, DEALER must attémel Miami Boat Show and the Ft. Lauderdale Boatvs(individually the “Show”
and collectively the “Shows”) organized by AZIMUDEALER agrees collectively with the DEALER of NY provide full range of
boats to be displayed in each show as is feasiessi differently agreed with AZIMUT , which agreem shall not be unreasonably
withheld. At the Boat Show, DEALER will have theadfability of a non-exclusive meeting room andather facilities arranged by
AZIMUT, such as bar service in the display, bro&sjiorganizational assistance,

6.2 DEALER must, at its own expenses, take paitsitocal boat show(s) that Dealer deems to besad\é and arrange a display according
to the rules and instructions set out in DEALER [@ieation Book or if different according to the igielines that will from time to time |
agreed upon with AZIMU’s Sales and Marketing Departmel

ARTICLE VII
TERMS OF PAYMENT

7.1 Unless otherwise agreed in writing on a case bg basis, all Products must be paid by DEALER dsvid for all boat orders
Motoryacht75-100’ (including S line)
. Orders for stock
e $100,000 on Azimut acceptance of or
« $200,000 on starting laminatic
* balance upon delivery to carrier in Ite
Motoryacht 101’ — 116’ (including S line)
. Orders for stocl
e $100,000 on Azimut acceptance of or
«  $400,000 on starting laminatic

* balance upon delivery to carrier in Ite

Page 7 of 2°
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7.2

8.1

Motortyacht 75’ — 116’ (including S line)
. Retail contract:
* 5% on Azimut acceptance of order following custoeescution of retail contrac
* 5% on engine installatio
e balance upon delivery to carrier in It

AZIMUT shall be responsible for and bear all ridkass or damage and costs of shipping and inserfarahe Products through delivery
at a United States port in New York or such othe3.port designated by DEALER at DEALER's option.

Eventual request of cancellation of any valid oragted by DEALER will be reasonably evaluated byM@AT and if accepted, deposit
will be allocated to another model as mutually adrapon.

DEALER shall comply with the terms of paymetaited above, except for any amounts contested IALER in good faith. Should
DEALER fail to comply with such terms of paymen#ZIMUT shall so notify DEALER in writing and DEALERhall so comply for all
uncontested amounts within five (5) business dagesifter, if not soone

ARTICLE VIl
PROTOCOL OF ACCEPTANCE AND CHECK LIST

According to the procedure set out in DEALERa(@iication Book, before or after title to the basitransferred to DEALER according to
the provisions of Article 3.2 above, DEALER, witHiourteen (14) calendar days from the date wheibtia is delivered to Dealer in the
United State— must:

(i) sign the Protocol of Acceptance in the formaetin DEALER Qualification Book and deliver it &ZIMUT together with the
Check List.

(ii) directly or through appointed experts, inspact identify any cosmetic defects and missing stevith respect to the relevant
contractual and technical specifications, accordinthe procedure set out in DEALER Qualificationdg;

Provided however that such 14 day period shalbeneled for such time as reasonably necessaryay & caused by circumstances
beyond the control of the parties. Additionallytlwiespect to any latent defects or defects whiemat discovered upon initial
inspection, DEALER shall have the opportunity tentfy and report and seek remedy of such defetisifing discovery thereof.
Further provided that DEALER will use its commelgiaeasonable best effort to carry out the aatgitdescribed under (i) and

(ii) hereabove in Viareggio for all boats built\areggio shipyard.
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The risk of loss shall be borne by AZIMUT until dedry to Dealer at United States designated port.

8.2 Except as specifically provided herein or othse agreed between the parties, AZIMYBbligations to DEALER may never exceed
set out in the AZIMUT Warranty Book and the othemts and conditions contained in the relevant O@teitract.

ARTICLE IX
CONDITIONS OF RESALE BY DEALER

9.1 Inreselling the Products DEALER shall reprégereach customer the contents and limits of tABMUT Warranty Book and in the
resale agreement shall, to the extent applicablerence or provide the similar terms and condétioontained in the Order Contract
executed with AZIMUT for the Product to be resc

9.2 DEALER shall sell the Products in substantiftily same conditions as they are received byasaeable wear and tear and normal
installation of electronics and entertainment systexcepted, and shall not alter, remove or inveany tamper with any of the AZIMUT
Trademarks, marks or numbers on the Products. DEEAWHE have the right to attach to the Productsidsne indicating DEALER is an
authorized distributor of AZIMUT

ARTICLE X
AFTER SALE ASSISTANCE, END CUSTOMER
WARRANTY AND ‘WARRANTY EXTENSION ' PACKAGE

10.1 Atits own expense DEALER shall organize armdnmain an appropriate and adequate after-salstasse service in compliance with the
rules and instructions confirmed in DEALER Qualkfiion Book.

10.2 - DEALER undertakes to provide assistance, atgler warranty, for all AZIMUT boats in portsroarinas situated in the Territory, both
those sold by DEALER or otherwise, at the condgipnovided in DEALER Qualification Prograi

10.3 - DEALER expressly accepts and undertakesiapty with the content of the AZIMUT Warranty Boek] with reference both to the
Warranty for Pleasure-boat Customers and to theafigr for Professional Customers. For such purplos@ZIMUT Warranty Booklet
is annexed to this agreemetAppendix 4).
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10.4 DEALER further expressly accepts all conditions amgited AZIMUT Warranty Extension Package descdlie the AZIMUT Warranty
Booklet and undertakes to offer it to its customegfraining from proposing its own service packagehowever, packages that have no
been previously agreed with AZIMU'

10.5 DEALER undertakes to carry out Maintenanceises for all AZIMUT boats (as per DQP rules) imtilug maintenance-services
provided for new boats up to 62 feet and Mainteras®rvices included in any Limited AZIMUT Warrarytension Package
implemented on specific boa

10.6 DEALER shall refrain from seeking paymentdoly Maintenance-services (excluding warranty) idetliin any Limited AZIMUT
Warranty Extension Package and implemented on paadkshall strictly comply with the provisions sett in DEALER Qualification
Program.

10.7 AZIMUT shall reimburse DEALER costs for approvedeirventions under warranty as per warranty conustigsee warranty booklet) a
DQP Book but in any event no later than thirty (88ys following submission of appropriate documtgoita

10.8 DEALER labour rate will be One Hundred and 1@ths Dollars ($100.00) per hour for the first fwee(12) months thereafter.
Subsequent rates will be determined by the Parstised on actual fair costs and rates posted bgrdeahccordance with DQP regulation
on this same dedicated matt

ARTICLE XI
ASSISTANCE AGAINST UNFAIR COMPETITION AND
INFRINGEMENT OF INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

11.1 DEALER shall cooperate with AZIMUT to carry out alttions necessary to protect the Trademarks if¢hetory. The Trademarks sh
not be used in any manner that will invalidaterigistration thereof and the right to use the Tnaal&s in connection with the
appropriate Products is only granted to the exteaittAZIMUT is able to do so without endangering thalidity of the registration.
DEALER shall (insofar as it becomes aware theraof)fy AZIMUT of any unauthorized use in the Teory of the Trademarks or of any
other intellectual or industrial property rightstire control or ownership of AZIMUT. At the requestAZIMUT, DEALER shall take
part in or give assistance in respect of any lpgateedings and execute any documents and do mgg tteasonably necessary to assist
AZIMUT in protecting AZIMUT's intellectual and inditrial property rights (including without limitaticthe Trademarks) in the
Territory. DEALER shall leave in position and naiver or erase any notices or other marks (includiitigout limitation details of pater
or notices that a trademark design or copyriglatied to the Products is owned by AZIMUT) which AT may place on or affix to
the Products. DEALER undertakes not to apply tred&@marks to any item not one of the Products ndistoibute or sell any such items
with the Trademarks so applied or to engage inadhgr practice or activity likely to mislead potahpurchasers into believing that an
item is one of the Products when in fact it is |
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ARTICLE XII
BUSINESS OR ENTERPRISE SECRETS

12.1 Each party shall keep confidential and natld&e to any third party, except for the purpodabie Agreement, all information relating to
the Products (whether technical or commercial)tarttie affairs and business of the other and itsjrrespective subsidiary or
associated companies, whether such informatiorscdoded to DEALER by AZIMUT or otherwise obtained DEALER or AZIMUT as
a result of the association between AZIMUT and DEERL Without prejudice to the generality of the fgoang, where DEALER is a
company within a group of companies and/or itsvét@s in pursuance of this Agreement are carrigdtlorough various local
establishments in the Territory, the said informatmay be disclosed to other companies within gwohp and/or to any employees of
DEALER who are employed at the said local estabiisht. This clause is not intended to prohibithg fact of existence of a contract to
distribute Products of AZIMUT; ii) review of the Agement by DEALER’s legal counsel or its normaked Contracts
Specialist/Administrator that may be an employeBBALER or an affiliate of DEALER; iii) review byelgal and professional advisors,
after a breach is alleged by either party, to revigaterial and matters relating to the breach biyt for purposes of rectification or
defense; or iv) governmental authorities to whomristy of such information is necessary in ordantplement the sale of Products. For
the avoidance of doubt this provision shall suntive expiry or termination (for whatsoever caudehis Agreement. Confidential
Information shall not include any information whishor becomes known to the general public, whichlieady in the other party’s

possession prior to disclosure by the primary partyhich is independently generated by eithenypaithout use of the Confidential
Information.

12.2 Public StatementdNeither party shall make any public statementsgsue any press releases regarding this Agreeonéné content
hereof without the prior written consent of theestbarty.

ARTICLE XIII
NO ASSIGNMENT OR TRANSFER

13.1 DEALER shall maintain ownership, authority aadponsibility of its operations through DEALERDREALER’s affiliates. Other than a
corporate reorganization or restructuring, thissagrent shall not be assignable or transferableaddaehange, directly or indirectly,
voluntarily or involuntarily, in DEALEF s control without the prior written consent of AZIM.
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13.2 This Agreement cannot be assigned or tramsfday DEALER without the prior written consent ocZIMUT. If, and only if, AZIMUT
consents in writing to the assignment or trangfech assignment and transfer is contingent upoagkignee or transferee duly accepting
in writing the provisions of this agreement anduasisig, in all respects, DEALFE's duties relative to rights to be assigr

ARTICLE XIV
INDEMNIFICATION

14.1 AZIMUT agrees to assume the defense of DEABERto indemnify DEALER against any money judgmef#im, demand, loss, cost,
expense, cause of action or allegation includinpeuit limitation attorney fees, less any offsebrared by DEALER, in any lawsuit,
assertion or other claim naming DEALER as a defafjdahere such lawsuit or claim relates to: (apbeged breach of any warranty
relating to any Products; or (b) bodily injury aoperty damage or any other damage or loss claimbedve been caused by a defect in
the design, manufacture or assembly of a Prodimt for delivery thereof to DEALER; provided, howeythat if any information
discloses DEALER negligence, error or omissionrof mature, or should it appear that the Produatshied in such lawsuit had been
altered by or for DEALER at DEALER’S direction drDEALER has violated any of the provisions of thigreement with respect to the
product involved, then DEALER will, upon requedbtain its own counsel and defend itself at DEALE&3st, and AZIMUT will be
obligated to indemnify DEALER to the extent of AZUT’ s responsibility. DEALER shall notify AZIMUT of anglaim which DEALER
will assert AZIMUT might be obligated to defend wndhis Section within thirty (30) days of DEALER’sceipt of notice of said claim
(s). AZIMUT shall promptly conduct a preliminaryestigation to initially determine whether AZIMU$ obligated to defend under this
Section. Notwithstanding any such investigation|MBAT may retender defense of any action to DEALERmay time upon reasonable
prior notice in the event information discloses DER altered products, breached this Agreement omeitted negligence, errors or
omissions with respect to the product or customeslved. DEALER will take the steps necessary tmtqut its own interests and the
interests of AZIMUT involved in the lawsuit untiish time as AZIMUT may assume the active defendeEALER. AZIMUT will, if it
assumes the defense of DEALER, reimburse DEALERédasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs indinyeDEALER from the date
of the tender. AZIMUT, if it assumes DEALER’s defen will have the right to retain and direct colidéts own choosing subject to
approval of DEALER which will not be unreasonablithheld, and DEALER shall cooperate in all matidusing the course of defendi
the lawsuit. AZIMUT shall obtain and maintain corapensive general liability insurance, through sohand reputable carriers, in
amounts reasonably satisfactory to DEALER and statie DEALER as an additional insured, as its @ssrappear, on such policies.
Upon request, AZIMUT shall provide DEALER with artiicate of insurance evidencing such coveragectvishall require that
DEALER receive not less than thirty (30) days neté cancellation or modification of such covere
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14.2 Upon request of AZIMUT, DEALER shall indemnifyefend and hold AZIMUT harmless from any clairenthnd, cause of action or
cost, including attorney fees incurred by AZIMUTating thereto, which may arise or be assertedag&ZIMUT, if such claim, and
only to the extent that such claim, demand or cafigetion results solely from: (a) DEALE&failure to comply, in whole or in part, w
any material obligation of DEALER under the Agreerneith respect to the product or customer in goes{b) any actual negligence,
error, or omission of DEALER in connection with th&le, preparation, repair or service (includinthaut limitation warranty service
authorized by Azimut) by DEALER of the product arstomer in question; (c) any modification of anpdrcts made by or on behalf of
DEALER at DEALER*"S direction, except those madeguant to the express written instruction or with éxpress written approval of
AZIMUT; (d) DEALER'’s breach of any material agreemidetween DEALER and DEALER'’s customer or othémtiparty; or
(e) unauthorized warranties, misleading statememitgepresentations or deceptive or unfair prastipeDEALER, directly or indirectly,
to AZIMUT, a customer or a third party in perforrgiits duties as Dealer under this Agreement. AZIM&hall notify DEALER within
thirty (30) days of the existence of any claims altdw DEALER an opportunity to resolve such clajmpeovided that no resolution or
settlement shall be binding upon AZIMUT withoutvsitten approval thereof. AZIMUT shall be obligdte tender defense of any such
claim, demand or cause of action to DEALER; prodittewever that Azimut shall have the opportunitapprove of counsel in its
reasonable judgment. AZIMUT shall not retain colile$éts choosing to defend an indemnified claindanthis paragraph and DEALER
shall not be required to reimburse AZIMUT for arosts or attorneys’ fees as incurred if Azimut clesoiss own counsel. DEALER shall
obtain and maintain comprehensive general liahitisurance, through solvent and reputable carrie@mounts reasonably satisfactory
to AZIMUT and shall name AZIMUT as an additionasured, as its interests appear, on such policipenWequest, DEALER shall
provide AZIMUT with a certificate of insurance eeiacing such coverage which shall require that AZIIWdceive not less than thirty
(30) days notice of cancellation or modificationsofth coverage

ARTICLE XV
SURVIVAL

15.1. The provisions of Articles 12, 14, 16, 17 48dshall survive the expiration or terminatiortltis Agreement and any claims either party
may have for the collection of money, includinghwitit limitation warranty claims, or the enforcemehany obligations which may be
the nature of continuing obligations shall alsov/aue the expiration or termination of this Agreere
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ARTICLE XVI
TERMINATION AND WAIVER

16.1 The Agreement may be terminated, at any time, byadiagreement of AZIMUT and DEALE}

16.2 The Agreement shall terminate and expire at theoétide Contractual Term, as such may be renewsed fime to time

16.3 AZIMUT may terminate the Agreement after tleewwrence of one or more of the following eventsi@fault, upon thirty (30) days prior
written notice by AZIMUT to DEALER in the event thBEALER has not remedied nor taken measures tedgrthe default during su
thirty (30) day period following receipt of writterotice thereof by DEALEFR

a)

b)

Failure by DEALER to secure and continuouslyntan any license necessary for the conduct by DERIof all of its Dealership
Operations as a whole pursuant to the Agreemetiiectermination, expiration without renewal or sersgion or revocation of all
such licenses for any reason whatsoe

Any change, transfer or attempted transfer bADER or DEALER Affiliates, voluntarily or by operain of law, of the whole or
any part of the Agreement, other than to an aféliaf DEALER as part of a corporate reorganizationestructuring, or any change
in control outside the ordinary course of busineglout prior written consent of AZIMUT and any marted change, transfer or
assignment shall be null and void and not bindingA\g@IMUT;

Intentionally Omitted

Knowingly submitting to AZIMUT any intentionatdudulent statement, application, report, requasisuance of reimbursement,
compensation, refund or credit, including withdatitation any fraudulent claim for warranty workplor rate, set-up
reimbursement or warranty covera

Knowing use by DEALER of any deceptive or fraudtlpractice, whether willful, or intentional, in tisale of any Produc

Any indictment for any crime or violation of afngw by DEALER which will have an adverse effecttbe reputation of DEALER,
Dealership Operations or AZIMUT; or any convictionany court of original jurisdiction of DEALER fany crime or violation of
any law which will adversely and materially afféisé conduct of Dealership Operations or will beemnatly harmful to the
goodwill or reputation of AZIMUT, Products or theademarks
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g) DEALER’s entering into any agreement, combinationderstanding, conspiracy or contract, oral dtten, with any other party
with the known purpose of fixing prices of Produ@tsvered in (f)):

h) DEALER’s abandonment of all of its Dealership Operatiasravhole or failure to maintain a going busint

i) Material and continuous failure of DEALER adetpig to represent, promote, sell or service thedBects or to achieve minimum
yearly sales of the Products from time to time edr® by the Parties provided that such agreemiintamsider many factor
including the strength of the economy in the Teryit Euro impact, Azimut product availability anghtistic potential for growth;
from time to time through each annual period, Azimnd Dealer will discuss Dealer’s peformance asgtrannual goals if needed,
as mutually agreed between the Par

)i Failure of DEALER to purchase the orders as perehplx 6 of this Agreement (unless differently agreg the parties in writing

taking into consideration many factors including gtirength of the economy in the Territory, Eurpatt, Azimut product
availability and realistic potential growth. At tB609 Miami Boat Show parties will revise togettter realistic order plan for
2008/2009 deliveries. At the 2010 Miami Boat Shaaties will revise together the realistic ordermpfar 2009/2010 deliveries.

k) Insolvency by any definition of DEALER; or themmission of any act of bankruptcy; or the existeatfacts or circumstances
which would require the voluntary commencement BBADER or the involuntary commencement against DERLd& any
proceedings under any bankruptcy act or law or uadg state insolvency law; or the filing of a pieti by or against DEALER
under any bankruptcy or insolvency law; or the apimoent of a receiver or other officer having semipowers for DEALER or
Dealership Operations; or any levy under attachygarhishment or execution or similar process wigaot, within ten (10) days,
vacated or removed by payment or bond

16.4 AZIMUT may select any applicable provision andvhich it elects to terminate the Agreement, gine notice thereunder,
notwithstanding the existence of any other grododsermination or the reference to such other gdsuin the notice of termination and
AZIMUT shall specify such reason in its written ivetto DEALER.

16.5 DEALER shall be responsible to pay all attgrfezs and costs incurred by AZIMUT terminatingsthigreement following an uncured
event of default by DEALER described in Article 3®ereof.
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16.6 DEALER may terminate the Agreement, at antiafter the occurrence of any one or more of tleviing events of default, upon
thirty (30) days prior written notice from DEALER AZIMUT in the event that AZIMUT has not remediedr taken measures to rem:
the default during such thirty (30) day period daling receipt of written notice thereof from DEALE

a)

b)

d)

e)

9)

h)

Failure by AZIMUT to secure and continuously ntain any license necessary for the conduct by AZIMf its Operations
pursuant to the Agreement or the termination, etigin without renewal or suspension or revocatibany such license for any
reason whatsoever, whether or not that licenseinstated

Any change, transfer or attempted transfer byM\ZT voluntarily or by operation of law, of the wheoor any part of the
Agreement, other than to an affiliate of AZIMUT, amy interest or legal or beneficial ownership éreior any right or obligation
thereunder, directly or indirectly, such as, foaeple only, by way of an underlying ownership iettrin AZIMUT’s Operations or
the assets thereof outside the ordinary coursesifibss, without prior written consent of DEALERJany purported change,
transfer or assignment shall be null and void astdbinding on DEALER

Intentionally Omitted

Knowingly sSubmitting or participating in thetsuission to DEALER of any intentional fraudulerdtetment, application, report,
request for issuance of reimbursement, compensatfumd or credit

Knowing use by AZIMUT of any deceptive or fraleht practice, whether willful or intentional inghmanufacture or sale of any
Product;

Any indictment for any crime or violation of afngw by AZIMUT which will have an adverse effect the reputation of DEALER,
Dealership Operations or AZIMUT; or any convictionany court of original jurisdiction of AZIMUT foany crime or violation of
any law which will adversely and materially afféiee conduct of Dealership Operations or will beenatly harmful to the
goodwill or reputation of DEALER, Products or theadilemarks

AZIMUT's entering into any agreement, combinationderstanding, conspiracy or contract, oral diten, with any other party
with the known purpose of fixing prices of Produu

Insolvency by any definition of AZIMUT or the gomission of any act of bankruptcy; or the existeofckacts or circumstances
which would require the voluntary commencement BMUTor the involuntary commencement against AZIMdfTany
proceedings under any bankruptcy act or law or uadg state insolvency law; or the filing of a pieti by or against AZIMUT
under any bankruptcy or insolvency law; or the apimoent of a receiver or other officer having semipowers for AZIMUT; or an
levy under attachment, garnishment or executicgimilar process which is not, within ten (10) dayacated or removed by
payment or bonding
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i) Material and continuous failure of AZIMUT to sply the product contemplated by this Agreementoappanother dealer in the
Territory; failure to fulfill warranty obligations

16.7 DEALER may select any applicable provisionemdhich it elects to terminate the Agreement, gine notice thereunder,
notwithstanding the existence of any other grodfnd$ermination or the reference to such other gdsuin the notice of termination and
DEALER shall specify such reason in its notice @IMUT.

16.8 AZIMUT shall be responsible to pay all attorifiees and costs incurred by DEALER in terminatimg Agreement following an event of
default as described in Article 16.6 hereof by AZIM

16.9 Neither party shall be liable to the other for capsgential, punitive, exemplary or incidental dansa

ARTICLE XVII
OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES UPON
TERMINATION OR EXPIRATION OF THE CONTRACT

17.1 The acceptance by AZIMUT of orders from DEALE#Re tender of orders to AZIMUT by DEALER or thentinued sale of Products to
DEALER or any other act or course of dealing of BT or DEALER after termination or expiration ofeatAgreement shall not be
construed as or deemed to be a renewal of the Agmeefor any further term or a waiver of such teration by or against either party.
Any dealings after termination or expiration shalon a day-to-day basis. In all cases, DEALERA&AOKMMUT each agree to conduct
itself and its operations until the effective datéermination, and after termination or expiratmfithe Agreement, so as not to injure the
reputation or goodwill of the Trademarks or eadieol

17.2 Upon the mailing of a written notice of teratiion or after date of the expiration of the Agrestrwithout renewal, AZIMUT shall fulfill
all pending orders of DEALER for Products that aneler contract to a customer, special tools angpewent, if previously accepted by
AZIMUT unless the parties agree otherwi

17.3 Not later than the effective date of the terminatio expiration of the Agreement, DEALER shall aetshold itself out as an authoriz
dealer of the Products and discontinue sellingeorising any Products as an authorized dealer srslesagreement to the contrary is
reached between the parti
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17.4 In addition to any other requirements setfartthe Agreement, within a reasonable time follaypthe termination or expiration of the
Agreement, DEALER shall, at its sole expense, ditnoe any and all uses of the Trademarks and@itisy symbols and marks which
may be confusingly similar thereto; remove all sifpearing Trademarks and destroy all stationepair@rders, advertising and
solicitation materials, and all other printed mabearing Trademarks or referring directly or iredity to AZIMUT or the Products in any
way which might make it appear to any members efahblic that DEALER is still an authorized dealBhne foregoing shall include
without limitation discontinuing the use of Tradekmappearing in connection with DEALER’s busineame or any advertising.
DEALER shall also deliver to AZIMUT, at AZIMUT’s pke of business, or to a person designated by AZIMIJ shall destroy upon
request by AZIMUT, any and all technical or seniterature, advertising and other printed matettiah in DEALERS possession whit
relates to the Products and which was acquired@irmed by DEALER from AZIMUT. DEALER shall destr@ny sign bearing
Trademarks which is not to be repurchased by AZIM

17.5 Upon request of Azimut, DEALER shall deliverAZIMUT copies of DEALER’s availabe records of gedivery service, warranty
service, recall or update service or other sergfdbe Product:

17.6. Upon Termination by AZIMUT without Cause, firénation by DEALER for cause and nonrenewal or eatn of this Agreement
(subject to the provisions below), Azimut shallhiiit sixty (60) days of the effective date of teration or expiration “[****]”",
Additionally, promptly following the effective datf termination or expiration, Azimut will reture MarineMax deposits for boats that
are “on-order”. To the extent boats are “sold tetid on order, the parties can mutally agree wwbao will deliver the product. For
purposes of this section, “Cause” is defined asitmy in 16.3 with respect to DEALER and any itenséction 16.6 with respect to
Azimut, “[¥***] ",

17.7 Any Products, tools or materials in DEALER&Gspession acquired from AZIMUT for which DEALER hast paid AZIMUT, shall be
promptly returned to AZIMUT upon termination or évgtion of this Agreement at DEALFE's cost.

17.8 AZIMUT shall at any time after terminationexpiration of this Agreement have no obligation oiely the right to establish and
maintain any kind of relationship with ultimate phasers, agents, distributors, dealers, retaidesits, customers or other distribution
outlets at any level of distribution or sale whicwe or will distribute, sell or handle AZIMUT’s &tucts in the Territory and any other
such ultimate purchasers, agents, distributordedgaetailers, clients, customers, or other iistion outlets at any level of distribution,
utilized or solicited by DEALER during the term sich agreemen
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17.9 For a period of twelve (12) months followirgrhination or expiration, AZIMUT shall continue $ell parts and accessories for the
products to DEALER, unless otherwise agreed tchieyRarties

ARTICLE XVl
MISCELLANEOUS

18.1 This Agreement cancels, supersedes and remilqeevious documents or agreements exchangexiecuted by and between the Partie:
and all prior course of conduct, business dealargbindustry custom and practi

18.2 All Appendices attached to this Agreement congitr integral part of i

18.3 Azimut agrees that will not appoint any newldein the open territories of Georgia, North Qiasy South Carolina and Virginia without
first offering the territory to Dealer. Upon sucties, Dealer will prepare a business plan and subomizimut. The Parties will work in
good faith to add such additional territories toAMER's Territory as defined herein upon satisfactory gletion of the plan

18.4 No modification or amendment made to any Appentadide valid unless executed in writing by bothtiea hereto. Any execute
modification or amendment shall bear the date oh@amendment or modification, is valid and effeetas of such date and shall be
substitutive of the prior Appendix it has amendedadified.

18.5 The present agreement shall not be amendmaddified, except by a written document signed bthtiRarties and shall not be modified
by any prior or subsequent course of conduct, legsinlealings and/or industry custom and prac

18.6 Any waiver of any breach of any term or candibf this agreement with respect to DEALER or aftyer dealer agreement with respect
to any other dealer shall not operate as a waivany other breach of such term or condition, oa§ other term or condition hereof nor
shall any failure to enforce any provision hereoéoy other dealer agreement operate as a waivarobf provision or any other provisi
hereof.

18.7 This agreement and the rights and obligatidrise Parties hereunder shall be governed by anstied in accordance with the laws of
Italy, without regard to conflicts of laws, exceyst described in Section 18.8 belc
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18.8 Any dispute arising out or in connection vitib execution, interpretation or termination otAigreement or the relationship between
DEALER and AZIMUT must first be submitted in writirby the disputing party to the other party. Theipa shall then enter into a good
faith resolution period of thirty (30) days durindpich they will attempt to resolve the matter irogdaith. In the event that the parties are
unable to reach a compromise resolution, at theoétite thirty (30) day period, or earlier upon meitdetermination of the parties, the
dispute shall be exclusively submitted by the artdo and determined by a panel of three (3) atbits in “[****]", such arbitrators to be
legally qualified and to be appointed by agreenbetiveen Parties. The decision of the panel ofrratbits will be made through the
application of “[****]” law to this agreement and il be final and binding. The parties acknowledgel agree that the provisions of this
paragraph do not confer or create jurisdiction dvamut in the “[****]" in general or “[****]” in p articular other than for the purposes
described hereir

18.9 Time is of the essence of this Agreem:
#4k% SIGNATURES BEGIN ON FOLLOWING PAGE *****
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AZIMUT BENETTI S.P.A MARINEMAX EAST, INC.
d/b/a MARINEMAX

By: /s/ Marco Valle By: /s/ Michael H. McLamt

Print Name: Marco Vall Print Name: Michael H. McLam

Title: Sales Directo Title: Vice Presiden
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APPENDIX 1
TO THE AZIMUT DEALERSHIP CONTRACT

DEALER QUALIFICATION BOOK
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APPENDIX—2
TO THE AZIMUT DEALERSHIP CONTRACT

ORDER CONTRACT

APPENDIX—3
TO THE AZIMUT DEALERSHIP CONTRACT

LIST OF PRODUCTS

MOTORCRUISER LINE
AZIMUT 43
AZIMUT 46
AZIMUT 47
AZIMUT 50
AZIMUT 55
AZIMUT 58
AZIMUT 62
AZIMUT 68
AZIMUT 70

MOTORYACHT LINE
AZIMUT 75

AZIMUT 82

AZIMUT 85/ 88
AZIMUT 95

AZIMUT 98

AZIMUT 105
AZIMUT 116
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S LINE RANGE:
AZIMUT 43 S
AZIMUT 62 S
AZIMUT 68 S
AZIMUT 86 S
AZIMUT 103 S

Page 24 of 2



NOTE: PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT INDICATED BY[****]” ARE SUBJECT TO A CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST, AN
HAVE BEEN OMITTED FROM THIS EXHIBIT. COMPLETE, UNRBACTED COPIES OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN FILED WITH
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION AS PART ORHIS COMPANY’S CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST.

APPENDIX 4
TO THE AZIMUT DEALERSHIP CONTRACT

AZIMUT WARRANTY BOOK
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APPENDIX 5
TO THE AZIMUT DEALERSHIP CONTRACT

2008 — 2009 US PRICE LIST

“ [****] n
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APPENDIX 6

“ [****] ”
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Exhibit 10.33(a]
FIRST AMENDMENT
MARINEMAX EAST, INC. and AZIMUT BENETTI, S.P.A.
DEALERSHIP AGREEMENT 2008 - 2010
THIS FIRST AMENDMENT (“AMENDMENT?”) to the Dealersipi Agreement by and between AZIMUT BENETTI S.P.AAZIMUT”") and
MARINEMAX EAST, INC., d/b/a MARINEMAX (“DEALER”) dated September 1, 2008 (“AGREEMENT® entered into as of the 22 day
June, 2010.
WHEREAS, the parties desire to modify the Agreenaenset forth below:

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual ewav@s herein contained, and the benefits to beelkby each party, the sufficiency
which is acknowledged, the parties agree as follows

1. Definitions: Section IX of Definitions (“Territory”) is herebgmended to include the following territory:
THE STATE OF GEORGIA

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedAlniendment as of the 22 day of June, 2010.

AZIMUT BENETTI S.P.A MARINEMAX EAST, INC.
d/b/a MARINEMAX

By: /s/ Marco Valle By: /s/ Michael H. McLamb

Print Name: Marco Vall Print Name: Michael H. McLam

Title: Sales Directo Title: Vice Presiden



Exhibit 10.33(b)

SECOND AMENDMENT
MARINEMAX EAST, INC. and AZIMUT BENETTI, S.P.A.
DEALERSHIP AGREEMENT 2008 - 2010

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT (“AMENDMENT”) to the Dealersh Agreement by and between AZIMUT BENETTI S.P.@AZIMUT")
and MARINEMAX EAST, INC., d/b/a MARINEMAX (“DEALER’) dated September 1, 2008 (‘AGREEMENT") is entdred as of the 29
day of February, 2012.

WHEREAS, the parties desire to modify the Agreenaenset forth below:

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual ewav@s herein contained, and the benefits to beelkby each party, the sufficiency
which is acknowledged, the parties agree as follows

1. Definitions: Section IX of Definitions (“Territory”) is herebgmended to include the following territory:

THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

2. Definitions: Section VIII of Definitions (“Products”) is herglamended to include the following products for 8tate of California:

MAGELLANO AND ATLANTIS

2. Appendix 3 to the Azimut Dealership Contradtéseby amended to include the following in the lisProducts sold in the State of
California: MAGELLANO AND ATLANTIS

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedAlniendment as of the 29 day of February, 2012.

AZIMUT BENETTI S.P.A MARINEMAX EAST, INC.
d/b/a MARINEMAX

By: /s/ Marco Valle By: /s/ Michael H. McLamb

Print Name: Marco Vall Print Name: Michael H. McLam

Title: Sales Directo Title: Vice Presiden



Exhibit 10.33(c]

THIRD AMENDMENT
MARINEMAX EAST, INC. and AZIMUT BENETTI, S.P.A.
DEALERSHIP AGREEMENT 2008 - 2010

THIS THIRD AMENDMENT (“AMENDMENT?") to the Dealerstp Agreement by and between AZIMUT BENETTI S.P.AA4IMUT") and
MARINEMAX EAST, INC., d/b/a MARINEMAX (“DEALER”) dated September 1, 2008 (“AGREEMENT®¥ entered into as of the 21 day
July, 2012.

WHEREAS, the parties desire to modify the Agreenaenset forth below:

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual ewav@s herein contained, and the benefits to beelkby each party, the sufficiency
which is acknowledged, the parties agree as follows

1. Definitions: Section IX of Definitions (“Territory”) is herebgupplemented to add the following territories:

THE STATES OF TEXAS, WASHINGTON, OREGON, LOUISIANMISSISSIPPI, ALABAMA, ARIZONA, COLORADO, UTAH, AND
NEVADA.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedAlniendment as of the 21 day of July , 2012.

AZIMUT BENETTI S.P.A MARINEMAX EAST, INC.
d/b/a MARINEMAX

By: /s/ Marco Valle By: /s/ Michael H. McLamb

Print Name: Marco Vall Print Name: Michael H. McLam

Title: Sales Directo Title: Vice Presiden



Exhibit 10.33(d)
FOURTH AMENDMENT
MARINEMAX EAST, INC. and AZIMUT BENETTI S.P.A.
DEALERHSIP AGREEMENT 2008-2010
THIS FOURTH AMENDMENT (“AMENDMENT”) to the Dealersp Agreement by and between AZIMUT BENETTI S.P.AZIMUT")
and MARINEMAX EAST, INC., d/b/a MARINEMX (“DEALER")dated September 1, 2008 (‘“AGREEMENT") is enterdd as of the 21 day
of August, 2013.
WHEREAS, the parties desire to modify the Agreenaenset forth below:

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cwu@s herein contained, and the benefits to beetelil by each party, the sufficien
of which is acknowledged, the parties agree asvioll

1. Definitions: Section VIII of Definitions*Product”) is hereby amended to include the following prodacthe State of Floride

ALL MODELS OF ATLANTIS BY AZIMUT

1. Appendix 3 to the Azimut Dealership Contradtéseby amended to include the following in the bisProducts sold in the State of
Florida:

ALL MODELS OF ATLANTIS BY AZIMUT

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedAlnieendment as of the 21 August, 2013

AZIMUT BENETTI S.P.A. MARINEMAX EAST INC.
d/b/a MARINEMAX

By: /s/ Marco Valle By: /s/ Michael H. McLamb

Print Name: Marco Vall Print Name: Michael H. McLam

Title: Sales Directo Title: Vice Presiden



Exhibit 21

Name

MarineMax East, Inc. (1)
MarineMax Services, Inc. (¢
MarineMax Northeast, LLC (Z
Boating Gear Center, LLC (.

US Liquidators, LLC (1

Newcoast Financial Services, LLC |
My Web Services, LLC (1
MarineMax Charter Services, LLC (
MarineMax Vacations, LTD (2

(1) Wholly owned subsidiary of MarineMax, In
(2) Wholly owned subsidiary of MarineMax East, |i

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

State or Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or Organization

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
British Virgin Islands



Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
MarineMax, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference irréigistration statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-841833-83332, 333-63307, 333-
156358 and 333-177019) of MarineMax, Inc. and siliases of our reports dated December 6, 2013, keispect to the consolidated balance
sheet of MarineMax, Inc. and subsidiaries as ot&uaper 30, 2013 and the related statements of bpesastockholdersquity and cash flov
for the year then ended, and the effectivenesstefrial control over financial reporting as of Sapber 30, 2013 which reports appear in the
September 30, 2013 annual report on Form 10-K afdMax, Inc.

/sl KPMG LLF

Tampa, Florida
December 6, 2013
Certified Public Accountants



Exhibit 23.2
Consent of Independent Registered Certified Publid.ccounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:
1) Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33-141657) pertaining to the 2007 Incentive Compeanrdglan of MarineMax, Inc
2) Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-83332) pertaining to the 1998 Incentive Stock RitNarineMax, Inc.

3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-633@rjaining to the 1998 Incentive Stock Plan andl®@8 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan of MarineMax, In

4) Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-156358) pertaining to the 2008 Employee Stock RaselPlan of MarineMax, Inc., a
5) Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-177019) pertaining to the 2011 St-Based Compensation Plan of MarineMax, i

of our report dated December 7, 2012, with resfzetiie consolidated financial statements of MariagMnc. and subsidiaries included in this
Annual Report (Form 10-K) of MarineMax Inc. and sigiaries for the year ended September 30, 2013.

/sl Ernst & Young LLI

Tampa, Florida
December 6, 2013



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

[, William H. McGill Jr., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of MaMax, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or endttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of opere, and cash flows of the registrant as of, amgthe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financigloréing, or caused such internal control over foialhreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registsaghitsclosure controls and procedures and presentais report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adgatures as of the end of the period covered lyréimiort based on such evaluation; anc

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intexl control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadges in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registsaability to record, process, summarize, and refisancial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

[s/IWiLuam H. McGiLL , JR.
William H. McGill Jr.

Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: December 6, 2013



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Michael H. McLamb, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of MaMax, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or enéttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nlatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of opere, and cash flows of the registrant as of, amgthe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrh responsible for establishing and maintainingld&ire controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedotes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financigloréing, or caused such internal control over foialreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registsaghitsclosure controls and procedures and presentais report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adgatures as of the end of the period covered lyréimiort based on such evaluation; anc

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegi$'s internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intexl control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadges in the design or operation of internal corvelr financial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registsaability to record, process, summarize, and refisancial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/ s/ M IcHAEL H. M cL avB
Michael H. McLamk

Chief Financial Officel
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: December 6, 2013



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fiMarineMax, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year eddgseptember 30, 2013, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the “Report”), I, William H. McGill JiChief Executive Officer of the

Company, certify, to my best knowledge and befiefsuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursad&h906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeofA1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(
or 780(d)); anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of
the Company

/s/WiLLiam H. M cGILL JR.
William H. McGill Jr.
Chief Executive Office

Date: December 6, 2013



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fiMarineMax, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year eddgseptember 30, 2013, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#tte hereof (the “Report”), I, Michael H. McLamthi€f Financial Officer of the

Company, certify, to my best knowledge and befiefsuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursad&h906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeofA1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(
or 780(d)); anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of
the Company

/' s/ M icHAEL H. M cL AmB
Michael H. McLamb
Chief Financial Office

Date: December 6, 20:



